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Financial Highlights

MBRE

2024 2023
—EBFE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AREF T
Revenue = 3,373,265 3,307,839
Gross profit EA 1,441,444 1,469,365
Gross profit margin ER = 42.7% 44.4%
EBITDA' EBITDA' (69,690) 695,648
EBITDA margin? EBITDA %K 2 -2.1% 21.0%
Operating (loss)/profit LB (EE), /B (401,946) 378,051
Operating profit margin3 EERFES -11.9% 11.4%
Selling and marketing expenses to sales HERMISHEREMAMHEELE 11.0% 9.9%
Administrative expenses to sales TR AL S E & 27.6% 25.1%
(Loss)/profit for the year ZﬁiJﬁ(Eﬂ% /B (458,857) 290,483
(Loss)/profit attributable to the equity NEEmEE AEG
holders of the Company (Eﬂa)/@l%\ (385,509) 233,633
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share BREARBE(SE) &F
(RMB cents) (AR#5) (11.94) 7.23
Net cash generated from operating activities CEEDEE RS T 679,702 965,266
Net cash* FHe 5,329,193 2,021,538
Final/special dividend per share (HK cents) SRR R E (B 5.0 5.0
Total dividend per share for the year (HK cents) FRFERE M) 8.5 8.5
Dividend payout ratio for the year FEIREE N/ATIE R 106.9%
Debt ratio BfELE 1.6% 3.6%
Current ratio (times) MBI E(£F) 7.2 6.1
Liquidity ratio (times) R E(F) 6.4 5.3
Inventory turnover (days) FERAEX(H) 176 197
Trade receivables turnover (days) FEMWEREFAEE(R) 81 97
Trade payables turnover (days) FER R AEE(H) 47 51
Non-HKFRS Measure® FEBUBRELERFES
Adjusted EBITDA & HEAEEEBITDA 624,126 766,103
Adjusted EBITDA margin & HAEEEBITDA X 18.50% 23.20%
Adjusted operating profit K EERAT 291,870 448,506
Adjusted operating profit margin KRG BRNE 8.70% 13.60%
Adjusted profit for the year KR RNFERT 284,078 383,229
7 “EBITDA” equals to “Operating profit before interest, taxes, 1 [EBITDAJERBR B - FIE - #TE - BiHATny &E

depreciation, amortisation”.

2 “EBITDA margin” equals to “Operating profit before interest, taxes, 2

aF -

[EBITDA X JZ R B F# - FILE

CTE - B FTAE

depreciation and amortisation “divided by “Revenue”.

3 “Operating profit margin” equals to “Operating profit“divided by
“Revenue”.
4 “Net cash” means “Short-term time deposits” plus “Cash and cash

equivalents” minus “Borrowings”.

5 For more information about the Non-HKFRS Measures, please refer
to the section under “Reconciliation of HKFRS Measures to the Non-
HKFRS Measures”.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

CORPORATE PROFILE

Huabao International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), consisting of F&F and Food ingredient segment,
tobacco raw materials segment, aroma raw materials
segment, condiments segment, is mainly engaged in the R&D,
production, distribution and sales of flavours, fragrances, and
food ingredients, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials,
as well as condiments. The Group also makes diversified
investments around its core businesses. It is an industrial
holdings group based on the taste-based consumer goods
market.

The Group holds a leading position in China’s flavours
& fragrances industry. It owns many famous flavour
brands, including “Huabao Flavours” on the A-Shares
platform, “Hedon”, “Huabao”, "H&K", “Tianhong"”,
“Huafang”, “Owada”, “Amber” and so on. The Group has
internationalised product development and manufacturing
capabilities, owns production bases in regions such as
Shanghai, Guangdong, Jiangsu, Yunnan, Jiangxi, Fujian,
Hong Kong, Indonesia, and Botswana in Africa, etc.,. It also
has a R&D centre in Holzminden, Germany and Singapore,
a state-level enterprise technology centre in Shanghai,
and R&D departments in Guangdong, Yunnan and Fujian.
Member(s) of the Group takes on leadership roles in a number
of industry associations which are relevant to flavours and
fragrances business, including the Vice Chairman of China
Food Additives & Ingredients Association, Deputy Director
of China Association of Fragrance & Flavour and Cosmetic
Industries, Deputy Director of China Association of Bakery
& Confectionery Industry, and Chairman of Shanghai Food
Additive & Batching Association.

The Group is also one of the market leaders in China’s
tobacco raw materials field, and its production technology
and product quality have taken the leading position at
domestic level and reached advanced international level.
Guangdong Jinye, a subsidiary of the Group, is one of the
RTL R&D bases authorised by the STMA. In November 2012,
the second phase of RTL production line of Guangdong Jinye
was completed, put into production and accepted by the
STMA, which became the first landmark of paper-making
RTL production line certified by the STMA. Its production
technology has been recognized by the STMA to have reached
the highest technology level in terms of domestic paper-

AT REFEL

s
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

making RTL production, while its major technical parameters
have also reached advanced international level. In 2016, the
“Key Laboratory for RTL Technology Research in Tobacco
Industry”, which was jointly founded by Guangdong Jinye
and Guangdong Tobacco, was recognized as the sole key
laboratory in the RTL field in China. In terms of new materials,
Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co., Ltd. has
developed rapidly in the cigarette new materials field, which
is represented by tobacco flavour capsule and core line. Newly
established bases Jiangxi Huabao Xinhui Technology Co., Ltd.
in 2017 became the manufacturing base for flavour capsule
business. In 2022, the Group has completed the construction
of a factory in Indonesia, which will mainly produce HNB
RTL to seize the opportunity of global development of HNB
cigarettes.

The Group is also one of the leading enterprises in China’s
aroma raw materials field. The principal products include
many natural aroma and synthetic aroma products. Its
production capacity and sales revenue account for a
significant market share in the industry, and its production
technology and product quality have reached the leading
domestic and international level. The Group acquired Jiangxi
Xianghai in 2017 and completed the production techniques
and process optimization in 2021. The acquisition played a
positive role in the establishment and layout of the Group's
aroma raw materials segment. The Group, by virtue of its
own industry advantages of the leading position and strong
scientific research strength, plans to build a leading aroma
raw materials production base in Asia and even the world.

In 2018, through the acquisition of Jiahao, the Group entered
into the compound condiment market that is of great growth
room, and also further completed and optimized the Group’s
business structure, and created more sources of income. At
present, the Group has successfully established an industry
chain with full coverage from raw materials, processing, to
consumption, which brings the Group’s competitive strength
in taste-based fast-moving products industry to a new level.
The Group will also combine its industry advantages and
integration capability with the social capital, through the
multi-capital platforms, multi-collaboration channels, as well
as multi-investment collaboration models, to create more
value for the shareholders.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

Flavour Your Life
EIREES|IEE

Innovative, pragmatic,
SPIRIT loyal and cooperative

g RIH - BE - B
1

STRATEGY
RS

Adhere to the “concentric diversification strategy” and
develop into the world’s leading taste-based consumer
product industrial holdings group

Consolidate the existing market of flavours and
fragrances and explore new markets with product and
technology innovation

Seize the opportunity of integration in aroma raw
materials industry and strives to achieve the goal of
“Being the global leader in the aroma raw materials
industry”

Develop international markets and boost the tobacco
raw materials business

Consolidate the Group's leading role in the niche
segment in the condiment industry, leverage enriched
product mix to build condiment business as the Group's
growth point

Client first, value creation and

BEFEL - BERAE HEHR

VISION
=

CORE
VALUES
‘O EER

shared achievements
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MEBEEREMS  HEERARBERER
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Chairlady’s Report

Dear shareholders,

In 2024, amid a turbulent international landscape, weak
domestic consumer confidence and sluggish economic growth,
the Group adhered steadfastly to our strategic plan despite
complex and ever-changing conditions both domestically and
internationally. Bearing in mind our corporate vision of “Flavour
Your Life, Promoting a Healthy Life” and our development
philosophy of “Green, Nutritious and Healthy"”, the Group
diligently advanced initiatives outlined in our annual work plan.
We made significant progress across various areas, including
business structure transformation, international expansion, lean
production management and digital transformation, making
a solid step forward in executing the Group's strategy and
advancing business development.

In 2025, based on the existing strategic framework and
considering both internal and external factors, the Group has
reformulated our three-year strategic development plan for
2025-2027, which, with clear positioning, focus areas for each
business segment and specific objectives, will serve as the
blueprint for our actions over the next three years. In 2025,
guided by this plan, the Group will further strengthen the
coordinated and diversified development, enhance technology-
driven empowerment, expand our international business and
reinforce innovation in both technology and product. These
efforts will guide the Group toward a transformation centred
on a diversified and global business structure with “Green,
Nutritious and Healthy” as the core product philosophy. The
key initiatives include:

(1) Strengthening R&D Innovation and Driving Innovation-
Led Growth. Firstly, we will foster a culture of innovation
and establish an innovative mechanism. To encourage and
promote innovation, we are committed to cultivating an open
and inclusive R&D environment that allows technical teams
the flexibility to experiment and more resources to innovate.
At the same time, we will continuously refine our internal
R&D collaboration, external partnerships, project management
and incentive framework to enhance both the efficiency and
effectiveness of our innovation efforts. Secondly, we will
concentrate on the development and advancement of Next-
Generation Products (NGP). Through deep consumer insights
and a keen assessment of emerging technological trends, we
will proactively chart the course for NGP development and
product planning. Our goal is to achieve breakthroughs in critical
technologies while ensuring the effective commercialisation
of our research achievements. Thirdly, we will reinforce the
protection and management of our intellectual properties to
build a portfolio of proprietary core technologies, maintaining
our competitive edge in the increasingly challenging market.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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Chairlady’s Report

(2) Achieving Transformative Growth Through Al
Empowerment. The Group remains committed to focusing
on the development of artificial intelligence (Al). With
Al technologies now widely applied in business, we have
shifted from a “Digital Management” strategy to “Intelligent
Management”. Through Al, we aim to maximise efficiency and
explore the optimal model for human-machine collaboration.
To achieve this, we will establish a dedicated Al+ task force,
planning to deploy large-scale local models with high-
performance computing in the first half of the year, and will
initiate a knowledge asset structuring project, establishing Al
application protocols and foundational data. A priority list of
Al application scenarios will be developed to ensure systematic
implementation and further to fully empower the Group’s
growth.

(3) Accelerating International Expansion to Establish
a Global Huabao Presence. The Group will continue to
accelerate our internationalisation strategy by expanding
overseas teams and scaling up our global operations. We
aim to establish a dual-cycle business model that integrates
domestic and international markets, with a particular focus
on high-potential regions such as Southeast Asia and the
Middle East. Through professional teams, we will drive
local operations, allocate more resources to exploring
overseas markets, deepen engagement in target markets and
strengthen collaboration with overseas clients. Meanwhile,
in addition to enhance our global supply chain management,
product and technology innovation, and lean production
and management capabilities, we will further reinforce our
overseas patent strategy to improve competitiveness, speed
up the expansion of market presence and establish global
industrial chain network, eventually elevating the Group’s
international influence.

(4) Achieving Dual-engine Growth and Providing Growth
Momentum Through Mergers and Acquisitions. We will
adopt a dual-engine growth strategy that balances organic
growth and external expansion to fuel the Group's rapid
development. In terms of investments, we will prioritise
business synergies and ensure they align with the Group’s
strategic roadmap. Every investment that supports our strategic
vision and goals will ultimately reinforce our core capabilities
through complementary strengths and synergy effects. In
selecting investment targets, we will ensure that all acquisitions
fit our principles of “Green, Nutritious and Healthy” while
meeting our business development needs. On the management
front, we will refine our governance, enhance post-investment
operation and management capabilities and strengthen risk
control. These efforts will support us to swiftly integrate
resources from both sides and successfully assimilate new
businesses into the Group’s management framework.
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Chairlady’s Report

(5) Enhancing Market Value and Boosting Market
Confidence. In the course of our future operations, the
Group will consistently enhance its performance growth
to improve corporate values, thus to establish a positive
correlation between the Group's intrinsic value and capital
market performance, and fully reflect the Group’s growth
trajectory and potential in the future. Meanwhile, we will
engage actively with investors and the market to bolster
their confidence in the Group's prospect and improve
capital market expectations for the Group’s development.
In addition, we will stick to our principle of pursuing long-
term value by continuously enhancing our ESG management
system and will remain dedicated to improving the Group's
capabilities in internal governance, risk identification, social
responsibility and international competition, with an aim to
create sustainable value for investors, clients and society,
communicate the Group’s sustainability concept and results,
and to attract and retain long-term investment.

Looking ahead to 2025, global and domestic market
uncertainties may continue, and the economic landscape is
expected to remain challenging. The Group is well prepared to
embrace these challenges, seize emerging opportunities and
press forward with resilience and innovation to drive rapid,
healthy, sustainable growth and consistently create value for
our shareholders.

We sincerely appreciate the unwavering trust and support
of our shareholders. As we look to the future, we eagerly

anticipate continuing this journey together and achieving even
greater triumphs.

CHU Lam Yiu
Chairlady

28 March 2025

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW

In 2024, overseas and Chinese macro-economy still faced
great challenges and pressures. For overseas markets,
consumers’ purchasing power was subdued as affected by
the problems including high interest rates, inflation and
indebtedness, resulting in an increase in corporate operational
costs. For domestic market, the increased savings and reduced
consumption by consumers due to the structural adjustment
have forced enterprises to cut prices for maintaining or
increasing sales volume, which shrank their profit margins. All
the above factors depressed the sentiment of domestic and
overseas consumers and brought challenges to enterprises’
operation and market expansion.

To cope with these challenges, the Group has adopted
a strategy of seeking progress while maintaining stable
development with an aim to secure the stability and security
of business and actively promote growth. In respect of market
expansion, by leveraging the well-established domestic
supply chain and manufacturing capabilities, comprehensively
advancing “Lean Production (fz4E)" program and
products innovation, and offering cost-effective products
and integrated solutions, we have successively expanded
the overseas markets and made great achievement. As to
production and operations, we further promoted digital
transformation, extensively applied digital technologies to
effectively reduce costs and improve operational efficiency.
Regarding risk management, we carefully analysed and
addressed the risks brought by climate change, and
formulated corresponding strategies to mitigate its impact
on production and operation, thus enhancing sustainability
capabilities. Overall, the Group achieved stable business
growth in 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Overview of the tobacco industry

During the Reporting Period, according to the data from the
National Bureau of Statistics, China’s cigarette production
volume reached 49.3092 million cases, representing an
increase of 1.0% YOY. Domestically, traditional tobacco still
dominated the market, but its growth slowed down in the
second half of the year due to tobacco control policies and
adjustments in consumption patterns. In the domestic market,
China’s cigarette market was undergoing structural changes,
and the tobacco industry faced pressure to reduce costs.
Industrial enterprises need to balance targets with brand
development and focused on both short-term goals and long-
term value, while commercial enterprises need to allocate
planned resources appropriately. In overseas markets, demand
for traditional tobacco continued to decline, but there was
a significant growth in demand for tobacco harm reduction
products, such as nicotine alternatives. HNB tobacco products
have become the core track in the innovative tobacco
sector, with international tobacco companies dominating
the global market and capturing market share by leveraging
low-temperature heating technology and harm reduction
certifications. Emerging markets have become the focus of
expansion. Looking ahead, iterations in HNB technology and
patent competition will define the industry landscape, and
will continue to lead the innovative tobacco market in the
short term. The growth in the e-cigarette market, affected by
stricter regulations, will slow down in the short term and thus
the market will shift toward compliance and technological
innovation. Leading companies will focus on differentiated
strategies and will complement HNB tobacco products in the
long-term development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Overview of the food and beverage industry and daily-
use chemical industry

During the Reporting Period, according to the data from the
National Bureau of Statistics, of the industrial enterprises
above the designated size, the value added for processing of
food from agricultural and sideline products was up by 2.2%
over the previous year; for food manufacturing industry up by
5.8% and for wine, beverage and refined tea manufacturing
industry up by 4.8%. Due to the sluggish consumer market
and uncertainty on demand side, the overall industry was
under great pressure. With the rise in health awareness,
consumers were increasingly favouring natural and organic
products with high nutrition, making health-oriented and
functional demands mainstream trends. To meet consumers’
pursuit of purposeful consumption, emotional value, and
high quality and cost-effective products, companies shall
respond to their demands for health and quality through
product innovation and upgrades, and strengthen channel
development and market expansion to adapt to the diversified
consumption scenarios. Digital transformation is key to
enhancing competitiveness. Thus, corporations need to
leverage big data analysis to accurately understand consumer
needs, optimize product structures and marketing strategies to
improve user experience and overall market competitiveness.
The market size of the daily-use chemical industry continued
to grow, and the consumption upgrades and online
channels promoted the trends toward premiumization and
personalization. Environmental requirements and technological
innovations drove companies to develop green, healthy, and
smart products. The rise of local brands intensified market
competition.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Overview of the condiment industry

During the Reporting Period, according to the data from
the National Bureau of Statistics, domestic catering industry
reached a revenue of RMB5.5718 trillion, representing a
YOY increase of 5.3%. However, the growth rate has been
slowing down month by month. Consumers have become
more rational and focused on the quality, leading to an
increasingly fierce competition in the catering market. The
market size of the condiment industry expanded steadily.
From 2014 to 2024, the market size of China’s condiment
industry increased from RMB259.5 billion to RMB681.7
billion, with an average annual compound growth rate of
10.3%. The condiment industry gradually developed towards
compound, convenient, and healthy products. Coupled with
the backdrop of regional penetration in domestic market
and demand expansion in international market, this posed
significant potential for the market size of condiment
companies to grow. At the enterprise client level, recent
policies were positive. Since condiments accounted for a
relatively high proportion of enterprise clients, the demand
for condiments from enterprise clients increased as affected
by the policies such as issuing consumption vouchers and
promoting consumption. At the consumer client level, on
one hand, changes in China’s population structure and the
extension of consumption scenarios drove the development
of miniaturized condiment products, with increasingly diverse
categories. On the other hand, products with zero additives
and low salt are expected to become one of the future
trends in the industry, thereby driving the optimization and
upgrading of the product structure. To follow the health trend
and enhance product market competitiveness, condiment
companies need to continuously enrich their product matrix,
develop new categories such as zero-additive, low-salt, and
organic products, and optimize the product structure to meet
the diverse needs of the downstream market.
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RESULTS

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved a revenue
of approximately RMB3,373 million (2023: approximately
RMB3,308 million), representing a YOY increase of 2.0%;
gross profit margin of 42.7% (2023: 44.4%), representing
a YOY decrease of 1.7 percentage points; operating loss of
approximately RMB402 million (2023: operating profit of
approximately RMB378 million); loss attributable to the equity
holders of the Company of approximately RMB386 million
(2023: operating profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company of approximately RMB234 million); basic loss per
share of approximately RMB11.94 cents (2023: basic earnings
per share of approximately RMB7.23 cents).

The operating loss during the Reporting Period was primarily
attributable to the recognition of goodwill impairment
of approximately RMB630 million (2023: approximately
RMB56.502 million), provision for impairment of intangible
asset of approximately RMB14.38 million (2023: approximately
RMB9.85 million), share-based compensation expenses of
approximately RMB48.549 million (2023: approximately
RMB4.103 million) during the year. Excluding the effect of
these impairment and provision, the adjusted operating profit
was approximately RMB292 million, representing a YOY
decrease of 34.9% as compared to that of approximately
RMB449 million for the corresponding period last year. The
adjusted profit for the year was approximately RMB284 million
(2023: adjusted profit for the year was approximately RMB383
million), representing a YOY decrease of 25.9%.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of F&F and Food ingredients business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the F&F and Food
ingredients business of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB1,339 million (2023: approximately RMB1,464 million),
representing a YOY decrease of 8.6%, and accounting for
approximately 39.6% (2023: 44.3%) of the Group's total
revenue. The decrease in revenue of the segment was mainly
due to major customers’ change in demand, procurement
policy adjustment and self-developed flavouring and
other factors. Operating loss of the business segment was
approximately RMB300 million (2023: operating profit of
approximately RMB406 million), which was primarily due to
the goodwill impairment recognised for the CGU of tobacco
flavour of approximately RMB505 million and share-based
compensation expenses of approximately RMB43.772 million.

(1) Flavours

In terms of tobacco flavours, the Group has achieved
significant accomplishments in the research of unique
flavour substances, technologies for reducing tar and harm
in tobacco, as well as technologies for flavour enhancement
and moisture retention. These achievements established the
Company’s unique advantages in the tobacco flavouring
sector. However, due to factors such as changes in the
demands of major clients, adjustments in procurement
policies, and self-developed flavouring, the Company’s
revenue recorded a decrease. The Group kept monitoring the
development trends and market opportunities of innovative
tobacco products. Through self-developed modern extraction
and refining technologies, the Group successfully produced
tobacco essential oils, tobacco aroma concentrates, and
tobacco dry distillates and other products. To boost sales, the
Group actively reached out to international clients, promoting
its products and services, and maintained good cooperative
relationships with leading international clients.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of food flavours, customers put an emphasis on
the "healthy” and “delicious” characteristics of products,
highlighting labels such as “additive-free”, “low-burden”,
and “natural”, which increased the demand for natural
extract-based flavours. The Group kept abreast with
customer requirements, and, by leveraging its strong
research capabilities and deep industry expertise, has made
a breakthrough in technological advancements in natural
enzymolysis, natural plant extraction, thermal reaction,
low-temperature belt drying, seamless encapsulation of
popping boba, three-dimensional seasoning, and hot-melt
extrusion technologies, which enabled the Group to provide
customized products to customers, and enhanced the flavours
and functionality of end-use products, making them more
appealing to consumers. Through comprehensive research
and in-depth interpretation of consumers’ taste preferences,
the Group developed a series of new flavouring products
that align with market trends. The Group has established
cooperative relationships with overseas customers in Europe,
the Middle East, and Southeast Asia, successfully selling
food flavours to these markets. Additionally, the Group has
completed the design work for its Indonesian factory and has
initiated the tendering process for its construction.

(2) Fragrances

The Group's fragrances primarily focus on air freshening and
disinfection, while also include categories such as cleaning,
personal care, and indoor fragrances. During the Reporting
Period, the Group strengthened R&D and innovation in
products related to personal care, oral care, and pet care,
continued to explore new models and new market segments,
vigorously expanded its reach to new cross-industry clients
and actively catered to the product demands of online
e-commerce brands. In terms of overseas market expansion,
the Group successfully established business connections with
several international clients, creating new growth points for
the sustainable development of future business. In terms of
technological innovation, the Group continued to upgrade
and innovate in areas such as powdered daily-use chemical
fragrances, new fragrance types of liquid microcapsules, and
distinctive indoor fragrances, further enhancing its integrated
solution capabilities for daily-use chemical fragrances.
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(3) Food ingredients

The Group places high importance on the R&D of healthy
food ingredient-related technologies, product innovation,
and process optimization, giving full play to its professional
expertise in both flavour and ingredient sectors. With the
continued rapid development of the catering industry in
China, there is a significant demand for jams, fruit granula
and syrups, presenting development opportunities for the
Group's food ingredient business. The Group is committed to
providing flavour food ingredient solutions for catering clients
such as freshly made tea drinks and coffee, and for food
industry clients in beverages, dairy, and baking. The Group
further delves into the fields of “natural ingredients, high-
end food materials and nutritional health”, launching a series
of black garlic flavour products, bringing more nutritious
and delicious high-end food materials into the lives of the
general consumer. During the Reporting Period, the Group
introduced natural plant extracts and natural syrups, and
successfully promoted the application of its self-developed
fourth-generation Popping Boba Ice Fire Magic Ball, meeting
customers’ pursuit of customized natural products and
novel tastes. In addition, the Group sought opportunities in
the baking industry and introduced various types of sauce
products to enhance the flavour of products for customers.

Analysis of goodwill impairment of flavours-tobacco
flavour CGU

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group engaged an
independent valuer to conduct an impairment test on the
goodwill of the Tobacco Flavour CGU as at 31 December
2024. Based on the assessment results, an impairment of
goodwill of approximately RMB505 million was recognised.
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Background of goodwill impairment for Tobacco Flavour
cGU

Between 2007 and 2009, the Group acquired the equity shares
of companies engaged in the production and sales of tobacco
flavours from independent third parties, and achieved control
over these companies through capital contribution, forming
a tobacco flavour CGU with a total value of approximately
RMB1.19 billion. In 2015 and 2016, the Group undertook a
restructuring and incorporated its tobacco flavours business
under the Flavours segment into its controlled subsidiary,
Huabao Flavours, with the corresponding goodwill allocated
to the CGU of Huabao Flavours as a result of the restructuring
or business combination. Tobacco flavour CGU primarily
engaged in the R&D, production, sales and technical service
provision for tobacco flavours. Over the course of more than
a decade, tobacco flavour CGU companies developed robust
relationships with major tobacco companies. Benefiting from
the synergy in tobacco flavours business through acquisition,
capital contribution and restructuring, the Group has
expanded its customer base, obtained more formulations and
enhanced its R&D capabilities, which increased its market
share and strengthened its leading position.

The traditional tobacco flavour market has undergone
changes after more than a decade of development. From the
demand side, the major customers of the Group have shown
a less demand for tobacco flavours due to adjustments in
their demand patterns and purchasing policies, as well as the
development of their in-house flavours. On the supply side,
however, production capacity in the tobacco flavors industry
remains high, far exceeding the annual market demand. In
response to these changes, the Group has actively expanded
its sales channels and ventured into overseas markets. In
view of these factors, the Group’s revenue and gross profit
margin in the tobacco flavours have declined, falling short
of expectations. As the decline was expected to persist
for a considerable period, the management of the Group
anticipated that the goodwill impairment for Tobacco Flavour
CGU will be recognised.
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Reasons for the recognition of goodwill impairment for
Tobacco Flavour CGU

Based on the audited accounts of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of Tobacco Flavour
CGU decreased by 15.89% to approximately RMB604 million
from approximately RMB719 million for the corresponding
period last year. It is noted that the continued changes in
customer demand, adjustments in purchasing policies and the
trend toward in-house flavour development throughout 2024
have exerted pressure on the revenue and gross profit margin
of the tobacco flavour CGU.

Consequently, in light of the prevailing market conditions
and on a prudent basis, the Group revised its future earnings
forecast for tobacco flavour CGU and expected that there
would be an impairment loss on goodwill.

Goodwill impairment test

In accordance with HKAS 36, the Group performed a goodwill
impairment test on the Tobacco Flavour CGU on 31 December
2024 (the valuation benchmark date), and conducted a value
analysis to determine the recoverable amount of the tobacco
flavour CGU. According to the standard, the recoverable
amount of the CGU is the higher of its FVLCOD and its VIU.
In the goodwill impairment test carried out by the valuer,
FVLCOD and VIU of the tobacco flavour CGU was assessed
by using market approach and income approach respectively.
Based on the assessment results, the VIU of the tobacco
flavour CGU was higher than its FVLCOD and therefore was
adopted as the recoverable amount of the tobacco flavour
CGU, which was approximately RMB504,558,000 lower than
its carrying amount. As a result, goodwill impairment loss
of approximately RMB504,558,000 was recognised in the
consolidated income statement of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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Methodology, key assumptions and basis used in
calculating the VIU of the Tobacco Flavour CGU

The Company has engaged an independent valuer to carry
out an impairment test on goodwill of the tobacco flavour
CGU as at 31 December 2024. The valuer used the income
approach to assess the VIU of the tobacco flavour CGU, which
was consistent with the valuation methodology used in its
impairment test late last year. This calculation was based on
a five-year forecast of net cash flow for the tobacco flavour
CGU. Cash flow beyond the five-year period was estimated
using a perpetual growth rate and was discounted to its
present value using an appropriate rate.

The key assumptions and basis used in calculating the VIU of
the Tobacco Flavour CGU were as follows:

1.  Forecast growth rate — as determined by the management
based on past performance, customer demand, the latest
external economy and business environment, combined
with their projections of market development;

2. Terminal growth rate — long-term average growth
rate of the Tobacco Flavour CGU as estimated by the
management;

3. Budgeted gross profit margin — as determined by the
management based on the past performance, future
market trends and positioning and expectations of
customers;

4.  Pre-tax discount rate —the applicable cost of equity
and cost of debt are first calculated based on the
actual circumstances of the Tobacco Flavour CGU, with
reference to industry data and specific risk premiums.
Then, the weighted average cost of capital ("WACC") is
derived according to the Company’s capital structure and
serves as the after-tax discount rate for the impairment
test. Finally, the pre-tax discount rate is determined
through an iterative computation.
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Changes in key assumptions

Comparing certain key assumptions used in determining the
VIU of the tobacco flavour CGU as at 31 December 2024
against those used in assessing the VIU of the tobacco flavour
CGU as at 31 December 2023, major changes are as follows:

1. Change in revenue forecast and reasons for the change
The sales of the tobacco flavour CGU of the Group
dropped by approximately 15.89% from approximately
RMB719 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately RMB604 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, mainly due to the changes
in the demand of the Group’s major customers, their
adjustment in purchasing policies and development of in-
house flavours, resulting in a decline in the Company’s
operating revenue. The management of the Group re-
evaluated the supply and demand in the traditional
tobacco flavour industry and considered that the changes
in customer demand, adjustments in purchasing policies
and the trend toward in-house flavour development
will persist for a considerable period. As a result, the
management revised the revenue forecast for 2025 to
2029, adjusting the forecast growth rate to a range of
-40% to 9%, while the forecast growth rate in last year
was -5% to 0%.

2. Change in budgeted gross margin and reasons for the
change
The management expected a decline in the gross profit
margin as a result of the changes in the sales model for
the tobacco flavor segment. Consequently, the budgeted
gross margins for 2025 to 2029 were revised downward
by 6.33 to 7.72 percentage points.

3. Change in pre-tax discount rate and the reasons for the
change
The valuer determined the post-tax discount rate based
on WACC. Due to a decline in both the risk-free interest
rate and loan interest rate during the period, the
post-tax discount rate was revised downward by 0.53
percentage points from 13.77% adopted at the end of
2023 to 13.24%, after taking into account other factors.
Accordingly, the pre-tax discount rate was derived
through an iterative computation based on the revised
post-tax discount rate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the tobacco raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group's tobacco
raw materials business was approximately RMB468 million
(2023: approximately RMB465 million), representing a YOY
increase of 0.7%, and accounting for approximately 13.9%
(2023: approximately 14.0%) of the Group's total revenue.
The increase in revenue was attributable to growth in sales of
tobacco new materials. The operating loss was approximately
RMB82.14 million (2023: operating profit of approximately
RMB90.77 million), mainly due to the recognition of goodwill
impairment of Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves (“RTL") CGU of
approximately RMB97.02 million.

(1) RTL

The domestic production capacity for RTL remained in surplus,
and customers have not increased their purchase. Overseas,
international tobacco companies have vigorously developed
HNB cigarettes, which has boosted the demand for innovative
RTL. The Group's factory in Indonesia, with three production
lines and an annual capacity of 3,000 tonnes, could produce
high-quality innovative RTL. In 2024, the factory has begun
to supply innovative RTL to customers on a mass basis. The
Group expects that its production capacity will be well utilised
in the future, potentially boosting the business’ revenue.

(2) Tobacco New materials

During the Reporting Period, the Group has made significant
progress in the development of the tobacco new materials
business. The new materials for cigarettes are mainly capsule
products. Leveraging its R&D capacity and experience in
flavours, the Group is able to quickly respond to the diverse
needs of clients, offering a variety of capsule products with
diversified flavours and pure tastes. The Group further
practiced the “Lean Production” strategy in its production,
strengthened the superiority of its capsules in terms of cost,
quality and price. Coupled with excellent service, the Group
has won the favor of overseas customers. Capsule products
have been successfully sold to several overseas countries
and regions, which reflects the Group has enhanced the
internationalization level of
this business and proved our
competitiveness in products and
services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Analysis of goodwill impairment of RTL CGU

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the
Group’s RTL CGU decreased by 12.1% to approximately
RMB289 million, the gross profit decreased by 11.6% to
RMB133 million, and the operating profit decreased by 29.9%
to approximately RMB40.43 million YOY. Revenue, gross
profit and operating profit fell below expectations. Based
on the principles of prudence and conservatism, the Group
engaged an independent valuer to conduct impairment test
for the goodwill of RTL CGU as at 31 December 2024. Based
on the assessment results, RTL CGU recognised an impairment
of goodwill of RMB97.02 million in 2024.

The performance of RTL CGU for the year fell behind
expectations, mainly due to the continued oversupply and
fierce market competition in the traditional RTL industry in
2024. The revenue and gross profit of the traditional RTL for
the year dropped sharply YOY. In addition, due to the changes
in the commercialisation timeline of customers’ new products,
the demand for innovative RTL has not been fully materialized,
resulting in a YOY decline in revenue and gross profit of
innovative RTL. Considering that the oversupply and fierce
competition in the traditional RTL industry were expected
to persist and that the demand growth for innovative RTL
would grow slower than expected, these factors are likely to
continue exerting pressure on the RTL CGU’s revenue and
operating profit. Based on the principle of prudence and
conservatism, the Group adjusted downward its sales forecast
for the period between 2025 to 2028, which was 26.4%
to 31.9% lower than the forecast at the end of 2023, with
corresponding forecast growth rate down by approximately
1.6 to 18.4 percentage points. At the same time, the Group
adjusted downward the forecast gross profit for the period
between 2025 to 2028, which was approximately 2.3 to
3.1 percentage points lower than the forecast at the end
of 2023, with corresponding forecast gross profit down
by 30.0% to 35.8%. Considering the long-term average
growth rate of RTL CGU, the Group adjusted downward the
forecast terminal growth rate by one percentage point to 3%.
Based on the actual circumstances of the RTL CGU and with
reference to industry data and specific risk premiums, the
valuer determined that the after-tax discount rate remains
unchanged. According to the impairment test report from the
independent valuer, an impairment loss of approximately RMB
97.02 million was recognised for the goodwill of the RTL CGU
this year. Following the impairment recognition, the remaining
goodwill balance of the RTL CGU is approximately RMB259
million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the aroma raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the aroma raw materials
business of the Group was approximately RMB792 million
(2023: approximately RMB625 million), representing a YOY
increase of 26.7%, and accounting for approximately 23.5%
(2023: approximately 18.9%) of the Group’s total revenue.
The increase was mainly attributable to destocking and normal
purchasing by our customers, as well as scale production of the
factory in Shandong. Operating profit of the business segment
was approximately RMB22.80 million (2023: operating loss of
approximately RMB83.41 million). Such a turnaround was mainly
attributable to increased revenue, lower production costs and
less impairment losses.

During the Reporting Period, purchase volume has resumed as
downstream customers completed their destocking. In addition,
the Group's factory in Shandong also commenced operation and
production, which contributed the growth in sales volume and
revenue. The Group strictly implemented the “Lean Production”
strategy to optimise its supply chain management. The Group
has established long-term partnerships with its suppliers to
streamline processes and reduce procurement and production
costs. The revenue growth and cost reduction has jointly
strengthened the profitability of the business.

In 2024, the subsidiary in Guangdong relocated to a new
factory. The new facility, with a clean environment and
advanced equipment, not only improved the production
efficiency, but also enhanced our brand image. The aroma
raw materials business belongs to the fine chemical industry
where safety and sustainable production are top priorities. For
this segment, we regularly conduct safety and environmental
inspections and have improved its pollutant treatment
facilities and systems to reduce the environmental impact of
production and operations. Through our dedicated efforts,
two factories have been awarded the title of “Green Factory”.
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Analysis of goodwill impairment of CGU of Yancheng
Chunzhu

Yancheng Chunzhu CGU’s revenue for the six months ended
30 June 2024 was approximately RMB129 million, representing
an increase of 58.5% YOY, but its gross profit and operating
profit declined to approximately RMB13.311 million and
approximately RMB5.553 million, respectively, representing
a decrease of 32.2% and 52.6% YOQY, respectively. Gross
profit and operating profit failed to meet the expectations set
on 31 December 2023. Based on the principle of prudence
and conservatism, the Group engaged an independent valuer
to conduct an impairment test on the goodwill of Yancheng
Chunzhu CGU as at 30 June 2024. Based on the assessment
results, Yancheng Chunzhu CGU recognised an impairment of
goodwill of RMB29.309 million in the first half of 2024.

Yancheng Chunzhu's products consist primarily of low-carbon
alcohol, esters, acids, aldehydes and other food flavours,
which are mainly exported and sold to companies such as food
and daily chemical flavours, feed flavours, pharmaceuticals,
healthcare products and chemicals, with customers mainly
concentrated in Europe, the United States, Southeast Asia
and Japan. After the COVID-19 pandemic, affected by weak
global economy and more cautious and conservative end
use consumption, Chinese peers have further homogenised
their products for their own survival and development
needs, resulting in intensified competition in the industry.
Secondly, competitors reduced prices to promote sales in
order to reduce inventory due to the oversupply of products
in the market last year, which resulted in product prices
remaining at a low level during the Reporting Period and
lower product gross margins compared to expectations set as
of 31 December 2023. Meanwhile, the external environment
situation is unstable due to the Russian-Ukrainian war and
the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, which poses a challenge to the
global economic recovery and further squeezes product profit
margins. The above factors resulted in Yancheng Chunzhu's
results being worse than the Group's expectations as of 31
December 2023. Based on the principles of prudence and
conservatism, the Group has lowered its future profit forecast
for Yancheng Chunzhu and recognised a goodwill impairment
of approximately RMB29.309 million of Yancheng Chunzhu
CGU. Yancheng Chunzhu CGU has a goodwill balance of nil
after the impairment was recognised.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the condiment business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group’s condiment
business was approximately RMB775 million (2023: approximately
RMB754 million), representing a YOY increase of 2.7%, and
accounting for approximately 23.0% (2023: approximately
22.8%) of the Group’s total revenue. The revenue growth of the
segment was mainly due to the increase in sales of new products.
The operating profit of the business segment was approximately
RMB97.59 million (2023: approximately RMB117 million),
representing a YOY decrease of 16.4%. Operating profit margin
was 12.6% (2023: approximately 15.5%), representing a YOY
decrease of 2.9 percentage points. The decline in operating profit
and operating profit margin was mainly due to the changes in
product mix and the increase in marketing expenses.

The condiment business segment has a complete product mix,
and its core products include chicken bouillon, wasabi paste
and fruit juice, which are the main source of income of this
segment. Chicken essence and chicken powder help customers
reduce costs and improve efficiency due to their cost-effective
features. Innovative products such as sour and chilli sauce
and seasoning sauce further enrich the product mix and
make greater contribution to the revenue of the segment.
The Group's new “65% fresh soy sauce (652 B4 M)" is
welcomed by customers for its rich, pure and fresh flavour.
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In terms of marketing strategy, the Group kept close contact
with chefs through cooking contests and dinner parties,
deeply understood their needs for condiments, and fed
them back to the R&D team, so as to optimise the product
formulation and manufacturing process. In addition, the
Group promoted brand awareness through short videos and
online dramas to enhance brand influence among young
chefs.

In terms of sales channels, the number of Tier 1 distributors
of the Group was increased to 905. The Group optimised the
distribution management system and standardised the market
order to ensure the quality and operational efficiency of
distributors, and sell more categories of products. At the same
time, the Group expanded the county-level markets, further
exploring business opportunities and growth potential.

Review of R&D

During the Reporting Period, the Group's investment in R&D
was approximately RMB245 million (2023: approximately
RMB253 million). R&D costs accounted for 7.3% (2023: 7.7%)
of revenue, representing a YOY decrease of 0.4 percentage
point. All R&D costs (2023: 100%) were expensed, with no
related costs capitalised (2023: Nil).

In terms of F&F and Food ingredients, the Group was granted
several patent licenses regarding food flavours including
“A kind of Microcapsule Cheese and Its Preparation”, "A
kind of Flavouring for Stinky Tofu and Its Preparation and
Application”, "A kind of Flavouring for Oily Vegetarian Beef
and Its Preparation” and “A kind of Flavouring for Pickled
Chili and Its Preparation”, etc., all of which reflected the
Group’s R&D strength in sweet and salty flavour and further
enhanced our product competitiveness in the market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of tobacco raw materials, the Group was granted
several patent licenses regarding HNB cigarettes, including
“An Aerosol Generator for Heating Aerosol Products”,
“Condensing Firmware and Filter Tip for HNB Cigarettes”
and "A Processing Method for HNB Cigarettes”, etc. The
Group continuously built its technology reserve for the HNB
cigarettes segment to enhance the competitiveness of its
products in the international market.

In terms of aroma raw materials, the fruity ethyl maltol of
Zhaoqing Perfumery Co., Ltd. (Guangdong) was awarded
“Guangdong Provincial Famous High Technology Product
Certificate (EREZERFFMERFES)", and the company
was also recognised as “High-tech Enterprises”, and its
“Xinghu" trademark was also included in the list of key
trademarks protection in Guangdong Province. Ethyl maltol is
one of the core products in the aroma raw materials sector,
and the granted certificates and certifications obtained reflect
the competitive advantages of the Group in terms of maltol
products.

In terms of condiments, the Group applied for three patents
regarding its broth products, including “A kind of Exclusive
Compound Condiment for Prepared Meat Dishes and Its
Preparation Method”, “A Method for Enhancing and Adjusting
Flavour of Simmered Soup Based on Compound Umami
Skin” and “A Compound Method for Enhancing Flavour and
Aroma of Meat and Bone Soup Base”, which in turn helped
the Group enhance the competitiveness of such products. In
addition, the Group obtained two patent licenses, namely
“A Method for Preserving the Flavour of Vegetable Juice-Soy
Sauce Compound Condiment at Ambient Temperature Storage
and Transportation” and “A Compound Method for Preserving
the Tallow Flavour during Sterilisation”, all of which enhanced
the technique and capacity of the Group in respect of storage
and flavour preservation for products.

In terms of R&D, we continued to invest and obtained several
patents in key technologies, which not only reinforced our
market competitiveness, but also laid the foundation for our
long-term development.
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Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 4,065
(as at 31 December 2023: 3,995) employees in Mainland
China, Hong Kong, Germany, Indonesia, Singapore and other
regions.

In terms of human resources, the Group has comprehensively
optimised the welfare system, strategic planning, digital
reform and training system. First, the human resources
department conducted a comprehensive review of the welfare
system, made up for the welfare gap upon a comparative
analysis with other enterprises, significantly improving
employee satisfaction. Second, the Group formulated a
detailed blueprint for workforce development in the next
three years, and refined the implementation strategy with
various business departments, and also implemented the E-HR
system to further improve the digital efficiency of recruitment,
evaluation and talent management. Finally, the Group carried
out targeted management training and case analysis seminars
for all levels of the enterprise to enrich the knowledge base of
our team and improve their problem-solving ability.

In terms of corporate culture construction, the Group
widely shared its development highlights and the latest
business trends through internal publications and WeChat
official account to stimulate employees’ sense of belonging
and participation. For example, the Group showed certain
successful cases on the implementation of “Lean Production”
strategy to its subsidiaries, so as to encourage those
enterprises to learn from each other and thus improve the
overall production efficiency. In addition, the Group also
carried out the selection activities of excellent employees
and cultural workstations, and commended their outstanding
performance through cash rewards. Meanwhile, the Group
organised badminton competitions and other sports activities
to help employees release pressure and encourage them to
maintain a healthy lifestyle and engage themselves in work
and life in better shape.
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Digital Transformation

The Group's digital transformation program involves SAP
ERP platform, decision-making management platform, funds
management platform and product life cycle management
platform, the infrastructure construction of which has been
completed and officially put into use as of the year 2024.
The SAP ERP platform optimizes the data visualisation of
various business departments and makes public information
of value and industrial chains, thus enabling management to
specifically enhance management and operational efficiency.
The decision-making management platform serves the
finance department to realize the rapid digitalisation and
systematisation of financial data, which improves the efficiency
and accuracy of the preparation of financial statements by the
Group and its subsidiaries, and helps the Group make more
informed financial decisions. The funds management platform
serves the funds management department to properly plan
income and expenditures and timely control available funds,
improving the effective management and utilisation of funds
and maximising returns on funds. The product life cycle
management platform mainly serves the R&D department to
track and record products of every link from production to
scrapping, helping the R&D department timely understand the
product usage and optimise the product performance.

A key spotlight of digital transformation is the integration
of the artificial intelligence (Al) system, which has been
applied by the Group in the internal office platform, enabling
employees to quickly search for and retrieve information and
efficiently complete the production, summary and translation
of documents, which greatly saved our time. In addition, the
Group also applied Al technology in the R&D of flavouring
and condiments, which provided reference for the formulation
of different products for R&D and business teams based on
the big data analysis and generation models, significantly
enhancing the Group’s capacity for R&D and product upgrade.

As at the end of 2024, the Group fully completed the
infrastructure construction for the digital transformation
program. In the future, the Group will continuously monitor
the application effect of digital platforms and technologies on
business management, and constantly improve and upgrade
digital technologies to enhance the overall operation and
management of the Group.

ol

3

EEEBNWMR DN

gF{eER
EEMNHFT(LEAIEEKE T SAP ERPF A
RETBTE BBV ANERLEGREN
BEEFE - F2024F  ENEABRFENE
R ERRE 2 PTM > WIEXNEAGEA -
SAP ERPF EE(L T B X HFIHEIE IR
bt FEEENEXBEEE—SCHEE  HME
EIEERE M IR A BB R A IE &
Ko RREBFEAYBIHPIRERS  BR
THBBEBENRBRETLRESLL  RETE
B & EFRERBI IS Rk A RO R
HOEBEELEERENTBERAR  E2ERE
FTERESEEDRERTY  FIEES W
2 REERREET RATESNAUE
BRAB ERESHEAEKE  ERED
BHERFAAEZ RSP - seekt
Mt ERNEEDEENS IR - EBH
BHMEREREAMNKR  BlERIELE -

B BN —EAEZSHEATEERGN
BMA - SEESATEEEARABMERF
G EEIRMARERANBRER LB
WRRNENEE - BENEIE > NIBETE T
R o tEAN - SEAEB BTSRRI E S
BREM T ATEERNM - BB T RBIEME
FRAERY - 73T Ek B 5 7 B AR 1 N [R) 2 am O BT

FeE  EEHMRTEENFEEHNERE
rREeH -

HE204FK  SEMNET(LEAERRE
E2EENK o KK EEFFELETEETLTE
EFMEMAEXBERPNEARRE WY
R EMETEENEBL - NIRAEENHE
BELMEIEKTE -

2024 Annual Report 3§

31



\ -

32

4

Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

In 2025, the global economy is still full of high uncertainty,
plus geopolitical conflicts and trade protectionism, the
production, sales and market development costs of enterprises
may increase, which will further squeeze corporate profit.
However, with the rapid development and application of
Al and Chinese government’s efforts to constantly optimise
economic policies, the Group is presented the opportunity
to improve corporate operating efficiency and business
environment. In response to the complicated situation,
the management of the Group will, based on its own
conditions, formulate the following strategic measures: first,
strengthening R&D and innovation to play a leading role in
innovation; second, achieving leapfrog development through
Al empowering enterprises; third, constantly advancing the
international development; fourth, strengthening supply
chain management to provide a strong guarantee for business
development; fifth, relying on lean production management
to strengthen its core competence; sixth, building up the
corporate culture and incentive mechanism with value
creation as the orientation to achieve mutual benefits;
seventh, achieving dual-engine growth and providing growth
momentum through mergers and acquisitions; eighth, keeping
abreast of the capital market to reinforce the capital market’s
confidence in the Group. The above measures involve R&D,
production, supply chain, efficiency, management, culture,
communication and other aspects, provide a clear direction
for all employees to work hard, make improvement and
cooperate with each other to practice the Group’s vision of
“Flavour your life” and consolidate its leading role in the
industry, further promoting its business development.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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In terms of F&F and Food ingredients, the Group will focus
on developing daily chemical fragrance and food ingredient
businesses, positioning them as the second growth driver
for the F&F and Food ingredients business, aiming to achieve
balanced development between fragrances and food flavours.
By comprehensively enhancing its integrated solution
capabilities, the Group will unlock future growth potential.
In the field of tobacco raw materials, the Group will align
with the harm reduction direction of the tobacco industry,
prioritizing the development of innovative tobacco products
and focusing on HNB and smokeless product solutions. We
will seize the opportunities in the overseas market for tobacco
capsules in the coming years to rapidly increase market share.
Regarding aroma raw materials, adhering to the “green and
healthy” development philosophy, the Group will vigorously
develop high-quality, cost-effective biosynthetic fragrances
and large-scale daily chemical fragrances, further optimizing
the product mix and unleashing existing production capacity.
In the condiment sector, the Group will focus on developing
compound condiments to further meet the growing demand
for industrial applications in the catering industry and the
convenience and personalization of individual consumption.
Meanwhile, the Group will expand into developing fermented
products to further enrich its product line, and, by leveraging
its channel advantages, to enhance its market share.
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RECONCILIATION OF HKFRS MEASURES TO THE
NON-HKFRS MEASURES

For review of financial performance, the Group has
provided non-HKFRS measures, including adjusted EBITDA,
adjusted EBITDA margin, adjusted operating profit, adjusted
operating profit margin, adjusted profit for the year, which
are supplementary to the Group’s consolidated results in
accordance with HKFRS. The Group believes that these
additional figures provide our shareholders and investors with
useful supplementary information to facilitate the analysis and
assessment of the performance of the Group’s core operations
by excluding certain non-cash items, which consist of share-
based compensation expenses, impairment of goodwill,
impairment of intangible assets, and provision for impairment
relating to the investment in an associate, recognised in the
consolidated income statement. These non-HKFRS measures
also allow the Group to evaluate its ongoing operations and
are applied for internal planning and forecasting purposes.
The use of these non-HKFRS measures may have certain
limitations as a tool for analysis and comparison. Shareholders
and investors are advised not to consider these non-HKFRS
measures in isolation from, or as a substitute for analysis
of, the Group’'s financial performance as reported under
HKFRS. Also, please note that these non-HKFRS measures
may be defined differently from similar terms used by other
companies. The following table highlighted the reconciliations
of the Group’s financial measures prepared in accordance
with HKFRS for the year ended 31 December 2024 and year
ended 31 December 2023 to the non-HKFRS measures.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Non-HKFRS adjustments

BZ2024512831BLLEE

FERMBRERARE

Provision for

Share-based Impairment impairment of

compensation Impairment  of intangible investment in
As reported expenses of goodwill assets an associate Adjusted

ROAER BENARE
3] #9357 B B % BERE EREENE ZHERE BHRE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT R ARBT T ARBT ARETR ARBT R

(a) (b) (c) (d)
EBITDA EBITDA (69,690) 48,549 630,887 14,380 — 624,126
EBITDA margin EBITDA % -2.1% 18.5%
Operating (loss)/profit ~ &iE(EB),/ &7 (401,946) 48,549 630,887 14,380 - 291,870
Operating profit margin & & F|% -11.9% 8.7%
(Loss)/profit for the year &EE (E18),/ BH (458,857) 48,549 630,887 14,380 49,119 284,078
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
Non-HKFRS adjustments
HZ2023F12A31RLLFEE
FEBHIIERRHE

Provision for

Share-based Impairment  impairment of
compensation Impairment of intangible  investment in
As reported expenses of goodwill assets an associate Adjusted
Rt REH HENERE
Bl £ 7 B B s HERE \EPEERE ZHERE RS
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREF T
(@) (b) (0) (d)
EBITDA EBITDA 695,648 4,103 56,502 9,850 — 766,103
EBITDA margin EBITDA X% 21.0% 23.2%
Operating profit EERF 378,051 4,103 56,502 9,850 — 448,506
Operating profit margin & & & F|%X 11.4% 13.6%
Profit for the year REFEF 290,483 4,103 56,502 9,850 22,291 383,229
Note: B 5 -
(@) Including shares granted to the grantees according to (a) BEREERZZRRARAAIKELSE:TE

Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co. Ltd’s Share Incentive Scheme
and restricted shares granted to the incentive participants
according to Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co. Ltd’s Share
Incentive Scheme (if applicable)

Including impairment provision for goodwill arising from
acquisitions

Including impairment provision for intangible assets arising from
acquisitions

Including impairment provision for investment in an associate

BTRETFTAZEODUERBEEEERRNA
PR B B S AT 3R T B B R 2 R A
E(wEA)

(b) BREBEEIMNEHEORERRE

(0 BREBEEINELEENMERR

(d &

BB ERERE ZRERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Analysis of results for the year ended 31 December 2024

Revenue

The Group's revenue amounted to RMB3,373,265,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024, representing an increase
of 2.0% as compared with RMB3,307,839,000 for the
corresponding period last year. The increase in the revenue is
mainly attributable to an increase in revenue of the aroma raw
materials segment by 26.7% year-on-year to RMB791,523,000
as a result of the increase in demand in both domestic and
overseas markets, and a 2.7% year-on-year increase in
revenue of the condiment segment to RMB774,569,000 due
to increased demand in the upstream market as a result of the
recovery of the catering industry. However, the increase was
partially offset by a 8.6% year-on-year decrease in revenue of
the F&F and Food ingredients segment to RMB1,338,970,000
due to the changes in market demand and keen competition.

Cost of goods sold

The Group’s cost of goods sold amounted to RMB1,931,821,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing an
increase of 5.1% as compared with RMB1,838,474,000 for the
corresponding period last year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit amounted to RMB1,441,444,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease
of RMB27,921,000 or approximately 1.9% as compared with
RMB1,469,365,000 for the corresponding period last year.
The decrease in gross profit was mainly attributable to the
decline in gross profit margin for the year. The gross profit
margin for the year was approximately 42.7%, representing a
decrease of 1.7 percentage points as compared to 44.4% for
the corresponding period last year. It was mainly attributable
to the keen competition in the market, changes in the overall
downstream market demand and the changes in the Group’s
product mix.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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Other income and other gains - net

For the year ended 31 December 2024, other income and
other gains (net) of the Group was RMB149,273,000,
representing an increase of RMB2,665,000 as compared
with RMB146,608,000 for the corresponding period last
year. The increase in other income and other gains was
mainly attributable to: (1) the gain from changes in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") for the year amounting to RMB60,004,000 (2023:
loss of RMB8,810,000), representing a year-on-year increase
of RMB68,814,000, mainly due to the loss from changes
in fair value of listed equity investments held in the year
amounting to RMB12,326,000 (2023: RMB39,249,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB26,923,000; the
loss from changes in fair value of contingent consideration
regarding the acquisition of Shanghai Yifang for the year
amounting to RMB5,660,000 (2023: RMB29,200,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB23,540,000, as
well as the gain from changes in fair value of listed equity
investments held in the year amounting to RMB6,221,000
(2023: loss of RMB21,824,000), representing a year-on-year
increase of RMB28,045,000; (2) government grants reaching
RMB99,980,000 (2023: RMB151,051,000) for the year,
representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB51,071,000; (3)
an exchange loss of RMB20,215,000 (2023: RMB5,635,000)
was recorded for the year, representing a year-on-year
increase of RMB14,580,000, mainly due to the depreciation of
IDR against USD and RMB for the year.

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group comprised
mainly travelling expenses, business and markets promotion
expenses, agency services expenses, salaries and office
expenses, etc. The selling and marketing expenses of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted
to RMB370,150,000, representing an increase of 13.3%
as compared with RMB326,809,000 for the corresponding
period last year. Selling and marketing expenses for the year
accounted for approximately 11.0% of the total revenue,
representing an increase of 1.1 percentage point as compared
with approximately 9.9% for last year. The increase in
such ratio and selling and marketing expenses was mainly
attributable to the Group’s increase in employee benefit
expenses and the increase in business and marketing expenses
in response to the fierce market competition in the current
year.
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Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
administrative expenses amounted to RMB930,894,000,
representing an increase of RMB100,028,000 or 12.0%
as compared with RMB830,866,000 for the corresponding
period last year. Administrative expenses for the current year
accounted for approximately 27.6% of the total revenue,
representing an increase of 2.5 percentage points as compared
with approximately 25.1% for the year ended 31 December
2023. The increase in such ratio and administrative expense
was mainly attributable to the increase in employee benefit
expenses for the year, of which the provision of share-based
compensation expenses of approximately RMB43,772,000
due to the grant of restricted shares by Huabao Flavours, a
subsidiary of the Company, and a provision for impairment of
intangible assets of RMB14,380,000 provided for the year as
a result of the gross profit and operating profit of Yancheng
Chunzhu CGU failing to meet the expectations as assessed by
an independent valuer.

Operating (loss)/profit

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's operating
loss was RMB401,946,000, representing a decrease of
RMB779,997,000 as compared with the operating profit of
RMB378,051,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
decrease in operating profit was mainly due to the recognition
for the year of goodwill impairment of RMB630,887,000
(2023: RMB56,502,000), representing a year-on-year increase
of RMB574,385,000; intangible asset impairment provision of
RMB14,380,000 (2023: RMB9,850,000), representing a year-
on-year increase of RMB4,530,000; share-based compensation
expenses accrued at the subsidiary level of RMB48,549,000
(2023: RMB4,103,000), representing a year-on-year
increase of RMB44,446,000; and provisions for impairment
of receivables (presented as “Net impairment losses on
financial assets” in the consolidated income statement) of
approximately RMB60,732,000 (2023: RMB23,745,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of RMB36,987,000.
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If the effects of goodwill impairment for the year and last
year of RMB630,887,000 and RMB56,502,000, respectively,
the share-based compensation expenses for the year and last
year of RMB48,549,000 and RMB4,103,000, respectively,
and the provision for impairment of intangible assets for the
year and last year of RMB14,380,000 and RMB9,850,000,
respectively, were all excluded, the adjusted operating profit
for the year would be approximately RMB291,870,000,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB156,636,000
or 34.9% as compared with the adjusted operating profit
of RMB448,506,000 (excluding goodwill impairment,
share-based compensation expenses and provision for
impairment of intangible assets) for last year, mainly due
to the decrease in gross profit for the year, as well as the
increase in selling and marketing expenses and administrative
expenses and provisions for impairment of receivables. The
adjusted operating profit margin for the year amounted
to approximately 8.7%, representing a decrease of 4.9
percentage points from approximately 13.6% for last year,
mainly due to the drop in gross profit margin and the increase
in selling and marketing expenses and administrative expenses
as a percentage of revenue for the year.

(Loss)/Profit before income tax

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s loss
before income tax was RMB402,425,000 (2023: profit of
RMB415,925,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of RMB818,350,000. The year-on-year change was mainly
due to the recognition for the year of goodwill impairment
of RMB630,887,000 (2023: RMB56,502,000); intangible
asset impairment provision of RMB14,380,000 (2023:
RMB9,850,000); share-based compensation expenses
accrued at the subsidiary level of RMB48,549,000
(2023: RMB4,103,000); and provisions for impairment
of receivables (net) of approximately RMB60,732,000
(2023: RMB23,745,000); coupled with the provision for
impairment of approximately RMB49,119,000 arising from the
reclassification of investment in an associate to assets held for
sale during the year, as well as the year-on-year increase in
selling and marketing expenses and administrative expenses
for the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Income tax expenses

The income tax expenses of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB56,432,000,
representing a decrease of RMB69,010,000 as compared
with RMB125,442,000 for last year. If the effects of goodwill
impairment, intangible asset impairment and provision for
impairment on the investment in an associate for the year and
last year were excluded, the adjusted income tax rate of the
year would be approximately 19.3%, representing a decrease
of 5.6 percentage points as compared with the adjusted
income tax rate of approximately 24.9% for last year, mainly
due to the tax refunds for prior year of RMB13,631,000
received by the Group during the year as a result of favorable
tax policies.

(Loss)/Profit for the year

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's
loss was RMB458,857,000, representing a decrease
of RMB749,340,000 as compared with the profit of
RMB290,483,000 for last year. The year-on-year change
was mainly due to the recognition for the year of goodwill
impairment of RMB630,887,000 (2023: RMB56,502,000);
intangible asset impairment provision of RMB14,380,000
(2023: RMB9,850,000); share-based compensation expenses
accrued at the subsidiary level of RMB48,549,000 (2023:
RMB4,103,000); provisions for impairment of receivables (net)
of approximately RMB60,732,000 (2023: RMB23,745,000);
coupled with the provision for impairment of approximately
RMB49,119,000 arising from the reclassification of investment
in an associate to assets held for sale during the year and the
year-on-year increase in selling and marketing expenses and
administrative expenses for the year.

If the effects of goodwill impairment for the year and last
year of RMB630,887,000 and RMB56,502,000, respectively,
the share-based compensation expenses for the year and last
year of RMB48,549,000 and RMB4,103,000, respectively, the
provision for impairment of intangible assets for the year and
last year of RMB14,380,000 and RMB9,850,000, respectively,
and the provision for impairment on the investment in an
associate for the year and last year of RMB49,119,000 and
RMB22,291,000, respectively, were all excluded, the adjusted
profit for the year would be RMB284,078,000, representing
a decrease of RMB99,151,000 or 25.9% as compared with
the adjusted profit of RMB383,229,000 (excluding goodwill
impairment, share-based compensation expenses, intangible
assets impairment provision and provision for impairment on
the investment in an associate) for last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(Loss)/Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the loss attributable
to the equity holders of the Company was RMB385,509,000,
representing a decrease of RMB619,142,000 as compared with
the profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
of RMB233,633,000 in the last year. The year-on-year change
was mainly due to the recognition of goodwill impairment
of RMB630,887,000 (2023: RMB56,502,000); provision
for impairment of intangible assets of RMB14,380,000
(2023: RMB9,850,000); share-based compensation expenses
accrued at the subsidiary level of RMB48,549,000 (2023:
RMB4,103,000); provisions for impairment of receivables (net)
of approximately RMB60,732,000 (2023: RMB23,745,000);
the provision for impairment of approximately RMB49,119,000
arising from the reclassification of investment in an associate
to assets held for sale during the year, as well as the year-
on-year increase in selling and marketing expenses and
administrative expenses for the year.

Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 December 2024, the net current asset value of
the Group was RMB7,034,542,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB6,975,409,000). The Group generates its working capital
mainly through its operating activities to maintain a sound
financial position. As at 31 December 2024, the Group's
cash and bank balances amounted to RMB5,562,231,000 (31
December 2023: RMB2,539,493,000), over 80% of which
were held in RMB. In addition, the fair value of outstanding
bank wealth management products held by the Group as at 31
December 2024 amounted to RMB649,498,000 (31 December
2023: RMB3,847,748,000), which was presented as financial
assets at FVPL.

Bank borrowings and gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the total bank borrowings of
the Group amounted to RMB194,000,000 (31 December
2023: RMB455,250,000), all of which were RMB loans,
including secured loans due within one year amounting
to RMB54,000,000 (31 December 2023: RMB36,000,000
due within two years) and unsecured loans amounting to
RMB140,000,000 (31 December 2023: RMB419,250,000) due
within one year. During the year, the average annual interest
rate for secured loans was 3.8% (year ended 31 December
2023: 4.2%), while the average annual interest rate for
unsecured loans was 2.2% (year ended 31 December 2023:
2.9%). As at 31 December 2024, the Group's debt ratio (total
borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings)
divided by total equity, excluding non-controlling interests)
was 1.6%, representing a decrease of 2.0 percentage points
from 3.6% as at 31 December 2023.
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Investing activities

The Group’s investing activities included the purchase of
property, plant and equipment, financial assets investment
and merger & acquisition activities related to the strategical
development strategies. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the net cash generated from investing activities
amounted to RMB1,009,127,000, mainly the proceeds from
bank wealth management products upon expiry. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB2,604,686,000.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the net cash
used in the Group’'s financing activities amounted to
RMB646,390,000, mainly comprising repayment of bank
borrowings of RMB558,250,000, payment of cash dividends of
RMB249,968,000 to shareholders of the Company, payment of
cash dividends of RMB68,818,000 to non-controlling interests,
and addition of bank borrowings of RMB297,000,000. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the net cash used in financing
activities amounted to RMB674,196,000.

Trade receivables turnover period

The trade receivables turnover period is calculated on the
basis of the average amount of trade receivables as at the
beginning of and at the end of a relevant financial period
divided by the total revenue for the corresponding period
and multiplied by 360 days. The Group generally offers its
customers a credit period of approximately 0-180 days,
depending on the business volume of, and the length of
business relationship with the customers. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group's average trade receivables
turnover period was 81 days, representing a decrease of 16
days as compared with 97 days for the corresponding period
last year. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the
Group's average trade receivables for the year as compared to
the last year, while the sales revenue for the year recorded a
year-on-year increase.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Trade payables turnover period

The trade payables turnover period is calculated on the basis
of the average amount of trade payables as at the beginning
of and at the end of a relevant financial period divided by
the cost of goods sold for the corresponding period and
multiplied by 360 days. Credit periods granted by suppliers
to the Group ranged from 0-180 days. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group's average trade payables turnover
period was 47 days, decreased by 4 days as compared with 51
days for the corresponding period last year. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in the average trade payables for
the year, while the cost of goods sold for the year recorded a
year-on-year increase.

Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s inventory balance
amounted to RMB893,330,000, representing a decrease
of RMB101,262,000 as compared with the balance of
RMB994,592,000 as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to an
increase in the Group'’s provision for impairment of obsolete
inventory or inventory depreciation for the year. As at 31
December 2024, the balance of the provision for impairment
of inventories amounted to RMB110,598,000 (31 December
2023: RMB4,386,000). For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group's inventory turnover period (calculated on
the basis of the average amount of inventory balances as at
the beginning of and at the end of a relevant financial period
divided by the total cost of goods sold for the corresponding
period and multiplied by 360 days) was 176 days, decreased
by 21 days as compared with 197 days for the corresponding
period last year. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease
in the average inventory balance as compared to last year,
while the cost of goods sold for the year recorded a year-on-
year increase.
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Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland
China and the majority of the revenue is denominated in RMB,
with the exception of only a certain amount of imported raw
materials and equipment which are denominated in foreign
currency such as USD or EUR. The Group’s bank deposits are
mainly denominated in RMB, USD and HKD. Management
concurs with the views of the People’s Bank of China on the
RMB exchange rate, that is, conditionally maintaining RMB
exchange rate generally stable at an adaptive and balanced
level.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the properties and right-of-use
assets of Shanghai Yifang Rual Technology Co. Ltd. and its
subsidiaries with total carrying values of RMB43,063,000 (31
December 2023: RMB39,245,000) were used as collateral for
the Group’s secured bank borrowings with total amount of
RMB54,000,000 (31 December 2023: RMB36,000,000). Apart
from the above-mentioned, the Group had no pledged assets
as at 31 December 2024.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitments
in respect of the purchase of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and investments in
a jointly controlled entity and financial assets at FVPL,
contracted for but not provided in the financial statements
amounting to approximately RMB97,854,000 (31 December
2023: RMB140,455,000).

Contingent liabilities

According to the information available to the Board, the
Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 55, the Chairlady of the Board, CEO,
Executive Director and the Chairlady of Nomination Committee
of the Company. Ms. Chu has been a member of the Board since
March 2004. Ms. Chu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (the Co-
Chairman of the Board, Vice President and an Executive Director
of the Company) and Ms. LAM Ka Yan (an Executive Director
and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company).
Ms. Chu is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “C1" as set out in Note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements. Ms. Chu has extensive experience in
formulating strategies and making executive decisions on
business operation, investments and market development. She
was a member of the Fourth and Fifth Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Committee (Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province). Ms. Chu, through the corporations controlled by her,
is the beneficial owner of Company as set out on page 124 of
this annual report headed under Directors’ Interests in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures.

Mr. LAM Ka Yu, aged 32, the Co-Chairman of the Board,
an Executive Director and Vice President of the Company.
Mr. Lam has been a member of the Board since November
2013. Mr. Lam is the son of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the Chairlady
of the Board, CEO, Executive Director and Controlling
Shareholder of the Company), and the brother of Ms. LAM Ka
Yan (an Executive Director and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company). Mr. Lam is also a director
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “L1"
and the legal representative of those companies marked
with”L2" as set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Lam was educated in the United Kingdom
and the United States of America. For corporate management
experiences, Mr. Lam is currently a managing director and
legal representative of a private company, which is engaged
in e-commerce business in China. He previously served as
a director and the general manager of a company which is
engaged in advertising media business in China.

Mr. XIA Liqun, aged 58, an Executive Director, Vice
Chairman, President and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Xia has been a member of
the Board since September 2006. Mr. Xia is also a director of
the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “X1” and
the legal representative of those companies marked with “X2”
as set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
Mr. Xia holds a bachelor’s degree in economics and is a
certified accountant, certified tax specialist and certified
appraiser in China. Mr. Xia has over 30 years of financial and
corporate management experience. He previously worked
in domestic accounting firms in China and was a senior
management member of a foreign invested enterprise in
China. Mr. Xia is currently the honorary chairman of the
Shanghai Food Additive & Batching Association.
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Senior Management

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 62, an Executive Director, Vice
President and the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr.
Poon has been a member of the Board since March 2004. Mr.
Poon was awarded the postgraduate diploma in laws by the
University of London. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in laws, a
Bachelor’'s degree in business studies and a Master’'s degree
in international accounting. He is a fellow of CPA Australia
Ltd., The Chartered Governance Institute, and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and the Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute and a member of the Canadian
Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum. Mr. Poon has
extensive experience and knowledge in areas of corporate
finance and governance of listed companies.

Ms. LAM Ka Yan, aged 27, an Executive Director and a
member of the Nomination Committee of the Company. She
has been a member of the Board since February 2022 where
she is involved in the formulation and implementation of the
Group's strategy and involved in the strategic direction and
positioning of the Group's innovative businesses. Ms. Lam had
joined the Group in July 2020 where she was engaged in the
sales and marketing of the Group's condiment segment. Ms.
Lam is the daughter of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the Chairlady of the
Board, CEO, Executive Director and Controlling Shareholder
of the Company), and the sister of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (the Co-
chairman of the Board, Vice President and an Executive
Director of the Company). Ms. Lam obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in economics from Columbia University (U.S.).

Ms. CHOY Man Har, aged 58, an Executive Director of the
Company. She has been a member of the Board since February
2022. Ms. Choy joined the Group since 2006 and has held
various positions within the Group. She has been the deputy
chief financial officer of the Group since 2018 and was
mainly responsible for the financial reporting and financial
management of the Group. Ms. Choy has over 30 years of
experience in accounting and financial management related
disciplines. Before joining the Group, Ms. Choy worked in
quasi-governmental organizations in Hong Kong. Ms. Choy
holds a Bachelor’s degree in business administration of the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of The
Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute.
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 67, an Independent Non-executive
Director, the chairman of both of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee has been a member
of the Board since May 2006. Mr. Lee is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee
has over 30 years of experience in commercial accounting
and corporate finance. Mr. Lee has principally engaged in
corporate finance and regulatory aspects in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. He was an assistant vice president of the
Listing Division of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and his
duties included regulating and monitoring the Hong Kong
listed companies in relation to their compliance with the
Listing Rules and processing new listing applications. He also
served as a senior consultant of an investment bank for more
than 5 years.

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN, aged 61, an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Yan has been
a member of the Board since May 2019. Mr. Yan graduated
from University of Technology, Sydney with a Master of
Management. Mr. Yan previously served as the Director of
the MBA (Mandarin International) Education Centre of the
University of Technology, Sydney from 1998 to 2000, the
General Manager of Insearch Consulting (Shanghai) Ltd.
from 2001 to 2005, the General Manager of Ecole Fashion
Consulting (Beijing) Ltd. from 2006 to 2013 and the Director
of Global Finance Development Education Center of PBC
School of Finance, Tsinghua University from 2013 to 2020.
Mr. Yan was the president of China Global Philanthropy
Institute (CGPI) from September 2020 to March 2025.

Mr. HOU Haitao, aged 43, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of
the Company. He has been a member of the Board since
May 2022. Mr. Hou has over 15 years of experience in the
investment banking industry. Mr. Hou holds a Master’s
degree in accounting. Since 2008, Mr. Hou has been working
in different securities companies in China. He is a senior
professional in the capital market. He has presided over the
listing and capital operation of many companies and has
extensive experience in the capital market.
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. YUAN Xiaoqin, aged 56, a president of Huabao Flavours,
joined the Group since August 2006. Ms. Yuan is also a
director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked
with “YX1"” and the legal representative of those companies
marked with “YX2" as set out in Note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements. Ms. Yuan holds an MBA degree and is
a senior qualified engineer. Before joining the Group, Ms.
Yuan served as an executive in a Hong Kong listed state-
owned enterprise. She has over 20 years of experience in
senior management position. Ms. Yuan is currently the
deputy director of China Association of Fragrance Flavour
and Cosmetic Industries and honorary chairman of the Food
Additives and Ingredients Industry Association in Shanghai
City. She was a representative of the People’s Congress in
Shantou City, Guangdong Province and a deputy director of
China Association of Bakery & Confectionery Industry. She has
won honors of the Fifth Shanghai Industrial and Commercial
Leader, the “Pioneer” of Bakery & Confectionery Industry
in the 40th Anniversary of China’s Reform and Opening
up, and the “Outstanding Entrepreneur” and “Outstanding
Contributor” of the China Flavor and Fragrance Cosmetic
Industry Association.

Mr. ZHAO Dexu, aged 48, a vice president of the Group,
joined the Group since July 2020. Mr. Zhao is also a director
of the Company's principal subsidiaries marked with “ZD1"
and the legal representative of those companies marked with
“ZD2" as set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Zhao graduated with a Doctor’s degree in
Control Science and Engineering and also graduated with a
Doctor’s degree in Business Administration. Mr. Zhao was
selected as a member of China’s “Thousand Talents Plan”
(Xinjiang Project), as an “overseas high level talent” of Jiangsu
Province and as a “high-end foreign talent” in Shanghai. He
was presented the “2012 Best Value CIO Award” in 2012 and
was named as one of China’s digital transformation leader in
2018 and 2019. Since 2019, he also serves as the sixth batch
of postgraduate advisor of Jiangsu Province and an industry
professor of Jiangsu University. Before joining the Group, Mr.
Zhao held executive position in large diversified organizations.
He has extensive experiences in the fields of corporate
management, strategic and information management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 77, the chief flavourist of Huabao
Flavours and general manager of Aromascape Development
Centre in Germany, joined the Group since February 2007.
Mr. Davies is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “AD1" as set out in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements. Mr. Davies holds a Higher
National Diploma in food science of Grimsby College of
Technology, United Kingdom. Mr. Davies served as a senior
flavourist in charge of creation and applications in a number
of world renowned flavours and fragrances companies and
tobacco factory, including BBA, Carreras Rothmans, Dragoco
and Symrise. Mr. Davies has over 50 years of experience in
tobacco flavours.

Mr. GAO Xu, aged 41, the president of Tobacco Raw
Materials Business Division, joined the Group since April
2007. Mr. Gao is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “GX1"” and the legal representative
of those companies marked with “GX2" as set out in Note
39 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Gao holds
a Bachelor’'s degree in food science and engineering from
Nanjing University of Finance and Economics and a Master's
degree in food science from Jiangnan University. Since joining
the Group in 2007, Mr. Gao has held different positions,
namely technician of tobacco flavour market service center,
deputy general manager of Yunnan Tianhong Flavor and
Fragrance Co., Ltd., assistant to the chairman of Guangdong
Jinye, vice president of Tobacco Raw Materials Business
Division and president of Tobacco Raw Materials Business
Division. He has extensive operational and managerial
experience in tobacco raw materials.

Ms. LI Xiaojun, aged 56, a vice president of Huabao Flavours,
joined the Group since June 2000. Ms. Li is also a director
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “LX1"
and the legal representative of those companies marked with
“LX2" as set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements. Ms. Li holds a Bachelor’s degree and is a qualified
Intermediate Accountant. After joining the Group, Ms. Li
served as a financial manager in the Group and presidents
of several subsidiaries. Since August 2020, she is also the
chairman of Amber (Xiamen) Fragrance Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary
of the Group listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations). Ms. Li has about 20 years of extensive
experiences in the field of corporate management.
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives
by which the management of a company is directed and
controlled to maximize the profitability and long-term value
of the firm for shareholders while taking into account the
interest of other legitimate stakeholders (UK Cadbury Report
1992). The Board recognises the importance and benefits of
good corporate governance practices and has adopted certain
corporate governance and disclosure practices aiming at a
high level of transparency and accountability.

The Company is committed to continuously improving its
corporate governance practices as part of its own corporate
culture.

In accordance with the corporate governance requirements
outlined in the Listing Rules, the Company maintains high
standards of corporate governance. We understand that robust
governance practices are crucial for ensuring transparency,
accountability, and sustainable growth, ultimately enhancing
shareholder value.

During the Year, the Company adhered to the principles
of good corporate governance and implemented various
measures to strengthen its governance framework. The Board
is responsible for overseeing the Company’s overall strategic
direction, financial performance, and risk management, and
is dedicated to upholding principles of integrity, fairness, and
responsibility, which are essential for fostering a culture of
good governance within the organization.

The Company has established several board committees,
including the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
and Nomination Committee, to ensure effective oversight
of specific aspects of our governance. Each committee
operates under clearly defined terms of reference and plays
a vital role in assisting the Board in fulfilling its governance
responsibilities.

This report outlines the key areas of our corporate governance
practices, including Board composition, Board diversity,
directors’ risk management, internal controls,
and stakeholder engagement. The Board continually reviews
and enhances the Company’s governance practices to align
with evolving regulatory requirements and international best
practices.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company remains dedicated to fostering a strong
governance culture that supports long-term value creation
and sustainability. The Board believes that maintaining
high standards of corporate governance is fundamental
to achieving our corporate objectives and fulfilling our
obligations to our shareholders and other stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Save and except as disclosed below, the Company had
complied with the code provisions in the CG Code and, where
appropriate, adopted the recommended best practices as set
out in the CG Code throughout the financial year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Financial Year”).

The Company has not fully complied with the code provisions
C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, which provides that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Ms.
CHU Lam Yiu, Chairlady of the Board and Executive Director
of the Company, took up the position of CEO on 9 April
2013. While the Board acknowledges this deviation from
the CG Code, it is of the view that the current leadership
structure has not, and will not, impair the balance of power
and authority of the Board and the executive management
for the following reasons: (i) despite holding both positions,
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu does not have sole authority over the
Company's strategic direction or decision-making processes.
The Company has established clear distinctions between
the roles and responsibilities of the Board and the executive
management. While Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, as CEO, oversees the
day-to-day operations of the Company, the Board retains
ultimate responsibility for strategic oversight, governance,
and long-term decision-making. This division ensures that
operational decisions are managed by the executive team
while strategic decisions remain the domain of the Board;
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(ii) the Board meets on a regular basis to discuss key issues
pertaining to the Group's business operations. The presence
of INEDs at these meetings ensures that the views of the
executive management, including those of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
as both Chairlady and CEO, are appropriately balanced by
the perspectives of non-executive directors; and (iii) since Ms.
CHU Lam Yiu assumed the dual roles of Chairlady and CEO in
2013, the Company has continued to operate effectively, with
stable corporate governance, sound decision-making, and
positive business performance. There has been no evidence to
suggest that the holding of both positions has resulted in any
undue concentration of power or compromised the Company’s
governance structure. As such, the Board is confident that
the effectiveness of corporate planning and implementation
of corporate strategies and decisions will not adversely be
affected by the current leadership arrangement.

The Directors will continue to review and, where appropriate,
improve the standard operations of the Company, based on
both practical experience and regulatory changes, to enhance
the confidence of the Shareholders, safeguard Shareholders’
interest and to ensure the continued healthy developments of
business.

CORPORATE'S CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Group is committed to developing a culture that is built
on its vision, spirit, core values and mission which create
corporate culture that builds consensus (2 # %) and
inspires progress (M EIE#). Upholding the corporate vision
of “Flavour your life” (¥4 )E5|4E%), the Group's business
development has been around its spirit of “Innovative,
pragmatic, loyal and cooperative” (Bl# « & - £ - H1E)
since its inception, in which “client first, value creation and
shared achievements” (BEF & + - BEAIE
been integrated into all business operations from sourcing,
production, transportation, through to the sales and customer
services. More information about the Company’s vision, spirit,
core values and mission are available on the Company website
(www.hbglobal.com).
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The Group has a set of prudent and continuous strategic
planning procedures designed to identify and evaluate
potential opportunities and challenges faced by the Group
and formulate action plans aimed at creating sustainable
long-term value for shareholders. The Group's strategy is
based on the concentric and diversified development strategy
of flavors and fragrances as the “core”, with the development
concept of “green, healthy and nutrition” (4 - 25 « &
), to create a taste-related consumer goods industry cluster
with flavors and fragrances as the “core”, and a delicious
life in the large catering sector’s ecological platform as two
wings, with the long-term development goal of becoming a
diversified industrial holding group of taste-related consumer
goods.

During the quarterly, semi-annual and annual business
meetings, each business segment reviews and, where
necessary, makes partial adjustments to its business
objectives and strategic measures based on actual business
analysis and these adjustments are then submitted to the
Group management for discussion and approval, and the
implementation of the strategic plan is monitored and
evaluated on a timely basis.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Company has a well-balanced Board. As of date of this
report, the Board comprises six Executive Directors and three
INEDs. The members of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman and Vice President)

Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)
Ms. LAM Ka Yan

Ms. CHOY Man Har

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN

Mr. HOU Haitao
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There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material relationship) among any members of the
Board, except for Ms. CHU Lam Yiu being the mother of
both Mr. LAM Ka Yu and Ms. LAM Ka Yan all of whom are
Executive Directors of the Company. Biographies of the
Directors are set out on pages 45 to 47 of this annual report.
The current Board has experience, expertise, and qualifications
in production and operations, management, accounting and
finance and regulatory matters in both Hong Kong and China.
One of the three INEDs possesses a recognised professional
qualification in accounting. The INEDs contribute independent
judgment, professional knowledge and experience which are
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appropriate for the Board's deliberations. All Directors have 122 WFEHAREBEKLERTERKEEFEH
relevant qualifications in their respective field of expertise and N EERE ©
have exhibited personal and professional ethics and integrity.
The diversity of experiences and backgrounds enables
the Board to enhance better corporate governance and
performance standard and allowing them to bring in valuable
contributions and objective advice to support the development
of the Group's businesses.
Details of the mix of core skills of the Board: BEEEROREES 2B

Number of
Skills Directors
BB ESAH
Production and operation and management related 4
GE LEREEEHE
Compliance and regulatory related 2
BREERIBEA
Finance and accounting related 3
%R gtiaEA
Total 9
Akt

The Board considered the current composition of the Board
provides a balanced mix of skills, experiences and diversity,
which supports its purpose, values, strategy and desired
culture and the Board also plans to acquire further skills
by providing continuous professional development for its
the directors, including but not limited to industry-specific
training, corporate governance, risk management and internal
control, and environmental, societal and governance matters.
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During the Financial Year, the Board met the requirements
of the Listing Rules, which require that the number of
independent non-executive directors represent at least one-
third of the Board, and that at least one independent non-
executive director possesses appropriate qualifications,
including accounting or related financial management
expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules).

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and
concluded that all the INEDs are considered to be independent
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (“Ms. Chu”) is the Chairlady of the Board
(responsible for the management of Board's operation and
development of the Group’s strategic planning) and Executive
Director of the Company. She has also held the position of
CEO (responsible for important management and business
decisions making of the Group) since 2013. The Board believes
that Ms. Chu's concurrent roles as Chairlady and CEO have
been beneficial to the business development and management
of the Group. Upon the appointment as Co-Chairman of the
Group of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (“Mr. Lam”), Mr. Lam and Ms. Chu
were jointly responsible for the management of the Board'’s
operation and development of the Group’s strategic planning.

Mr. XIA Liqun, in his capacity as Vice Chairman and President,
is responsible for the daily operational management of the
Group and reports directly to the Chairlady and CEO. With the
support of Mr. Lam as Co-Chairman, Mr. XIA Liqun as the Vice
Chairman and President, Mr. POON Chiu Kwok as the Vice
President and Company Secretary, the Chairlady shall ensure
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
board meetings and receive adequate, complete, reliable and
timely information necessary for informed making decisions.
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Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The primary objective of the Board is to safeguard and
enhance the long-term value of the Company for the benefit
of its Shareholders, as well as for the broader interests of its
stakeholders, including but not limited to the sustainability
of the Company and the risk control management. To this
end, the Board assumes the responsibilities for leadership and
management of the Company and oversees the businesses,
strategic development direction, financial performance and
corporate governance of the Group. All new board members
have been given information on the Company’s general
business background and policies upon joining the Board. All
Directors have been provided with regular training sessions
conducted by qualified external legal professionals to update
and refresh their understanding of applicable legal and
regulatory requirements, and to enhance their knowledge and
skills necessary to effectively perform their duties.

The Board, working side-by-side with the Chairlady and Co-
Chairman, is collectively responsible for formulating and
approving the business strategies of the Company, setting
objectives for management, overseeing its performance
and assessing the effectiveness of management strategies.
The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s operations and conduct
meetings with senior management of the Group at which
operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.
The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors, as well as overseeing
the Company's adherence to the code of conduct and
ensuring appropriate disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

The Bye-laws set out the responsibilities and proceedings
of the Board. Significant operational policies have to be
discussed and approved by the Board. To enable the Directors
to meet their obligations, an appropriate organizational
structure is in place, with clearly defined responsibilities and
limits of authority.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for
the Directors and senior management of the Company in
respect of any legal actions that may be brought against
them arising from the execution of their duties, provided such
actions are conducted in good faith.
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Board Meetings

The Board conducts scheduled board meetings on a quarterly
basis to discuss strategies and business issues, including
financial performance of the Group. Details of attendance of
the Directors at the meetings are set out on page 83 of this
annual report.

Notice of each board meeting was given to each member of
the Board at least 14 days prior to the meeting, whereby the
Director can put forward his/her proposed items for inclusion
on the agenda. The agenda and the relevant board papers
are then circulated to the Directors at least 3 days before a
board meeting is convened, thereby enabling them to make
informed decisions at the meeting.

Drafts of the board minutes and board committee meeting
minutes are circulated to all Directors and the relevant
committee members, respectively, for their review and
comment prior to finalization. The final version of such
minutes will be kept by the Company Secretary and will be
made available for inspection by the Directors and committee
members. If a Director has an interest in a matter to be
considered at a board meeting, the Board will ensure that an
adequate number of independent directors are involved in
the consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant
director(s) having an interest in the matter will abstain from
voting.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers,
relevant materials and to seek unrestricted access to advice
and services from the Company Secretary/Legal Department
and Compliance Department of the Company to ensure that
board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
adhered to. Directors may also seek independent professional
advice as and when required at the Company’s expense. INEDs
are encouraged to take an active role in board meetings and
serve on the sub-board committees.
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Directors’ Interests and Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct regarding dealing in the securities of the Company by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
the Company has received their written confirmations that
they have complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the Financial Year. Full details of
the Directors’ interests in the Shares are set out on page 124
of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of
its powers that it may think fit and proper to a director or
member of senior management of the Company. The Board
has formulated specific rules and policies on such delegation
of power to facilitate efficient operation of the Company and
is supported by three committees which are the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Changes in Information in respect of Directors

In accordance with Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules, the
changes to information required to be disclosed by Directors
pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2)
between 28 August 2024 (being the date of approval of the
Company’s 2024 Interim Report) to 28 March 2025 (being the
date of approval of this report) are set out below:

1. Reference is made to the Company’'s announcement
dated 13 February 2025, the Company has been
informed by Ms. CHOY Man Har (“Ms. Choy"), an
Executive Director that she received a notification
from the Independent Commission Against Corruption
of Hong Kong (“ICAC") confirming that the ICAC
investigation has been completed. It is not necessary
for ICAC to continue any investigation in relation to the
case. Additionally, all bail conditions of Ms. Choy have
been discharged.

2. Mr. Jonathan Jun Yan was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Luda Technology Group
Limited, a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) under the ticker symbol “LUD" on 27
February 2025.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. Each of these
committees has specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The chairman
of the committees will report their findings and make
recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

Remuneration Committee

As of the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
consists of two INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. HOU Haitao, and
one Executive Director, Mr. XIA Liqun.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include making
recommendations for approval by the Board with respect to
matters relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors
and senior management. In discharging its responsibilities, the
Remuneration Committee has performed the following tasks:

e To review and make recommendations on the Company’s
policies and structure for the remuneration of the
Executive Directors and senior management for approval
by the Board and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration

policy;

e To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors by reference to market conditions, performance
of the Group and the individual and corporate goals
and objectives as set by the Board from time to time,
and make recommendations on the remuneration of the
INEDs for the Board's approval; and

e To review and make recommendations for the adoption
of the Company’'s share option scheme and share
incentive scheme. During the Year, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the terms of the 2024 Share
Option Scheme and assessed its alignment with the
Company’s long-term objectives. The Remuneration
Committee recommended its approval to the Board
which subsequently approved by shareholders at a
special general meeting on 14 May 2024. Additionally,
the Remuneration Committee evaluated the structure of
the 2024 Share Award Scheme, considering its potential
impact on employee motivation and retention which
was also recommended for approval to the Board, and
was subsequently approved by shareholders at the same
special general meeting. For details, please refer to
Directors’ Report under the section “Share Schemes”.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which
outlined role and function of this committee, were published
on the Company’s website at www.hbglobal.com and on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own
remuneration packages. During the Financial Year, the
Remuneration Committee met two times to, among other
things, review the emolument packages of the Directors
and senior management. The individual attendance of the
Remuneration Committee members at meetings is set out
on page 83 of this annual report. Details of the emolument
of the Directors are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements while details of the Share Option Scheme
and Share Incentive Scheme to the Directors and senior
management are set out on pages 97 to 109 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

As of the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises
three INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (the chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN and Mr. HOU
Haitao.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include assisting the Board in maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance, developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and making recommendations to the Board, particularly by
providing independent review of the effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management controls, and to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors
of the Company. The Audit Committee is responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties set out in the
terms of reference under code provision A.2.1 in Part 2 of the
CG Code as delegated by the Board including but not limited
to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, and
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee is
also responsible for overseeing the Company's environmental,
social and governance ("ESG")-related issues set out in the
terms of reference under Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.
In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has
performed the following tasks:
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e To review the financial budget and planning including
the annual and interim financial statements and results
announcements during the financial year/for the
reporting period;

e To discuss with the external auditors and the
management on possible accounting risks;

e To review the effectiveness of the Group's financial
controls, corporate governance, internal controls and risk
management systems;

e To review the sufficiency of manpower, resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions;

e To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of
the external auditors;

e To review the independence of the external auditors
and make recommendations to the Board on the re-
appointment of the external auditors; and

e To review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with corporate governance and
other legal and regulatory requirements, and to report to
the Board on their decisions or recommendation;

o To review and advise the Board on ESG-related issues;

e To review the adequacy of resources allocated to
meeting the ESG strategies, goal and targes, and ESG
reporting requirements; and

e To review the annual ESG report.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee were
published on the Company’s website at www.hbglobal.com
and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at www.
hkexnews.hk.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s
external auditors to discuss accounting issues and reviews
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems.
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During the Financial Year, the Audit Committee met two
times to, among other things, review the financial reports
for 2023 audited annual results and 2024 interim results
(including the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
the contents disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report),
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
controls system and the 2023 ESG report. The individual
attendance of Audit Committee members at meetings is
set out on page 83 of this annual report. Members of the
Audit Committee were satisfied with the effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and internal control systems as
well as the financial reporting disclosures.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the
Group's audited annual results for the Financial Year.

The external auditor has attended the Audit Committee
meetings to discuss the issues arising from the audit and
financial reporting matters.

Nomination Committee

As of the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises two Executive Directors, Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the
Chairlady of Nomination Committee), and Ms. Lam Ka Yan
and three INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, Mr. Jonathan Jun
YAN and Mr. HOU Haitao.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include formulating nomination policy for the Board’s
consideration and implementing the Board’s approved
nomination policy, considering the development targets and
strategies of the Company, with due regard to the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) and the board diversity policy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships, assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
and monitoring the implementation of the board diversity
policy and review such policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.
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The nomination process is summarized as follows:

(a)

Appointment of new Director

(i)

(if)

(iii)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should, upon receipt of the proposal on
appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference
check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend
the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

Re-election of Director at general meeting

(i)

(if)

(iii)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should also review and determine whether the
retiring director continues to meet the criteria as
set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should then make recommendation to shareholders
in respect of the proposed re-election of director at
the general meeting.
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During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting and all committee members were present at
the meeting. The Nomination Committee has determined
the policy for the nomination of Directors, the nomination
procedures, process and criteria adopted by the Nomination
Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship and senior management.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, all Director are
appointed by the Board, whether to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board, shall hold office until the next
annual general meeting at which time they must retire and
be subject to re-election. Although all the Directors were
not appointed for a specific term, every Director shall, in
accordance with bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, retire from office
by rotation no later than the third annual general meeting of
the Company since their last appointment or re-election and
are eligible for re-election.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the Directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. The
Company’s circular to be despatched to the shareholders will
contain detailed information of the Directors standing for
reelection.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee were
published on the Company’s website at www.hbglobal.com
and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’ s website at
www.hkexnews.hk.

DIVERSITY

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the board by considering
a number of factors and measurable objectives, including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional skills, knowledge, experience and
length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range
and balance of talents, skills, experience and background of
the Board. Appointments of Board members shall be based
on merit, and candidates will be assessed based on objective
criteria. The Company will also take into account factors
based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time.
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In considering the Board’'s succession, the Nomination
Committee will also consider through different channels,
among others, engaging independent professional search
firm(s) to help identify potential candidates for Directors, as
and when appropriate. Since 2004, there have been at least
two female Directors on the Board, which is also a target set
by the Board. The Board will continue to take opportunities
to increase the proportion of female members, wherever
possible. As of 31 December 2024, the Board consists of three
female Directors and six male Directors (31 December 2023:
three female Directors and six male Directors), and female
representation remained at about 33 per cent of the Board
(31 December 2023: 33 per cent). It is considered that gender
diversity has been effectively achieved with respect to the
Board’s composition.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy, review the Board Diversity Policy
at least on an annual basis, and report to the Board on their
decisions or propose recommendations on any amendments
for the Board's review and approval, in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.

During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee
has reviewed the board structure, the diversity of Board
members and the commitment of Directors and making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considered that the composition of the Board is well
balanced and diversified in terms of gender, age, educational
background, professional skills and experience. The diversity
of the Board and the Board Diversity Policy ensures the
Board’'s composition aligns with the CG Code with an
appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity that are
relevant to the Company’s strategy, governance and business
and contribute to the Board's effectiveness and efficiency. The
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy for the Financial
Year was considered effective. It meets the needs of the
business operations and development of the Group.

In addition, the Board is of the view that every Director has
dedicated sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company. Each Director had disclosed to the Company
at the time of his/her appointment of the directorships
held in other listed companies or nature of offices held in
public organizations and other significant commitments.
The Company has also requested Directors to provide in a
timely manner any change in such information. The individual
attendance of Nomination Committee members at meetings is
set out on page 83 of this annual report.
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Gender Diversity

The Group is committed to achieving gender diversity to
eliminate any form of gender discrimination, including but not
limited to recruitment, remuneration, training and promotion,
and keeps reviewing gender equality within the Group
regularly and taking corrective actions to improve gender
balance. As of 31 December 2024, senior management of the
Group consisted of 3 male or 60.0% and 2 female or 40.0%
(31 December 2023: 4 male or 66.7% and 2 female or 33.3%)
while the number of employees of the Group (excluding senior
management) consisted of 2,541 male or 62.6% and 1,516
female or 37.4% (31 December 2023: 2,499 male or 62.6%
and 1,490 female or 37.4%). The Group strives to achieve
gender diversity in order to enjoy the benefits of accessing a
wider talent pool and boosting creativity and innovation. For
details, please refer to the ESG report for the Financial Year.

As part of its commitment to fostering an inclusive and
equitable work environment, the Group is assessing to
implement initiatives and establish measurable objectives
to achieve gender diversity across its workforce, including
senior management. The Company respects the diversity
of its employees and aims to create an environment where
individuals of all genders can thrive and contribute to the
Company's success.

Plans and Measurable Objectives:

1. Gender Diversity Targets: the Company is now assessing
setting specific, measurable targets to promote gender
diversity across all levels, including senior management.
These targets will be regularly monitored and reviewed
to track progress and identify areas for improvement.

2. Recruitment and Retention Programs: the Company has
implemented initiatives to attract, retain, and promote
talented individuals from diverse gender backgrounds.
These programs focus on creating an inclusive
recruitment process and providing career development
opportunities for all employees.

3.  Training and Development: the Company provides
ongoing training and development programs to support
gender diversity and inclusion. These programs aim to
raise awareness, educate employees on the importance
of diversity, and equip them with the skills needed to
contribute to an inclusive workplace.
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4. Supportive Work Environment: the Company is
committed to creating a supportive work environment
that values and encourages gender diversity. Efforts
are made to ensure that all employees feel respected,
valued, and empowered to succeed.

Challenges and Mitigating Factors: The Company
acknowledges that achieving gender diversity across the
workforce, including senior management, can be challenging
due to various factors:

1. Industry-Specific Challenges: Certain industries may have
historical imbalances in gender representation, making it
more difficult to achieve immediate diversity targets. The
Company is dedicated to addressing these imbalances
through targeted initiatives and long-term planning.

2. Cultural Norms: Cultural norms and societal expectations
can influence gender representation within the
workforce. The Company is committed to promoting
gender diversity and challenging these norms through
education and advocacy.

3. Historical Imbalances: Historical gender imbalances
within the Company and the wider industry may present
challenges in achieving gender diversity. The Company
is taking proactive steps to rectify these imbalances and
create a more equitable workforce.

The Company remains dedicated to continuously improving
its approach to gender diversity and inclusion, recognizing
that a diverse workforce is essential for fostering innovation,
enhancing decision-making, and driving sustainable growth.
The Nomination Committee will regularly review the
Company's progress and propose necessary revisions to the
board of directors for approval.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal
in good corporate governance and board effectiveness.
The Board has established the following mechanisms and
conduct annual reviews to evaluate their implementation and
effectiveness to ensure that independent views and input are
available to the Board:

(M

(i)

Composition

The Board ensures the appointment of at least three
INEDs and at least one-third of its members being INEDs
(or such higher threshold as may be required by the
Listing Rules from time to time), with at least one INED
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
Further, INEDs will be appointed to Board Committees as
required under the Listing Rules and as far as practicable
to ensure independent views are available.

Independent Assessment

Independent non-executive Directors enhance the
effectiveness and decision-making of the Board by
providing objective judgement, a constructive and
complementary attitude to management and their
independence is assessed upon appointment, annually,
and at any other time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration.

Independence confirmations from INEDs are to be
submitted to the Company in writing annually or upon
appointment to the Board.

Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his or her personal
particulars that may affect his or her independence. No
such notification was received during the Financial Year.

Every Nomination Committee member will be abstained
from assessing his/her own independence. The
Nomination Committee affirmed that all INEDs continued
to demonstrate strong independence in judgement and
were free from any business or other relationship which
could interfere with their ability to discharge their duties
effectively, and they therefore all remained independent.
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Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an
individual as an Independent non-executive Director at
the general meeting, the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting will set out the reason why the
Board believes he/she should be elected and the reasons
why it considers him/her to be independent.

(iii) Board Decision Making

All Directors are encouraged to express freely their
views and constructive challenges during the Board/
Board Committees meetings. Directors (including
INEDs) are entitled to seek further information from the
management on the matters to be discussed at Board
meetings and, where necessary, independent advice from
external professional advisers at the Company’s expense.

A Director (including INED) who has a material interest
in a contract, transaction or arrangement shall not vote
or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving the same.

The chairman/co-chairman would hold meetings with the
INEDs without the presence of other directors at least
annually.

During the Financial Year, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of Independent Non-executive Directors as mentioned in item
(i) above.

The Company has received confirmation in writing of
independence from each of the INEDs and considers them
to be independent of the management and free of any
relationship that could materially interfere with the exercise of
their independent judgement.

During the Financial Year, the Co-Chairman has held one
meeting with the INEDs without the presence of other
Directors.

The Board, through its Nomination Committee, had reviewed
and considered that the above mechanism is effective in
ensuring that independent views are conveyed to the Board.
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RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND
CULTURE

The Board has full responsibility for maintaining an integrated
and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, which includes the establishment of a defined
management structure with specified limits of authority.
The internal control system is designed to assist in the
achievement of business objectives of the Group, safeguarding
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring the
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication and ensuring compliance with relevant legislation
and regulation. The internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The internal control measures
and system (embedded in the operations of the Company and
forms part of the Group’s culture) includes:

e effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

e capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the
business arising from factors within the Company and
to the changes in business environment; and include
procedures for reporting immediately to appropriate
management levels regarding any significant control
weakness that are identified together with details of
corrective action being undertaken;

e reliability of financial reporting; and
e compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure and Risk Management

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with
defined operating policies and procedures as well as
responsibility and lines of authority.

The Company has set out Internal Audit Department with
scope of works advised by the Audit Committee.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

EEERRE

Y

REERE  AEMEEREL

EEe2RAEARRENARNEERARE
BRAREERS - BREHIEEEBRE LA
HEZHER - AREZERRE ERBIERAE
BXBER  REEEAHREREZERL
BRI - REF LB EUNZERT - AEREH
AISEM M S E BB RS BN R - AR
RETHREBDADIEMRA - REERKBERIM S
BREHEGEN  JERYEMRE - WEPEEE
ERERERARNRREENK SR EENE
BXitz—  EFEHE:

B

. MM

I

o et eh AR FPOTE (LR AR A O £ 5 A
o . 7 3B 5 0 B LR A M
A 62 35 1 4 A 52 i 0B O R 4G R R
MM EAEEBY  RERRNEE
SELLLE

o MBHEMAFEML K
o EBTEMARARIEAMR o

EFERARNAMERERINERRF -
LU

HBEBERRERE
NEBRAEE WAL BB S EBR
MEF AR B EFMITHE -

RRARRIABETE  EIEBBLHAEZ
REgEH -



Corporate Governance Report

The Legal Department and Compliance Department are
led by professional legal staff and professional company
secretary respectively. Together with other business functions
(including Internal Audit Department) of the Group, the
Legal Department and Compliance Department monitor and
assess risk regularly, boost related management standards
and evaluate investment projects. The Company has a long
term engagement with reputable international law firm as its
annual retainer counsel for provision of legal advice relating
to compliance of Listing Rules and regulatory requirements.

Managing ESG risks with risk management framework

The effective management of ESG risks is a key focus of the
Company’s risk management activities. Particularly, ESG risks
have been managed alongside other relevant business and
operational risks under the risk management framework.
Moreover, the enhancement for scope and process of the risk
management and internal control systems will be continued to
provide more timely and transparent information on the status
of ESG risks.

Authority and Control

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and related matters formulated by the
Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements comprehensive budget management
and the overall financial budget is executed upon approval
by the Board. Relevant procedures have been established
to assess, review and approve major capital and recurring
expenditures, and regular review and make comparison
between operating results and the budget.

The Group has established appropriate internal control
procedures to ensure accurate and complete accounting and
management records are kept on a timely basis. Examinations
and review are carried out regularly to ensure that the
financial statements are properly prepared in conformity with
the generally accepted accounting principles, the Group’s
accounting policies and the applicable laws and regulations.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department
carried out an annual review on the internal control system
including financial, operational and compliance control, and
risk management functions. The review adopts a risk-based
approach to create and review the effectiveness of an internal
control system and includes the following works:

(i)  To follow up on individual matters concerning the
improvement of the internal control system in accordance
with the guidance and suggestions of independent
directors and the external auditor of the Company;

(i) To carry out a high-level review on the internal control
system of new members/businesses of the Group, by
integrating the internal control framework set out by The
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Committee ("COSO"), the China Internal Auditing
Standards, the basic internal control standards and
complementary guidelines of the Group, etc. as basic
requirements;

(iii) To arrange site visits and perform focused walk-through
test on the internal control system of members of the
Group on risk control priority basis pursuant to the risk
control principles mentioned above;

(iv) To design and review questionnaires on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems
submitted by the head offices of the Group, subsidiaries,
and business sectors of the Company; and

(v) To identify any significant changes in the assessment of
risks (including ESG risks) and the risk management and
internal control systems.

The Company has adopted a set of risk management and
internal control policies and procedures to deal with identified
risks, safeguard the Group’s assets, prevent and detect
fraud, misconduct and loss, ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records and reliability of financial information, and
achieve compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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The Executive Directors and senior management of the
Company receive local, market, and operations-related
information regularly while their understanding of the
risk assessment is enhanced through the regular senior
management meetings, at which they discuss cases of the
potential risk management and operation of individual
business segments.

Identification, assessment and management:

- The head of each department, such as the Investment
management Department, Finance Department, Legal
Department and Compliance Department of the
Company will inform and report to the relevant Directors
regarding the factors that have an impact on the profit
and price based on the nature of business and their
own experience. During the course of execution, the
concerned project teams of the Company will handle
relevant documents and report to the relevant personnel
(including the Directors).

- As for the matters as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules, the Compliance Department will present
the issues to the Board for review and discussion, and
the Legal Department and Compliance Department will
separately inform relevant members of the project team
that dealing in the shares of the Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

- Generally, the prescribed price sensitive information
reporting forms regarding the daily operation and
connected transactions of the Company will be circulated
to relevant departments at the beginning of every month
by the Finance Department, and the Finance Department
will combine and submit the forms to the Compliance
Department for overall review in the middle of each
month, ensuring that there are no material omissions.
The Legal Department will also assist to regularly confirm
with the Compliance Department for any material
contracts (if any).
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During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department has
presented its review report including any significant control
failings and/or weaknesses that were identified and that
were previously reported but remain unresolved and make
recommendations including remedial steps taken or proposed
to address such control failings and/or weaknesses to the
Audit Committee and the Audit Committee has discussed
with the management and reported the progress of the work
plan and related findings, particularly those related to new
members of the Group to the Board at board meeting.

Measures to further enhance Internal Control Systems
and Corporate Governance practices

In compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and
for the purpose of reinforcing the Group's internal control
system, the Company has established a whistleblowing
policy and system for employees to raise concerns, in a
confidential manner, with the Audit Committee about
possible irregularities in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters related to the Company. The
Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the relevant
policy and system regularly. The Company had established
an anti-fraud leadership team, aimed at strengthening the
guidance, organization and coordination of anti-fraud and
whistle-blowing works to reinforce standard operations
and risk management and issued the “Anti-Fraud, Bribery
and Whistleblowing Policy”( [ REE¥ - BERRMERHE ] )
accordingly.

The Directors has further strengthened corporate governance
practices, including execution of the internal reporting
policy throughout the Group in monitoring the operation
and business developments of the Company so as to capture
potentially price-sensitive information on an on-going basis,
monitoring the continuing disclosure obligation. The Board
has further strengthened corporate governance practices
by establishing a Fund Management Department, which is
responsible for formulating lending policy to monitor its credit
level. In addition, the annual retainer counsel of the Company
has provided the Directors (existing and new board members)
and the relevant senior executives with trainings on Listing
Rules, regulatory requirements and analysis of enforcement
cases at least twice a year.
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During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department
of the Company has carried out internal control audits in
respect of those risk areas, such as business operation,
financial system, project investment and management,
corporate governance, etc., and also head offices, business
sectors and certain subsidiaries of the Group. The Internal
Audit Department has reported to the Directors in respect
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system and significant risks. The Board reviewed and
evaluated the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries by
considering reviews performed by the Audit Committee with
the assistance of the management team, the Internal Audit
Department and the external auditors.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. As a result of the above
measures and upon review, the Board confirms, and
management has also confirmed to the Board, that the
Group's risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate (including the resources, staff
qgualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions are adequate) and have complied
with the CG Code provisions on risk management and internal
control throughout the Financial Year and up to the date
of this annual report. Shareholders should note that the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

For the purposes of handling and disseminating inside
information in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
SFO, the Company has in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information (the “Policy”) which
sets out the procedures and internal controls for handling
and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner
in such a way so as not to place any person in a privileged
dealing position and to allow time for the market to price
the listed securities of the Company with the latest available
information. This Policy also provides guidelines to staff of
the Company to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent
the Company from breaching the statutory disclosure
requirements. It also includes appropriate internal control
and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information.
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TRAINING

Directors’ Training

All Directors participated in appropriate continuous
professional development and provided the Company with
their records of training they received during the Financial
Year. The training activities included reading regulatory
updates, attending seminars or conducting training sessions
and participating in discussions to exchange views.

ERERBRE
s3I
EEIEY

RAMRFEERN  AAESEHEL2EABZE
BHEEHR  YERARRHAEIEIIZE
o BIEDBEMERMEEER - Uk
FEET TS RETHIRERZ2ETRIMN
R

Attend seminars/conduct
training sessions and
participate in discussions
HESERNE
'fllzi%:%)"ﬁ?)m&%ﬁ%q%ﬁ

Executive Directors HTES

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu FMERZ L Yes ]
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFRE Yes B
Mr. XIA Ligqun BB A Yes =]
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok ERBE A Yes B
Ms. LAM Ka Yan MM Yes B
Ms. CHOY Man Har BEVELT Yes =]
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu TR EE Yes B
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN Jonathan Jun YAN 5L 4 Yes =
Mr. HOU Haitao EgESLE Yes ]

Company Secretary’s Training

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director, Vice President
and Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible for
assisting the Board for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as ensuring that the Board’s policy and
procedures are followed properly. The Company Secretary
also provides professional advice and services to the Board
on corporate governance and other matters. He is also
responsible for organizing general meetings and facilitating
the induction and professional development of Directors.

During the Financial Year, Mr. Poon has complied with Rule

3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking not less than 15 hours of
continuing professional training.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial Reporting
The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely
publication of financial statements. In preparing the financial
statements, relevant statutory requirements have been
complied with, applicable accounting standards in force
in Hong Kong have been adopted, appropriate accounting
policies have been applied on a consistent basis, going
concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditors’ Report and Remuneration

The Company's external auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers.
There has been no change in the Company’s external auditors
for the preceding three years.

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing
and reporting on the financial statements. The Auditors’
Report to the Shareholders is set out on pages 141 to 150 of
this annual report.

During the Financial Year, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s auditors (including statutory auditors of
the subsidiaries) in relation to audit services and non-audit
services provided to the Group are as follows:

EEERRE

Y

BEMNEZX

ESEUNBRENEL
EFUAERRLER BB EE - HRH
BREE - BMARARDENT  TBRT
MR B EERI SR - BN RIS
TR - BHEEEEDERG IR
& IR A HI BT RS B DR -

2GS e

ShERIZERED E BB E R B R B RIEH
WE - BRRZZBENRE SN AFERE 141
£ 1508 °

RABBFRER » AR B ZBEN(RIENE
RAEVEEMAZEEN) MARBEIRM 2 2B R IE
BERY - BN EANZEMZERET

Amount
Nature of Services REMHE g
(RMB'000)
(AEH¥TIT)
Audit services ZERTS

— for the audit of the Group ~- S EEET 7,238
— for the statutory and other audits of the subsidiaries -WBAENEE REAMEET 2,853

Non-audit services FEIZ BHAR 75
— Tax planning — transfer pricing - RE - EEEE 125

Please also refer to Note 29 to consolidated financial
statement set out on pages 259 to 260 of this annual report
for details of Auditors’ Remuneration.

HERINE BB LREERNAFRE2592
260 B A BTSRRI FE29 o
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares.
The number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 December 2024
was 3,229,926,876. Details of share capital of the Company
are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements
on page 246 of this annual report. Shareholders holding

TEERRE

% RAER
BERZEABRMDHYAAQRETAK - B
2024 12R31H BETEAKREARB A
3,229,926,876 % o AN A AR A FEIB A AF
WE246 AU BHRERWF21A - HFAR

NEIEBTEBERZIRRIT ¢

issued ordinary shares of the Company were set out below:

Full details can
be found on
the following

Total number

Percentage of

page of of issued the issued
this report Shares held share capital
&R EREFR
BRARER 21T HE#T
Category/Name L) g NTEH RBEE BAB DL
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu KRR 20 (A1 aF) Pages 124 t0125  2,293,408,900 71.00%
(Note) F124=1258
Public NRANT 936,517,976 29.00%
Total &t 3,229,926,876 100.00%
Note: fisE -

As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of
depositary receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder
of depositary receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control
the exercise of 30% (or such other amount as may from time to
time be specified in the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buybacks as being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer)
or more of the voting power at general meeting of the Company.

Procedures by which shareholders may convene a special
general meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Secretary of the Company, to require a special general
meeting ("SGM") to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business transaction specified in such requisition.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

BEMHRANES  EMNARERRARRRNE L1T
B HITT £ 30% (A FUEE - & 0 R ief) [ BB
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Corporate Governance Report

The requisition shall state clearly the matters required to be
considered and approved at the SGM and must be signed by
the requisitionist(s) (with contact details) and submitted to
the Board in written form to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at least 21 days before the proposed
date of the SGM.

The SGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit
of such requisition. If the Directors do not within 21 days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed to
convene a meeting, the requisitionists may themselves do
so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1982 of the laws of Bermuda (as amended)
(the “Companies Act”), but any meeting so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said
date.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at general
meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, (i)
any number of shareholders representing not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the general meeting to which the requisition relates;
or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, may submit to the
Company a written request stating the resolution intended
to be moved at AGM or a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular
general meeting.

The written request/statement must be signed by all the
requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more of the requisitionists,
and must be deposited at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong, not less than 6 weeks before the AGM
in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not
less than one week before the general meeting in case of any
other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
6 weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.
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Shareholders’ right to propose a person for election as a
director

Shareholders shall have the right to propose a person for
election as a director at the Company’s general meeting.
Please refer to the detailed procedures for such right on the
Company’s website www.hbglobal.com.

Making enquiries by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to examine the relevant
information of the Company according to the Bye-laws.
Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited. Shareholders may
also direct questions or requests for information through the
Company’s website at www.hbglobal.com or by contacting
the Head of Investor Relations Department of the Company
(email: ir@hbglobal.com).

ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
during the Financial Year. Since no changes have been made
to the existing policy and there are no barriers preventing
shareholders from communicating their views to the Board as
a whole, the Company has concluded that the Shareholders’
Communication Policy remains effective.

In addition to the on-going Investor Relation Department’s
efforts mentioned in the next section, the Board values the
importance of communications with the Shareholders. The
Company uses a range of communications tools, such as
AGM, annual report, various notices, announcements and
circulars, to ensure its Shareholders are kept well informed of
key business imperatives of the Company.

The Company has maintained a website www.hbglobal.com
for corporate communication with its Shareholders and
the general public. All corporate communications required
under the Listing Rules are displayed and can be downloaded
(for documents published in the previous 7 years) from the
Company’s website and there is established procedure to
ensure timely update in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in
the best interests of its Shareholders at all times and in all
areas of its operations. The Group actively promotes open
communication and full disclosure of all information needed
to protect and maximize transparency.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Shareholders” Communication Policy of the Company
(the”Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) is available for
viewing on the Company's website at www.hbglobal.com.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy was reviewed by the
Board during the Financial Year to ensure its effectiveness
and continues to be adopted in the forthcoming financial
year. Taking into account the steps taken at the general
meetings, the handling of queries received and the multiple
communication channels in place, the Board is of the
view that such policy is effective and has been properly
implemented during the Financial Year.

Shareholders’ Meetings held during the Financial Year

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to
communicate with the Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement
of the Shareholders’ rights, significant issues were dealt with
under separate resolutions at the general meeting, including
the election and re-election of individual Director. Details
of general meeting(s) held during the Financial Year are
summarized as follows:

ERERBRE
LR 3
ARBAZERAFE - 2R ARERER S

MmiTE - AEREEGIRERMAREE - EERN
BRREFEHEEMBERNETE@RKE -
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Meeting Date Venue Resolutions

23 H & b B REBR

AGM 14 May 2024 Room 1, 1. To receive and consider the audited
frRBEF RS 2024% 5 A8 14H United Conference financial statements and the reports of

Centre, 10/F.,

United Centre,

95 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong
BEEeE

B 838 95 5%
m—ARLtTER—

- N -
e — =
=i e Rl I =

the directors and of the auditors for
the year ended 31 December 2023;

BEHE2023F12A31BIEEELSE
BRHHHE  EFEWMERZEM®ME

2. To declare the final and special
dividends for the year ended 31
December 2023;
TIREZE2023F 12 A31HIEFEMNR
BARERIRE
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Meeting Date Venue Resolutions
= H & i B REBR

3. To re-elect and elect Directors and
to authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations;

EEREREE  WRESZEETRS
)

4. To re-appoint the auditors and to
authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations; and
BREZHA  TREEEEETANS
54

5. To grant general mandates to buy back
shares, to issue shares and to exercise
the buy-back mandate.
BEYT—REENDERG  ZHTROK
T EERRE -

SGM 5 January 2024 Suite 3008, 30/F, To approve and adopt the rules of the

f% AT R K& 2024%1 A5H

14 May 2024
20245 H14H

Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
BB

T

B 185

FIRES 301 3008

Room 1,

United Conference
Centre, 10/F.,

United Centre,

95 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong
BESE

BB 95 5%
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proposed share incentive scheme of Huabao
Flavours.
HAESHKNEERDZRBREHNB T8 248
8

To approve and adopt the 2024 Share
Option Scheme and 2024 Share Award
Scheme
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MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

No material mergers and acquisitions of the Group were
carried out during the Financial Year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the
Company are set out on pages 135 to 139 of this annual
report.

ATTENDANCE RECORD

Details of attendance of the Directors (either in person or
through telephone conferences) at Board meetings, meetings
of Board committees and general meetings during the
Financial Year are set out below:

EEERRE

Y

K i85 B
RAMBEERN - AEBRHRITEMERK
BBAOHER -

FEBEERS
ARBIZFHBEBERFHBHENAFHRE 135
F139H o

H 50 8%

BREER AP RFEANREHEXNEBREFS
FIALFEFEER EFZBTERMR
RAEWHERFEHINMT -

Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual Special
Board  Committee  Committee ~ Committee General General
Meeting(s) ~ Meeting(s) ~ Meeting(s) ~ Meeting(s) ~ Meeting(s)  Meeting(s)
] ) R%
Ezged zEged zEged ZEEEE RREEAE  RREAAE
No. of meeting held Ve 3 2 2 1 1 2
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO) — MERT(ZEZBEHTE) 323 NAREE  NATER 1 1 0
Mr. LAM Ka Yu WEFRE(BELE#EEH) 323 NATER  NATER  NATER 1/1 0
(Co-Chairman and Vice President)
Mir. XIA Liqun ENBEE(FLERER) B3 NATEER W NIATER 1 0
(Vice Chairman and Presigent)
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok ARETE(HEARLTHE) 33 NATER  NATEBR  NATER 1/1 0
(Vice President and Company Secretary)
Ms. LAM Ka Yan eIt 323 NATERE  NATER 1 1 0
Ms. CHOY Man Har BYERT 323 NAREE  NATEE  NATER 1 n
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu kiE 233 0 0 1 1/1 0
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN Jonathan Jun YAN £ 2323 22 NATE R 1 i W2
Mr. HOU Haitao FEEEE 23123 n n 1 1 0
MAJOR CHANGES TO THE BYE-LAWS AR EREE

During the Financial Year, the Company did not make any
amendments to the Company’'s Bye-laws. An up-to-date
version of the Bye-laws is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may refer to
the Bye-laws for further details of the rights of shareholders.

RAMBEER » NRARAEHANREZ AR
AR EMMERT  RFTARAH A B4R AT R
RRT R FEUEER - BRAKRRENZE
ZEE - WRA2HAFME] -
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The Company is committed to upholding an open and
proactive investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing
the knowledge and understanding of the investment
community with respect to the Company’s corporate mission
and vision, development strategies, competitive position in
the industry and operating and financial performance, so as
to enable investors to make informed decisions. The Company
fulfils the above-mentioned through a designated Investor
Relations Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary
between the Company and public investors. The Company
abides by the basic and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure
that communication with Shareholders, investors and media
is conducted in a fair manner and that no material non-public
information is made available to any individual on a selective
basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS REVIEW

During the Current Reporting Period, the Company
hosted two earnings conference calls to convey its latest
developments, performance, and strategic goals to investors,
which strengthened investment community’s understanding of
the Group and sets solid foundation for the Group's activities
in the capital market in the future.

e  Annual general meeting

It is important that the Shareholders have access
to clear and meaningful data which enables them
to have a constructive dialogue with the Company.
Shareholders can raise any questions and comments
on the performance or future business directions of
the Company and on any resolutions to be considered
at the AGM. The Company’s chairlady and the Audit
Committee’s Chairman were present in person or
through telephone/video conferences and available to
answer questions raised at the AGM.

e Detailed financial statements

The Company attaches great importance to annual
reports and interim reports, put a lot of resources for
these two reports’ preparation, and uses them as one of
the major communication bridges between the Company
and investors.

Through this approach, the latest information of the
Group can be transmitted to investors, aiming to
convey the Group's comprehensive strategy, operating
principles, business and financial performance and future
prospects in a detailed and accurate manner.
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E-Communication via Websites of the Company and
Professional Investor Relations Website

The Company’s website at https://www.hbglobal.com/
contains information such as important corporate data,
biographical details of Directors, organizational structure
and press releases.

In addition, the Company also has professional investor
relations website (http://huabao2.aconnect.com.hk/
sc/home.aspx) to publish interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars that enables the Company’s
shareholders and members of the investment community
to have timely access to the most updated information

about the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACTS

For inquiries, please contact:

Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited
Suite 3008

30th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2877 8999
Fax: (852) 2511 8229
E-mail: ir@hbglobal.com

Information for investors (as at 31 December 2024)

1. Huabao International Holdings Limited

Board Lot Size 1,000 shares

Number of shares issued 3,229,926,876 shares
Market capitalization
(calculated based on the
closing price of HKD 2.11
per share on
31 December 2024)

Approximately
HKD6.815 billion

Stock code

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 00336
Reuters ticker 336.HK
Bloomberg ticker 336.HK
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2.  Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Company Limited (a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the company listed on the

ChiNext of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange)

Board Lot Size

Number of shares issued

Market capitalization
(Based on the closing price
of RMB17.39 per share on
31 December 2024)

Stock code

ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange stock code

Reuters ticker

Bloomberg ticker

Financial Calendar

Closing period for transfer of
shares for Annual
General Meeting

Annual General Meeting

Ex-dividend date

Closing period for transfer of
shares for proposed
special dividend

Date of payment of proposed
special dividend for the fiscal
year ended 31 December 2024

Financial year-end date

Huabao International Holdings Limited % BFR T %

100 shares
615,880,000 shares

Approximately

RMB10.71 billion

300741

300741.5Z

300741: CH

12 May 2025 (Monday) to

15 May 2025 (Thursday)
(both days inclusive)

15 May 2025 (Thursday)

5 June 2025 (Thursday)

9 June 2025 (Monday) to

10 June 2025 (Tuesday)

27 June 2025 (Friday)

31 December
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present its annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Financial Year"”).

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did
not undertake any material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Financial
Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the Group is principally engaged in the R&D, production,
distribution and sales of flavours and fragrances, and food
ingredients, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials
and condiment products in the PRC. The activities of the
Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and
analysis of the operating activities of the Group during the
Financial Year, and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business, as required by Schedule 5 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, can be found in the
sections headed “Chairlady’s Report” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” as set out on pages 8 to 10 and
pages 11 to 44 of this annual report respectively. Such
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s
businesses. To the best of knowledge and belief, the Directors
consider that the following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group as at the date of this report.
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The risk of downstream industry control and policies on
tobacco industry

Following the promulgation and implementation of the
PRC Advertising Law in 2015, the restrictions on tobacco
marketing have in turn become more rigid, and consequently
the room for marketing the tobacco market becomes
narrower. On the other hand, the tax-induced price hike policy
has raised the consumption tax and wholesale price, and
subsequently escalated the consumption cost of cigarettes,
which to a certain extent has suppressed the demand for
cigarette consumption. With the tightening of tobacco control
policies by the international health organizations and local
governments, and the increased awareness of the public on
health and tobacco control, it is possible that the production
and sales volumes of cigarette will further decline in the
future, which in turn will cause the reduction of revenue
and operating profit of the tobacco-related products of the
Company. In this regard, the Company will continue to pay
attention to the impacts of industry and policy changes on
the business, and will adjust our business and development
strategies in a timely manner.

The risk of consumer behaviour changes and the impact
on the downstream industries

With the continuous progress of society and the improvement
of people’s living standards, consumers have increased their
awareness of health and environment protection. On the
other hand, the age structure and level of consumers continue
to evolve. New consumption trend as well as consumption
concept and consumption behaviour keep changing. The
demand for the Group's downstream tobacco, food, daily
chemical industry continues to change, thus affecting the
Group's flavours and fragrances and food ingredients related
products and we may face the risk of market share shrinking.
The Company will continue to focus on and enhance the
insight into consumer behaviour, and further optimize
the product structure to meet the requirements of a new
generation of consumers.
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Directors’ Report

Food safety and food policy risk

At present, the PRC implements an authorized management
system for the food industry, and the major laws, regulations
and standards involved are the Food Safety Law of the PRC
and the Announcement on the Licence for Production of
Food Additives. At the same time, international organizations
such as the International Standards Organization (ISO), the
Codex Alimentarius Commission (CAC), and the International
Organization of the Flavor Industry (IOFI) have formulated and
promulgated product standards and industry norms to provide
industry management systems and the basis for formulating
the relevant industry standards.

To a certain extent, the new policy will increase the operating
costs of enterprises. Should there be any further changes in
the above policies and standards, it will have a direct impact
on the Company’s future development. The Company will
continue to make corresponding adjustment, investment and
improvement in product structure, production technology
and product performance and other aspects to ensure our
products and operation comply with food safety standards.
Although the Company has established a strict food safety
control system, because the Company has many production
and operation links, and involves transportation and storage
links, once the Company and customers are negligent, food
safety problems may occur, which will have an adverse impact
on the Company.

The risk of environmental protection

With the increased awareness on the environmental protection
by the society, the government’s continuous improvement
in environmental protection may lead to more stringent
environmental protection standards and requirements in the
future; if the Company is unable to upgrade the production
facilities in time to improve the handling of wastage so as to
comply with the more stringent environmental standards and
the requirements for environmental protection, it will have an
adverse impact on the Company’s production and operations.
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The risk of core technology and formula leakage

The Group, having always highly valued R&D work, owns a
state-certified enterprise technology centre and an overseas
R&D centre. Through long-term development, the Group
has developed numerous core technologies and flavours
and fragrances formulas which have intellectual property
rights. The Group faces the risk of technology leakage since
there are difficulties in protecting most of the Group’s core
technologies, especially flavours and fragrances formulas,
by using patents so that the Group had to rely on its
confidentiality mechanisms for protection. The Group has
adopted extremely stringent confidentiality measures to some
of the core technologies and strictly follows those measures.
The Group implements process segregation to important
production aspects which only allows the core formulas of the
various flavours and fragrances products to be known to a
few core technicians (who had been bound by Confidentiality
Agreements), thereby minimizing and controlling the risk of
core technology and formula leakage.

Risk of fluctuations in raw material prices

During the Financial Year, the prices of certain raw materials
fluctuated violently and increased significantly. The Company
will continue to dynamically track the price trend of major
raw materials, adjust raw material reserves in a timely manner
according to price changes, optimize inventory management,
and flexibly implement the strategy of determining production
based on sales. In order to reduce the impact of the
international epidemic on the cost of imported raw materials,
the Company has carried out the localization of suppliers to
reduce the dependence on imported raw materials. At the
same time, the Company continuously improves the technical
level, increases the added value of products, and then
increases the gross profit margin of products, so as to ensure
the profitability of the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group strives to protect our environment and is
committed to minimizing our impact on the environment
and natural resources. We educate and train our employees
on environmental issues and proper handling of hazardous
substances and require adherence to corporate guidelines on
environmental protection measures. Our plants have basically
installed equipment and procedures designed to comply with
the requirements in business operation.

In addition, the Group installed video conference and
telephone conference facilities for convening board meetings,
committee meetings and management meetings. It enhances
the efficiency of business travelling and convening meetings
for the management so as to reduce the energy consumption.

The Group promotes awareness towards environmental
protection to the employees. It implements green office
practices such as utilizing emails for internal and external
communication, adopting e-filing in server; minimizes
documents printing and copying; and reduces energy
consumption by switching off lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use.

We have completed our Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") report which contains our ESG information in 2024
and the requirements under the ESG Reporting Guide of
the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the ESG report
published on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and of the Company (www.hbglobal.
com).
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that employees, customers, suppliers
and business partners are the keys to the sustainable
development of the Group.

Regarding employee salary and incentive system, the Group
has formulated a set of remuneration system benchmarked
against market standards to attract and retain key personnel
and talents with appropriate skills, experience and
competence which would complement and meet the corporate
and business objectives of the Group. The Group ensures
all employees are fairly remunerated. The remuneration
packages of employees are reviewed regularly and necessary
adjustments are made from time to time to the remuneration
packages to align with the market standards.

The Group places paramount importance on building a
robust human resources framework and fostering a positive
corporate culture. Our approach is designed to attract, retain,
and motivate key personnel and talents with the right skills,
experience, and competencies to meet the corporate and
business objectives of the Group.

Emolument Policy

Our emolument policy is structured to offer competitive
and fair compensation to all employees, ensuring that they
are remunerated in accordance with market standards. The
policy encompasses 1) base salary: salaries are benchmarked
against industry standards and regularly reviewed to ensure
competitiveness; 2) performance-based bonuses: employees
are eligible for bonuses based on their performance
and contributions to the Group’'s success; 3) benefits:
a comprehensive benefits package that includes health
insurance, retirement plans, and other employee welfare
programs; and 4) long-term incentive schemes: the Group has
implemented the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the 2024
Share Award Scheme to align employees’ interests with those
of the shareholders and to retain key talents. These schemes
are designed to motivate employees by offering equity-based
incentives.
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Basis for Determining Emoluments Payable to Directors

The emoluments payable to the Group's Directors are
determined based on several key factors 1) Company
performance: the financial and operational performance of
the Group plays a significant role in determining Directors’
remuneration; 2) individual contribution: the contribution
of each Director to the Group’s strategic goals and business
growth is carefully evaluated; 3) market benchmarks:
remuneration packages are reviewed against industry
standards to ensure they remain competitive; and 4)
remuneration structure: Directors receive a combination of
fixed compensation, variable incentives, and other benefits,
ensuring their interests are aligned with the Group’s long-
term objectives.

The Group's commitment to maintaining a fair and motivating
remuneration system is integral to achieving sustainable
growth and fostering a positive work environment.

Further details on the Group's staff are set out in the “Human
Resources and Corporate Culture Construction” section under
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

The Group adheres to its core value of “client first” for years
to maximize client value, maintains good relationship with its
customers and suppliers, and has ongoing communication with
the customers and suppliers through various channels such
as telephone, emails and physical meetings to obtain their
feedback and suggestions. Besides, the Group has entered
into related agreements to promote probity and environmental
protection with respective suppliers and conducted an
evaluation of its suppliers, with a view to maintaining business
relationships with suppliers and customers based on principle
of mutual benefit.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from time to
time), the Listing Rules and the SFO relating to, among other
things, the information disclosure and corporate governance.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's performance for the Financial Year
by business segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 153 of this
annual report.

Dividend Policy

The Group is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable and
sustainable dividend policy. The Group would strive to strike
a balance between the short-term dividend returns and long-
term development of the Group prudently. When considering
the dividend policy, the Group will comprehensively observe
the macro-economic operation, the competition pattern of
the industry and the Group’s own development strategy.
Under the premise of ensuring that the Group has sufficient
working capital and capital expenditure to implement the
development strategy, the Group will distribute surplus funds
to Shareholders and reward their support for the Group.

In general, the Company will declare/propose dividends
semiannually when the Board approves the interim results
and the annual results. If the Company pays dividends,
the dividend payout ratio is expected to remain at 30% or
above of the profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company for the whole year. All dividend decisions will be
made by the Board, which will determine whether and when
to declare, recommend, or pay any dividend in accordance
with the aforementioned dividend policy. If there is no
profit attributable to the equity holders for the year, the
Board will take into account including but not limited to
the Group’s adjusted operating profit for the year, working
capital, cash flow and balance sheet strength as the basis for
recommending or distributing any dividends.
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Proposed Special Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (2023: HK0.8 cent per Share,
approximately RMB23.495 million). However, having
considered the financial resources and the strategy of the
Group, including but not limited to the Group's adjusted
operating profit for the Year, working capital, cash flow
and balance sheet strength, the Board proposes to declare a
special dividend of HK5.0 cents per Share (2023: HK4.2 cents
per Share) in cash, amounting to approximately RMB149.552
million (2023: approximately RMB123.349 million) for the Year
to reward Shareholders for their support for the Company.
The special dividend is expected to be paid on 27 June 2025
to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 10 June 2025. The payment of
the special dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval at the
AGM which is scheduled to be held on 15 May 2025.

CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR AGM

In order to determine the entitlement of Shareholders to
attend and vote at the AGM which is scheduled to be held
on 15 May 2025, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 12 May 2025 to 15 May 2025, both days
inclusive, during which no transfer of shares will be effected.
All properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 May
2025. Shareholders whose names are recorded in the register
of members of the Company on 15 May 2025 are entitled to
attend and vote at the 2025 AGM.
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CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR PAYMENT
OF SPECIAL DIVIDEND

In order to determine Shareholders who qualify for the
proposed special dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 9 June 2025 to 10 June 2025,
both days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares
will be effected. All properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on 6 June 2025. Shareholders whose names are
recorded in the register of members of the Company on 10
June 2025 are entitled to receive the special dividend in cash
for the Financial Year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 155 to 156 and in
Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB4,274 million (2023:
approximately RMB4,316 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Financial Year amounted to approximately RMB0.28 million
(2023: approximately RMB0.30 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 288.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

ADOPTION OF 2024 SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND 2024
SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND TERMINATION OF 2022
SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND 2016 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 14 May 2024, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of the 2024 Share Award Scheme and the 2024
Share Option Scheme at a special general meeting of the
Company (the “SGM") and also approved the termination
of the share award scheme of the Company (the “2022
Share Award Scheme”) and the share option scheme of the
Company (the “2016 Share Option Scheme”), which was
respectively adopted at the annual general meeting held on 20
May 2022 and 9 August 2016. Details of the adoptions and
terminations were disclosed in the circular of the Company
dated 18 April 2024 (the “Circular”) and the announcement
of the results of the SGM on 14 May 2024.
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SHARE SCHEMES

The Company adopted the 2024 Share Option Scheme and
the 2024 Share Award Scheme by ordinary resolutions of
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) passed at a
special general meeting of the Company held on 14 May 2024
(the "Adoption Date”) and on the same date, the Company
also terminated the 2016 Share Option Scheme and the
2022 Share Award Scheme. As at the date of termination of
the 2016 Share Option Scheme and the 2022 Share Award
Scheme, there were no outstanding options and/or share
awarded under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and the 2022
Share Award Scheme.

No options or awards have been granted pursuant to the 2024
Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share Award Scheme
since their adoption up to 31 December 2024. Accordingly,
the number of shares of the Company that may be issued
in respect of all options and awards granted during the
Reporting Period to eligible participants pursuant to the 2024
Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share Award Scheme
divided by the weighted average number of issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) for the Reporting Period was zero.

Summaries of the major terms of the 2024 Share Option
Scheme and the 2024 Share Award Scheme are as follows.
Unless otherwise defined, all capitalized terms and
abbreviations under this section shall have the same meanings
as those defined in the Circular.
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2024 Share Options Scheme

(i)

(i)

Purpose

The purposes of the 2024 Share Option Scheme are (i)
to recognise and acknowledge the contribution of the
Participants (as defined below) and provide incentives to
motivate Participants to contribute to, and promote the
interests of, the Company by granting Options to them
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
growth and development of the Group; (ii) to attract,
retain and motivate high-calibre Participants to promote
the sustainable development of the Group in line with
the performance goals of the Group; (iii) to develop and,
maintain and strengthen business long-term relationships
that with the Participants may have with the Group for
the benefit of the Group; and (iv) to align the interest of
the grantees with those of the Shareholders to promote
the long-term performance (whether in financial,
business and operational aspects) of the Group.

Participants

Eligible participants include director(s) and employee(s)
(whether full time or part time employees) of the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries ("Employee
Participants”); director(s) and employee(s) (whether
full time or part time employees) of the holding
company(ies), fellow subsidiary(ies) or associated
company(ies) of the Company (“Related Entity
Participants”) and person(s) (whether a natural person,
a corporate entity or otherwise) who provide services
to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis in its
ordinary and usual course of business which are in the
interests of the long-term growth/success of the Group,
including but not limited to person(s) who work for
any member of the Group as independent contractors
where the continuity and frequency of their services
are akin to those of employees, but excluding placing
agents or financial advisers providing advisory services
for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions or professional
service providers such as auditors or valuers who provide
assurance, or are required to perform their services with
impartiality and objectivity (“Service Providers”).
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4

Maximum number of shares available for subscription

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued in respect of all Options to be granted under
the 2024 Share Option Scheme, all Awards to be granted
under the 2024 Share Award Scheme, and all share
options and all share awards to be granted under any
Other Schemes (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the Adoption Date, and the maximum
number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
in respect of all Options, all Awards, all share options
and all share awards to be granted to Service Providers
under the 2024 Share Option Scheme, the 2024 Share
Award Scheme and any Other Schemes (“Service
Provider Sublimit”) must not in aggregate exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue as at the Adoption
Date, unless the Company seeks separate Shareholders’
approval in general meeting.

The Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service Provider
Sublimit may respectively be refreshed by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting after
three years from the Adoption Date or the date of
Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment.

No grant was made under the 2024 Share Option
Scheme and the 2024 Share Award Scheme, or any Other
Schemes (including the 2022 Share Award Scheme and
the 2016 Share Option Scheme) during the Reporting
Period. Accordingly, at the end of the Reporting Period,
the total number of options available for grant under
the 2024 Share Option Scheme is 322,992,687 and the
total number of options available for grant to Service
Providers under the 2024 Share Option Scheme at the
end of the Reporting Period is 32,299,268. The total
number of shares available for issue under 2024 Share
Option Scheme is 322,992,687 shares, representing
approximately 10% of the Company's issued shares
(excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this report.
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(iv)

Maximum entitlement of shares of each eligible
participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options and awards granted to
each Participant (including exercised and outstanding
options but excluding any options and awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of such schemes) in any
twelve (12) -month period up to and including the
relevant date on which an offer of such option is made
to a Participant for purpose of calculating the exercise
price (“Offer Date”) shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of shares in issue.

Where any grant of Options to an independent non-
executive Director or a substantial shareholder of the
Company, or any of their respective associates, would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect
of all Options granted under the 2024 Share Option
Scheme, all Awards granted under the 2024 Share
Award Scheme and all share options and all share
awards granted under any Other Schemes (including
both exercised or outstanding Options and share options
and vested or outstanding share awards but excluding
any Options, share options and share awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2024 Share Option
Scheme, 2024 Share Award Scheme or such Other
Scheme(s)) to such person in the 12-month period up
to and including the relevant Offer Date representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue, such further
grant of Options shall be subject to and conditional upon
conditions set forth in the Circular.

Acceptance of option

The acceptance of an Offer must be accompanied by
payment in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 as
consideration for the Offer which shall be paid to the
Company within the time stated in the Offer which shall
be determined by the Board from time to time.

(iv)

(v)
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(vi)

(vii)

Period within which the Option may be exercised

A period to be determined and notified by the Board to
the Grantee during which the Option may be exercised,
which period shall expire in any event not later than
the last day of the 10-year period after the Offer Date
(subject to the provisions for early termination), for
the avoidance of doubt, such period may, if the Board
so determines, be set at different lengths for different
grantees and the Board may also set conditions and/or
restrictions on the exercise of such Option during the
period an Option may be exercised.

Vesting period of option

The vesting period in respect of any Option (i.e. the
period commencing on the date on which the grantee
accepts such Option granted to him/her and ending on
the vesting date (both days inclusive)) under the 2024
Share Option Scheme shall not be less than twelve (12)
months.

Options granted to Employee Participants may be subject
to a shorter vesting period as determined by (i) the
Remuneration Committee if such Employee Participant
is a Director or a senior manager (as defined under Rule
17.01A of the Listing Rules) of the Company, or (ii) the
Board if such Employee Participant is not a Director
or a senior manager (as defined under Rule 17.01A of
the Listing Rules) of the Company, under any of the
following circumstances:

(1) grants of “make-whole” options to a new
Employee Participant to replace the share awards
or optionsthat such Employee Participant forfeited
when leaving his/her previous employer;

(2) grants to an Employee Participant whose
employment is terminated due to death or disability
or occurrence of any out-of-control event;

(3) grants of Options with performance-based vesting
conditions as determined by the Board, in lieu
oftime-based vesting criteria;
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(viii)

(ix)

(4) grants that are made in batches during a year for
administrative and compliance reasons;

(5) grants with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule
such as where the Option may vest evenly over
aperiod of twelve (12) months; and

(6) grants with a total vesting and holding period of
more than 12 months.

Subscription price

The subscription price of a share subject to options
granted under the 2024 Share Option Scheme shall
be a price determined by the Board and notified to a
Participant and shall be at least the highest of (a) the
closing price of the Shares of the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the Offer
Date, which must be a trading day; (b) the average of
the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5)
trading days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and
(c) the nominal value of a Share.

Duration of the 2024 Share Option Scheme

The 2024 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of ten (10) years commencing from the Adoption
Date (i.e. 14 May 2024) unless sooner terminated. As at
the date of this report, the remaining life of the 2024
Share Option Scheme is 9 years (i.e. 13 May 2034).

(viii)
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2024 Share Award Scheme

(i)

Purpose

The purposes of the 2024 Share Award Scheme are
to (i) recognise and acknowledge the contribution of
the Participants and to motivate the Participants to
contribute to, and promote the interests of, the Company
by granting Awards to them as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the growth and development of
the Group; (ii) attract, retain and motivate high-calibre
Participants to promote the sustainable development
of the Group in line with the performance goals of the
Group; (iii) develop, maintain and strengthen long-term
relationships that the Participants may have with the
Group for the benefit of the Group; and (iv) align the
interest of the Participant(s) (other than Participant(s)
who is/are resident in a place outside Hong Kong where
the settlement of the Reference Amount and/or the
award of the Awarded Shares and/or the vesting and
transfer of Shares pursuant to the 2024 Share Award
Scheme is not permitted under the applicable laws and
regulations of such place or where in the view of the
Board compliance with applicable laws and regulations
in such place makes it necessary or expedient to exclude
such Participant(s)) whom the Board may select for
participation in the 2024 Share Award Scheme (“Selected
Person(s)”) with those of the Shareholders to promote
the long-term performance (whether in financial,
business and operational aspects) of the Group.

Participants

Any person(s) belonging to any of the following classes
of participants:

(a) any Employee Participants;
(b) Related Entity Participants; and

(c) Service Providers.
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(iii)

(iv)

Administration

The 2024 Share Award Scheme shall be subject to
the administration of the Board whose decision (save
as otherwise provided in the rules of the 2024 Share
Award Scheme (“Award Scheme Rules”) in all matters
arising in relation to the 2024 Share Award Scheme, the
Award Scheme Rules, the respective trust deed or their
interpretation or effect shall be final and binding on all
parties who may be affected thereby, subject to (where
appropriate) the prior receipt of a statement in writing
from the Auditors or the independent financial adviser if
and as required.

As at 31 December 2024, no Trustee for the
administration of the 2024 Share Award Scheme was
appointed.

Share pool

In order to satisfy any Award granted under the 2024
Share Award Scheme from time to time, the Trustee shall
set aside the appropriate number of awarded shares out
of the shares pool which shall comprise the following:

(1) such existing shares as may be purchased or
acquired by the Trustee on-market or off-market
by utilising the funds allocated by the Board out of
the Group’s resources or cash proceeds in the Trust
Funds pursuant to the 2024 Share Award Scheme;

(2) such new shares as may be subscribed for by the
Trustee by utilising the funds allocated by the
Boardout of the Group’s resources or cash proceeds
in the Trust Funds pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme;

(iii)

(iv)
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(3) such other shares in the Trust Funds, including
Returned Shares, Shares derived from Shares
held by the Trustee (including fractional Shares
resulting from any consolidation, re-classification or
reorganisation of Shares, Shares as may be allotted
or issued to the Trustee as a holder of Shares
whether by way of distribution in scrip form, bonus
Shares or otherwise), Shares transferred or caused
to be transferred by the Company from other trusts
set up by the Company for the purpose of share
incentive schemes and, accepted by the Trustee as
additions.

The Trustee may purchase the Shares on the Stock
Exchange at the prevailing market price (subject
to themaximum price as may be from time to time
prescribed by the Board), or acquire the shares off-
market at a price which shall not exceed the lower of the
following: (i) the closing market price of the Shares on
the date of the relevant agreement for such off-market
purchase, and (ii) the average closing market price of
the Shares in the 5 trading days immediately prior to
the earlier of (a) the date of the relevant agreement for
such off-market purchase, and (b) the date on which the
relevant price is fixed.

Maximum number of shares available for subscription

The maximum number of new Shares which may be
allotted and issued in respect of all Awards to be granted
under the 2024 Share Award Scheme, all Options to be
granted under the 2024 Share Option Scheme, and all
share options and share awards to be granted under any
Other Schemes (i.e. the Scheme Mandate Limit) shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of issued
Shares of the Company as at the Adoption Date (or such
other limit (if any) prescribed by the Listing Rules from
time to time), and the Service Provider Sublimit must not
in aggregate exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the Adoption Date, unless the Company has
obtained separate approval by Shareholders.

The Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service Provider
Sublimit may respectively be refreshed by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting after
three years from the Adoption Date or the date of
Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment.
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(vi)

No grant was made under the 2024 Share Option
Scheme and the 2024 Share Award Scheme, or any Other
Schemes (including the 2022 Share Award Scheme and
the 2016 Share Option Scheme) during the Reporting
Period. Accordingly, at the end of the Reporting Period,
the total number of Awards available for grant under the
2024 Share Award Scheme at the end of the Reporting
Period is 322,992,687,and the total number of Awards
available for grant to Service Providers under the 2024
Share Award Scheme at the end of the Reporting Period
is 32,299,268. The total number of shares available for
issue under 2024 Share Award Scheme is 322,992,687
shares, representing approximately 10% of the
Company's issued shares (excluding treasury shares) as
at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of shares of each eligible
participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all Awards granted under the 2024 Share
Award Scheme, all Options granted under the 2024
Share Option Scheme, and all share options and all share
awards granted under any Other Schemes (including both
exercised or outstanding share options and vested or
outstanding Awarded Shares and awards but excluding
any Options, Awards, share options and share awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 2024 Share
Option Scheme, 2024 Share Award Scheme or any Other
Schemes) to each Participant in any 12-month period up
to and including the relevant Offer Date shall not exceed
1% of the total number of Shares in issue.

Where any grant of Awards under the 2024 Share
Award Scheme to a Director (other than an independent
nonexecutive Director) or chief executive of the
Company, or any of their respective associates would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of
all Awards and awards granted (excluding any Awards
and share awards lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the 2024 Share Award Scheme or any Other Schemes)
to such Selected Person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the issued Shares, such grant of
Awards must be approved by Shareholders in a general
meeting with such Selected Person, his/her associates and
all core connected persons of the Company abstaining
from voting in favour at such general meeting.

(vi)
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(vii)

(viii)

4

Where any grant of Awards to an independent non-
executive Director or a substantial shareholder of the
Company, or any of their respective associates, would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of
all Awards granted under the 2024 Share Award Scheme,
all Options granted under the 2024 Share Option
Scheme and all share options and share awards granted
under any Other Schemes (excluding any Awards, share
options, and share awards lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the 2024 Share Award Scheme, the 2024
Share Option Scheme or any Other Schemes) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the issued Shares, where required by the Listing
Rules, such further grant of Awards must be approved
by Shareholders in general meeting (with such Selected
Person, his/her associates and all core connected persons
of the Company abstaining from voting in favour at such
general meeting).

Grant Price of Awarded Shares

The grant price of the Awarded Shares (if any) shall be
such price which shall be determined by the Board from
time to time based on considerations such as the purpose
of the Award and the characteristics and profile of the
Selected Person, which shall be paid to the Company
within the time stated in the grant letter which shall be
determined by the Board from time to time.

Unless otherwise determined by the Board or specified in
the grant letter, there is generally no performance target
that needs to be achieved before the vesting of Awarded
Shares on a Selected Person.

Acceptance of Award

The Award to be granted is subject to acceptance of
the Selected Persons within the time as stipulated in the
grant letter. An Award which has not been accepted
by the Selected Person shall lapse forthwith and any
Awarded Shares under such Award shall become
returned shares of the 2024 Share Award Scheme which
shall be dealt with in accordance with the Award Scheme
Rules.

In general, no amount is payable on acceptance of grant
of Awarded Shares under the 2024 Share Award Scheme.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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(ix)

Vesting Period of Awarded Shares

The vesting period in respect of any Awarded Shares
(i.e. the period commencing on the date on which the
Awards have been granted to such Participant and
ending on the vesting date (both days inclusive)) under
the 2024 Share Award Scheme shall not be less than 12
months (or such other period as the Listing Rules may
prescribe or permit from time to time).

Awards granted to Employee Participants may be subject
to a shorter Vesting Period as determined by (i) the
Remuneration Committee if such Employee Participant
is a Director or a senior manager (as defined under Rule
17.01A of the Listing Rules) of the Company, or (ii) the
Board if such Employee Participant is not a Director
or a senior manager (as defined under Rule 17.01A of
the Listing Rules) of the Company, under any of the
following circumstances:

(1) grants of “make-whole” Awards to a new Employee
Participant to replace the awards or options that
such Employee Participant forfeited when leaving
his or her previous employer;

(2) grants to an Employee Participant whose
employment is terminated due to death or disability
or occurrence of any out-of-control events;

(3) grants of Awards with performance-based vesting
conditions as determined by the Board, in lieu of
time-based vesting criteria;

(4) grants of Awards that are made in batches during a
year for administrative and compliance reasons;

(5) grants of Awards with a mixed or accelerated
vesting schedule such as where the Awards may
vest evenly over a period of 12 months; and

(6) grants of Awards with a total vesting and holding
period of more than 12 months.

Duration of the 2024 Share Award Scheme

The 2024 Share Award Scheme s hall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing from
the Adoption Date (i.e. 14 May 2024) unless sooner
terminated. As at the date of this report, the remaining
life of the 2024 Share Award Scheme is 9 years (i.e. 13
May 2034).
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HUABAO FLAVOURS SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the board of directors
of Huabao Flavours passed on 30 August 2023 and 8
December 2023 respectively and the resolutions of Huabao
Flavours’ shareholders’ meeting on 5 January 2024, Huabao
Flavours, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary as well as a
principal subsidiary of the Company, approved, adopted, and
implemented a share incentive scheme (the “Huabao Flavours
Share Incentive Scheme™”).

The Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme was adopted
for the issuance of a total of 16,950,000 restricted shares
("Restricted Shares”), representing approximately 2.75% of
the total share capital of Huabao Flavours of 615,880,000
shares as at 31 December 2024. The total number of
underlying shares involved in all the share incentive schemes
in force will not in aggregate exceed 10.00% of the total
share capital of Huabao Flavours. The aggregate number of
Huabao Flavours’ shares granted to any Incentive Participant
under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme through
all the share incentive schemes in force shall not exceed
1.00% of the total share capital of Huabao Flavours. On 5
January 2024, 14,500,000 Restricted Shares were granted
by the board of directors of Huabao Flavours. As at 31
December 2024, the number of Restricted Shares available
for grant under the scheme limit under the Huabao Flavours
Share Incentive Scheme was 2,450,000. According to the
2024 audited report of Huabao Flavours, during the Year,
400,000 Restricted Shares were cancelled by forfeiture and
4,230,000 Restricted Shares were lapsed. On 5 January 2025,
2,450,000 reserved Restricted Shares were lapsed as it was
not granted before the scheduled deadline. As at the date
of this report, the total number of shares available for issue
under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme is zero,
which represented zero% of the total number of issued
Shares (excluding treasury shares) of Huabao Flavours as at
the date of this report. The Huabao Flavours Share Incentive
Scheme constitutes the grant of awards over new shares of a
principal subsidiary (within the meaning of Rule 17.14 of the
Listing Rules) of the Company and therefore is also subject to
compliance with the requirements set out in Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.
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Summary of the Major Terms of the Huabao Flavours Share
Incentive Scheme is set out below. Unless otherwise defined,
all capitalized terms and abbreviations under this section shall
have the same meanings as those defined in the circular of
the Company dated 14 December 2023.

()

(i)

Purpose of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive
Scheme

The purpose of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive
Scheme is to further establish and improve the long-term
incentive mechanism of Huabao Flavours, attract and
retain outstanding talents, fully mobilize the enthusiasm
of the directors, senior management, core management,
technical and business personnel of Huabao Flavours
and such other personnel (all of whom being directors
or employees of Huabao Flavours and/or its controlling
subsidiaries) as the board of directors of Huabao
Flavours may deem necessary to be incentivized as well
as effectively combine the interests of shareholders
and Huabao Flavours with the personal interests of the
core team, so that all parties will jointly focus on the
long-term development of Huabao Flavours, and on the
premise of fully protecting the interests of shareholders
of Huabao Flavours.

Restricted Shares

The incentive instrument adopted under the Huabao
Flavours Share Incentive Scheme is Restricted Shares
(Class Il Restricted Shares) and the source of the
underlying shares involved is the A shares in the ordinary
share capital of Huabao Flavours issued to the identified
Incentive Participants.
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(iv)

4

Scope of Incentive Participants

The Incentive Participants of the Huabao Flavours
Share Incentive Scheme will be the directors, senior
management, core management, technical and business
personnel of Huabao Flavours (including its controlled
subsidiaries) and such other personnel (all of whom
being directors or employees of Huabao Flavours
and/or i t s controlling subsidiaries) as the board of
directors of Huabao Flavours may deem necessary to be
incentivized. All Incentive Participants must have worked
for Huabao Flavours or its controlling subsidiaries
during the assessment period of the Huabao Flavours
Share Incentive Scheme and have signed employment or
engagement contracts with the Huabao Flavours or its
controlling subsidiaries. All the Incentive Participants are
the “employee participants” (within the meaning of Rule
17.03A(1)(a) of the Listing Rules).

Grant Price and Basis of Determination

In order to fully mobilize the enthusiasm of the Incentive
Participants of Huabao Flavours, and to effectively
combine the interests of shareholders of Huabao
Flavours, the interests of Huabao Flavours and the
personal interests of the core team to achieve a better
incentive effect, the board of directors of Huabao
Flavours fixed the Grant Price at RMB11.13 per Huabao
Flavours’ share, representing 50% of the average trading
price of Huabao Flavours’ shares for the last 20 trading
days immediately preceding the announcement of the
draft Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme, which
complies with the provisions of the Administrative
Measures.

On 5 January 2024, the board of directors and the
supervisory committee of Huabao Flavours were
convened to consider and approve, among others, the
Proposal on Adjusting the Grant Price of the Initial Phase
of Restricted Share Incentive Scheme. As Huabao Flavours
implemented the 2023 semi-annual equity distribution
plan, the Grant Price of the initial and reserved portions
of the Restricted Share under the Incentive Scheme was
then adjusted from RMB11.13 per share to RMB10.93
per share accordingly.

No amount is payable by incentive Participants when
they are granted with Restricted Shares under the
Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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(v) Vesting Period

The Restricted Shares granted to the Incentive
Participants will be vested in tranches according to the
agreed proportion, and each vesting will be subject to
the satisfaction of the corresponding Vesting Conditions.

The Shares granted under the initial and reserved grants
under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme will
vest in three tranches after the expiry of 12 months from
the date of initial and reserved grants respectively, with
the percentage of vesting in each tranche being 30%,
30% and 40% respectively. The reserved portion of
Restricted Shares will be consistent with the assessment
year and performance assessment target of the initial
grant of Restricted Shares.

Huabao Flavours' level performance assessment targets
for the initial and reserved grants of Restricted Shares
are shown in the table below:

Corresponding
assessment year

Vesting period

(v)
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Performance assessment targets

5 R HEZRFE XEEZER

First vesting period for initial and 2024 Increase of operating income by 15%

reserved Restricted Shares for 2024 as compared to 2023.
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15% -

Second vesting period for initial and 2025 Increase of operating income by 25%

reserved Restricted Shares for 2025 as compared to 2023.
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Third vesting period for initial and 2026 Increase of operating income by 35%

reserved Restricted Shares for 2026 as compared to 2023.
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(vi) Validity Period

The Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme shall be
valid for a maximum of 60 months from the date of
initial grant of Restricted Shares to the date on which all
Restricted Shares granted to the Incentive Participants
are vested or lapsed. As at 31 December 2024, the
remaining life of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive
Scheme from the date of initial grant is 49 months.

The following Restricted Shares were granted on 5
January 2024 and not vested as of 31 December 2024

(vi) B
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2024 to up to up to upto  Sharesasof  grant of grantof  period of grantof  Restricted  atdate
Name or category 31December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December  Restricted Restricted  Restricted ~ Restricted ~ Shareswere  of grant
of participants 2024 2024 2024 202400x8) 2024 Shares Shares Shares Shares vested  (Note2)
B204%
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Directors of Huabao Flavours
28hhE
XIA Liqun 2,300,000 - - (690,000 1,610,000 5 January 2024 20.70 Note 1 20.93 - Note 1
Efln 04E1A58 M3t 1 M3t 1
YUAN Xiaogin 1,500,000 - - (450,000) 1,050,000 5 January 2024 20.70 Note 1 20.93 - Note 1
RHE 04E1A5H M1 fifiE 1
REN Miao 800,000 - - (240,000 560,000 5 January 2024 20.70 Note 1 20.93 - Note 1
5 04E1A5H M1 fifiE 1
HAN Pengliang 300,000 - - (90,000) 210,000 5 January 2024 2070 Note 1 2093 - Note 1
#ER 04E1A5H M1 fifiE 1
Other employees of Huabao Flavours
(including its controlling subsidiaries)
(Note 5) 9,600,000 - (400,000 (2,760,000 6,440,000 5 January 2024 20.70 Note 1 20.93 - Note 1
ZERAMAMET
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(B3s) 0451558 i i3]
Total 14,500,000 - (400,000)  (4,230,0000 9,870,000
At
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Note:

For Restricted Shares granted in view of the achievement
of performance targets 2024 to 2026, 30% of such
Restricted Shares are scheduled to be vested after March
2025, a further 30% are scheduled to be vested after
March 2026 and the remaining 40% are scheduled to be
vested after March 2027. The fair value per share at the
date of the grant ranges from RMB11.77 to RMB12.71.

The fair value of Restricted Shares was based on the Black-
Scholes model adopted by Huabao Flavours. The fair value
of the Restricted Shares at the grant date and the share-
based cost of the Scheme were determined in accordance
with the vesting proportion by Huabao Flavours when
they are vested. The total amount of above expenses will
be recognised in tranches during the implementation of
the Scheme and the incentive cost of the Scheme will be
charged to recurring profit or loss.

The grant of the Restricted Shares to Mr. Xia Liqun
("Mr. Xia"), who also being the executive Director, vice
chairman and president of the Company, will result in the
shares of Huabao Flavours to be issued upon exercise in
full of the Restricted Shares to be granted to Mr. Xia in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total
shares of Huabao Flavours in issue. Save as disclosed,
Mr. Xia was not granted any options and/or awards of
shares of Huabao Flavours in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant of the Restricted
Shares. The grant of the Restricted Shares to Mr. Xia
under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme has
been reviewed and approved by the independent non-
executive Directors. In addition, since the incentive
instrument adopted under the Huabao Flavours Share
Incentive Scheme is Restricted Shares (with the right to
subscribe shares of Huabao Flavours at the Grant Price
after satisfying the Vesting Conditions for exercising the
options), the grant of the Restricted Shares to Mr. Xia is
not subject to approval by Shareholders of the Company
at general meeting pursuant to Rule 17.04(2) of the
Listing Rules. As Mr. Xia is also a director of the Company,
the grant of the Restricted Shares under the Huabao
Flavours Share Incentive Scheme to Mr. Xia by Huabao
Flavours constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Given
that the grant of the Restricted Shares to Mr. Xia under
the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme, if exercised
in full, will represent over 0.1% but less than 1% of the
total shares of Huabao Flavours in issue, the proposed
grant of the Restricted Shares to Mr. Xia constitutes an
exempted connected transaction of the Company under
Rule 14A.92(3)(a) of the Listing Rules.
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The number of Restricted Shares granted after deducting
400,000 Restricted Shares being cancelled and 4,230,000
Restricted Shares being lapsed during the Year divided by
the weighted average number of issued shares (excluding
treasury shares) of Huabao Flavours for the Year was
approximately 1.6% (2023: 0%).

400,000 Restricted Shares were cancelled by forfeiture
due to the resignation of employees. No amount was
paid by those resigned employees when they are granted
Restricted Shares under the Huabao Flavours Share
Incentive Scheme. The grant price of those Restricted
Shares were RMB10.93.

30% total number of the Restricted Shares (i.e. 4,230,000)
were lapsed on 31 December 2024 as the performance
assessment targets for the corresponding assessment
year 2024 failed to meet the first vesting period for initial
Restricted Shares and had lapsed according to the 2024
audited report of the Huabao Flavours and provisions
under the Incentive Scheme.

On 5 January 2025, 2,450,000 reserved Restricted Shares
were lapsed as it was not granted before the scheduled
deadline.

On 28 March 2025, the board of directors of the Huabao
Flavours approved the proposal to terminate the Huabao
Flavours Share Incentive Scheme and such termination
should be considered and approved at the general
meeting to be held in April 2025. Upon termination of the
Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme, all the Restricted
Shares not yet vested shall not be vested. The termination
of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme requires
accelerated vesting. It is expected that share-based
compensation expenses of approximately RMB 70 million
will be recognised in 2025.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME - GUANGDONG
JIAHAO SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (Note: see
Note 22 Share-based payment to the consolidated
financial statements)

Pursuant to a written resolution of the directors of
Guangdong Jiahao passed on 15 October 2020, Guangdong
Jiahao, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary as well as a
non-principal subsidiary of the Company, approved, adopted
and implemented a share incentive scheme (the “Guangdong
Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme”) in which Eligible Participants
(as defined below) will be entitled to participate. Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules does not apply to the Guangdong
Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme as Guangdong Jiahao is not a
principal subsidiary of the Company.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme.

Summary of Terms

Purposes

The purposes of the formulation and the implementation
of the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme is to
establish an effective incentive and discipline mechanism for
Guangdong Jiahao, attract and retain outstanding talents, so
as to fully motivate the management and core team members
of Guangdong Jiahao to effectively align the interests of the
Company, Guangdong Jiahao and its employees, and to create
the future of the Company with concerted effort.

Types of Awards and Who May Participate

Under the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, the
board of directors of Guangdong Jiahao (the "Relevant
Board"”) (including any committee or person(s) duly authorized
by the Relevant Board) may, at its discretion, invite directors,
senior management, core technical personnel or other
employees of Guangdong Jiahao to participate in the
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, whereby the
relevant employees will be awarded restricted shares (the
“Restricted Shares”) and will be required to settle the relevant
subscription price (the “Employee Subscription Price”). The
Restricted Shares will be released upon the expiry of the
period of restriction on transfer of such Restricted Shares,
such as the relevant sale restriction period/lockup period.
The relevant employees passed a resolution to establish
certain limited partnership shareholding platforms (the
"Employees Shareholding Platform(s)”) through which they
will participate in the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive
Scheme by way of indirect shareholding (the "Award(s)”) in
the capacity of limited partners (the “Eligible Participant(s)”or
“Participant(s)”) and will be required to settle the relevant
Employee Subscription Price. The Group or its controlled
affiliates are the general partners of such partnership(s).
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Maximum Number of Shares

According to the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme
approved by the Relevant Board, upon the implementation of
the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, the number
of underlying shares under the Guangdong Jiahao Share
Incentive Scheme represented approximately 1.98% of the
total equity interests in Guangdong Jiahao (a limited liability
company) and as at 31 December 2024, those equity interests
have been vested to the Employees Shareholding Platforms.

Consideration for Restricted Share Units and Restricted
Share Purchase Price

The Eligible Participants would indirectly hold equity interests
in Guangdong Jiahao through limited partnerships, and
the Employees Shareholding Platforms would purchase the
Group's existing equity interests in Guangdong Jiahao for
cash at the price(s) agreed between the Company and the
Eligible Participant(s). The aggregate Employee Subscription
Price payable by the Eligible Participants amounted to
approximately RMB46.5 million.

Vesting Schedule

For the purpose of this Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive
Scheme, four limited partnerships have been established,
namely Yingtan Xiangshan Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited
Partnership) (BEH L EFZARL(BRAE)), Yingtan
Zhonghao Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (&
B EERBO(ERAE)), Yingtan Guanghao Corporate
Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (BEES ¥ #H T
D(EBRE%)) and Yingtan Huajia Corporate Advisory Centre
(Limited Partnership) (EEEZEZPEZERATLERER)),
through which the Participants indirectly hold equity interests
in Guangdong Jiahao and the relevant Awards have vested in
the Employees Shareholding Platforms.

As at 31 December 2024, the Guangdong Jiahao Share
Incentive Scheme has covered in total 91 (31 December 2023:
70) Participants, including directors and senior management
of Guangdong Jiahao. The chairman of Guangdong Jiahao,
XIA Liqun, who is also a director of the Company and one of
the Participants. During the Year, no awards was granted to
Mr. XIA Liqun.
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R BR RS -
EEELLE 1

Restrictions on share transfers:

Yingtan Xiangshan 1 Sale restriction period: REH: B FH

Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership)

36 months from the date
of Award and the sale
restriction period shall

L (B R
&%) BELx
i S L

HE361E A & W
EREZRAELD
(BIREERAFE

(EEHEILPEHRRP O remain effective regardless (BEREE) 17) 0 REHFHER
(BEREE)), of whether Guangdong EEET ¥ =

Yingtan Zhonghao Jiahao could be listed (i.e. BRA

Corporate Advisory initial public offering of (BER&e%)

Centre (Limited
Partnership)

shares) or not;

(EEFxEHRRPO 2 Lock-up period: Upon ZEH: EREx
(BRAE)), the listing of Guangdong oz t& EEE
Yingtan Guanghao Jiahao, the Participants ERE D INTE
Corporate Advisory are subject to lock-up HATERRARS
Centre (Limited requirements as agreed Fr b AIEEE 2
Partnership) under the relevant share SKETTEEE
(BEEESTEZARL incentive agreement(s) and
(BRAR)) the relevant requirements as
stipulated under the listing
rules of domestic exchange;
3 During the sale restriction R EH. &8
period or lock-up period, W BREEN B
the limited partners shall REBATEEZR
not transfer their respective EEABLETD
shares in the assets of the BIENER
partnerships, except in the
case of withdrawal;
4 After the date falling on the BB RERTH

fifth anniversary of the date
of Award, the Participants

HEFE MER
BEEALTH K

may transfer all or part of BB R P R
their respective awarded HEAEHNE2 I K

shares in the event that
Guangdong Jiahao remains
unlisted.

7 B AL
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Yingtan Huajia
Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership)
(BREREEZFAPO
(BRRE®))

Prior to the listing of
Guangdong Jiahao and
within 36 months from
the date of listing of
Guangdong Jiahao, the
Participants shall not
transfer all or part of their
respective awarded shares
to any third party (including
other Participants on the
Employees Shareholding
Platforms) not recognised
by the general partners of
the partnerships without the
prior consent of the general
partners of the partnerships;

After the date falling on the
fifth anniversary of the date
of Award, the Participants
may transfer all or part of
their respective awarded
shares in the event that
Guangdong Jiahao remains
unlisted;

Upon the listing of
Guangdong Jiahao, if
according to the relevant
laws and regulations, the
Participants is required to
comply with the obligations
such as specific lock-up
period or restriction on
the percentage of sale due
to the Participants being
the senior management
of the company, having
special status or the
number of shares held
reaches a certain threshold,
the Participants shall
comply with the relevant
regulations in addition to
the requirements under the
agreement.
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Vesting of Awards, Termination and Withdrawal of
Participants

The Awards have been vested in the Employees Shareholding
Platforms and the Participant(s) shall withdraw from the
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme if any of the
following occurs: (1) amendment(s) to the Guangdong
Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, or amendment(s) to the
share incentive agreement(s) for the compliance with
the requirements of the company’s lending banks, or
amendment(s) to the share incentive agreement(s) for the
compliance of the listing rules of the stock exchange or the
requirements of the regulatory authority regarding the listing
of the company, but the Participant(s) declines to execute
the amended share incentive agreement; (2) the company is
dissolved or its business license is revoked or cancelled; (3)
the partnership is dissolved or its business license is revoked
or cancelled; (4) the Participant has reached the retirement
age and has completed the retirement formalities and does
not continue to serve after retirement; (5) the company
terminates the labour contract or employment contract with
the Participant due to strategic adjustment or redundancy; (6)
the Participant resigns during the term of the labour contract,
or the company or the Participant refuses to renew the
labour contract upon its expiry; (7) death or incapacity of the
Participant; (8) the Participant is held criminally responsible
for any criminal offence; (9) the Participant commits serious
misconduct, malfeasance, fraud, bribery, bribery solicitation,
misappropriation, embezzlement, divulgence of business,
customer and technical secrets or other violations of laws
or disciplines, causing significant damage to the company;
(10) the company determines that the Participant is directly
responsible for the company’s loss or decline in operating
responsibly results; (11) the Participant is considered to be
detrimental to the interests of the company when performing
his duties; (12) the Participant causes significant loss to the
interests of the company due to his negligence in performing
his duties; (13) the Participant violates the obligation of
confidentiality and divulges the confidential information of the
company (including the intellectual property rights, technical
secrets, customer information, financial information and
other business secrets). For the purpose of this Guangdong
Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, the aforementioned trade
secrets include the fact presented in this Guangdong Jiahao
Share Incentive Scheme and the Guangdong Jiahao Share
Incentive Scheme documents and any of their contents; (14)
the Participant, in other capacities or in any way, is engaged
in or for the benefits of others engaged in any competing
business with the company without the prior written consent
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of the company; (15) the share of assets in the partnerships
held by the Participant is enforced by law; (16) the Participant
is dismissed by the company for violating the rules and
regulations of the company, or the Participant is removed
from the partnership(s).

The transfer price for the Participant’s withdrawal from the
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme will be based
on the reason(s) of his withdrawal. The transfer price in
the case of withdrawal is either the principal amount of
the Participant’'s investment or the principal amount of
the investment plus interest calculated at a rate of 5-10%
per annum on simple interest basis (interest is calculated
according to the actual number of days). If Guangdong
Jiahao has not been listed within five years from the date
of granting, the Participants may opt out of the Guangdong
Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme. The transfer price in the case
of withdrawal will be the principal amount of the investment
plus interest calculated at a rate of 8% per annum on simple
interest basis (interest is calculated according to the actual
number of days).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Financial Year and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman and Vice President)

Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)
Ms. LAM Ka Yan

Ms. CHOY Man Har

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN
Mr. HOU Haitao

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) and (2) of the Bye-laws,
Mr. XIA Liqun, Ms. LAM Ka Yan and Ms. CHOY Man Har shall
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. All of
them being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company, its ultimate
holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director or an entity connected with a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is considered to have an interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 45 to 49 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals during the Financial Year are set
out in Note 41 and Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

EERRMD - HERO RES 2 EH

MR2024F12A831H EEREETTHRAE
RARBIREEEEIB(ERXERBHFRBPER
BIZE XV ER) 2 %D ~ MR REHF#HEA R
NEREBERSFLBAEGROIEI2IGREMFE
ZERMARRZESERAR KA RIEBIZ
EFRREMAMEARB RE B T2 #
w SORBIAT

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company AABZEBRIFR
Number Percentage
of issued of the issued
Name of Director(s) Capacity Shares held share capital
BEERT HEBT
EEnE 237) RGEE [Nl
CHU Lam Yiu Held through controlled corporations (Note7) 2,293,408,900 71.00%
RAREE BERZECREFB (ML)
CHOY Man Har Beneficial owner 3,000 <0.00%
BYE EnBEAA
Notes: B &E

1) 2,293,408,900 ordinary shares of the Company were held
by Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International
Limited, Power Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite
Limited, Raise Sino Investments Limited (note 2) and Real Elite
Investments Limited, respectively. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole
beneficial owner of the aforesaid six companies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Company is not aware of any of the Directors or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies as defined
in the SFO.
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2)  As of 31 December 2024, the following corporation (other than
a Director or the chief executive of the Company) had, or were
taken or deemed to have interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares which were required to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded

2) HE2024F12A31H THEB(BRESESR
RABBEETTEABIN) R 248 B Bk 19
B EIER R BEEIRIEES RS K
FEXVEE 2 K37 B ECAR AR T &R
FIENESS AR NN IRIEE S &
EEPIE336KATATFENECLMAMNR

in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO mOOKB AT
were as follows:
Approximate
Number of percentage
Shares held of the issued
Name of Shareholder Capacity in which shares were/are held (note 3) Shares
BEW
ROHE MHEBTROM
IR E R BFRASG (K1eE 3) BHAOBEDL
CA Indosuez (Switzerland) SA, Custodian (other than an exempt 163,436,308 (L) 5.06%

custodian interest)

REA(ERRRE AEREI)

Singapore Branch (note 4)
CA Indosuez (Switzerland) SA,
Singapore Branch (#1:£4)

(3) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(4) CA Indosuez (Switzerland) SA, Singapore Branch is the
custodian of and accustomed to act under the direction of Raise
Sino Investments Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no other
corporation which/person (other than a Director or the chief
executive of the Company) who had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which were
required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than disclosed in Note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the Financial Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Financial
Year and up to the date of this report.

(3) FEILEZALTREOHEAR -

(4) CA Indosuez (Switzerland) SA, Singapore
Branch /& Raise Sino Investments Limited A%
EABBERBEHEERITE -

Br EXFTIEE SN 202412 4318 ¢
MEEMEE AL(BRESXIARGRST
BABINRIRMDSEERD P HEEREE S
MEAEEHIEXVEBRE 2 R 3D W IE AR
AR REBRAFEENERSAR - R0
NARBIREE S M ERDE 336 15REA
FHRENZLMANEZIAR

EERBROVESF 2ER

BRI RRMIE22MPEESIN - AR
A 2 AT AAT P B 2 RIS AN B R 4F E () By )
BESETARY  BERARB 2EFAHEK
AR R ST A B AR B 2 B sE 75 M &

fm ©

EEEH
MERANMBFEEARE BN L FEE
MERARBBEEGUEAERRB2ERE
FITRIEZEH) °
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Bye-laws and subject to the relevant
provisions therein, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which he/she may incur in or
sustain by the execution of his/her duty as a director of the
Company or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and
senior management of the Company in respect of legal action
against them in the course of execution of their duties in
good faith.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above and Note 22 to the financial statements,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares were entered into by the Company during the
reporting period or subsisted at the end of the Financial Year.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, other than the interests disclosed in
the section headed “Directors’ interests in shares, underlying
shares and debentures”, the Company is not aware of any
other person who held interests or short positions in 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OR TRANSACTIONS
USE OF PROCEEDS OF A SUBSIDIARY

In 2018, Huabao Flavours completed its initial public offering
("IPO"), raising gross proceeds amounted to approximately
RMB2,377 million. After deducting issuance expenses, the
net proceeds amounted to approximately RMB2,312 million.
Huabao Flavours was successfully listed on the ChiNext Market
of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 300741).

As of 31 December 2023, the balance of unutilised net
proceeds, amounting to approximately RMB1,368.62 million,
and the accumulated interest and cash management income,
amounting to approximately RMB291.74 million, were
brought forward to the Financial Year. As of 31 December
2024, Huabao Flavours had utilised approximately RMB951.27
million, representing approximately 41.15% of the net
proceeds.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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The table below sets forth the allocation and status of utilisation
of the net proceeds as of 31 December 2024 and the expected

HZE2024F 128318 EXFEIELE
RBEEAERAEZFHEENFERHRENT

=

timeline of the use of the unutilised net proceeds:
Proceeds
allocated
Proceeds after
allocated the previous
Use of IPO proceeds at the IPO change
Bl—H
IPO CHE S
IPOEEES AR BEESHE BEELHIE
(RMB (RMB
millions) millions)

Actual

utilised
Unutilised proceeds Unutilised
proceeds during the proceeds
as of year ended as of
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2024 2024

HZ2024 5
HZ2023 5 128318 ®BZ2024%
1283188 tEE 1283188
RAEAB BREAN KEAB
BEES EfEe BEE¥S
(RMB (RMB (RMB
millions) millions) millions)

(ARBEER) (ARREER) (AR%®EER) (ARBEERL) (AR¥EER)

Huabao Technology Innovation Center

449.

and Supporting Facilities Project

("Huabao TechInno Project”) @
EEROBBREIF PO KA EREEE

(TZEReaIHPLIER]) @

Huabao Digital Transformation Project

("Huabao Digital Project”) @
EEROHMLERIER
([FEEHMLER]) O

Special account for the unutilised proceeds
("Special Account”) @

N/A
TER

ERASADREERF([FRER]) @

Total ™
o

(1M

Accumulated interest and cash management income in the
amounts of RMB291.74 million and RMB331.39 million for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 respectively were
excluded.

The Huabao Techlnno Project aims to build a new science and
technology innovation center for research on food flavours,
tobacco flavours and new tobacco materials, etc, as well as
a talent apartment building to provide residential support
for recruited talent. The expected investment amount for the
project was RMB449.9742 million, with proceeds transferred
from the Lhasa Pure Land Healthy Food Project (“Huabao Lhasa
Project”) and Huabao H&K Food Flavours and Food Technology
Development Project, initially expected to be fully utilised on

9742

60.00

889.56

440.55 (0.73) 439.82
38.51 (7.32) 31.19
889.56 - 889.56
1,368.62 (8.05) 1,360.57

2Rl B B = 2023 4F 202412 A31H 1b
FEEANMNELREEBRAARKE 29,174
BITRARE33,1398 7T °

EERAFOEEETZENATE —REKA
FHROE BRARAAER EAEK - 11
EEMHREME M—RAFTRE - B3lEA
TIREBEFEERRE  BHERBEFIEELER
AR 44,997 42 BT * R2022 FHEERE
FrRERRER([EENEEE ) RESEIL
ERRATRBERRMBMAEEEEA - ZN
TETEFT R 2022F 12 A31 B(ER2022F E T
BE2025F 12 A3 B )R A EHSA - &£
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or before 31 December 2022, with the timeline postponed to
31 December 2025 in 2022. At the board meeting of Huabao
Flavours held on 30 March 2023, the expected date for full
utilisation of the proceeds was further delayed to 31 December
2026. At the board meeting of Huabao Flavours held on 26
March 2024, the expected date was once again postponed to
31 December 2027.

The Huabao Digital Project aims to build an integrated service
platform through digital transformation, which includes three
parts: application front-end, capability middle-end, and basic
backend, to realize the digital transformation of enterprises
and improve operational efficiency. The expected investment
amount for the project was RMB60.00 million, which was
transferred from the Huabao Lhasa Project in 2022, with full
utilisation expected on or before 31 December 2023. At the
board meeting of Huabao Flavours held on 25 March 2022, the
expected date for full utilisation of the proceeds was delayed to
31 December 2024. At the board meeting of Huabao Flavours
held on 26 March 2024, the expected date for full utilisation
of the proceeds was further delayed to 31 December 2026. As
of the date of this report, the remaining unutilised proceeds
allocated to this project are proposed to be fully utilised in
accordance with the intentions and expected timelines disclosed
in this report.

According to Article 5 of the Regulatory Guidelines for Listed
Companies No.2 — Regulatory Requirements in Respect of
Management and Use of Proceeds Raised by Listed Companies
((ETRAAIEEHESIFE2H- LT RAFEEELERNEANEE S
3K) ), the special account is designated solely for the deposition
of proceeds and shall not be used for funds other than
proceeds or for any other purposes. Pursuant to Article 6, the
proceeds shall be utilised in accordance with the intended use
set out in the prospectus or other public offering documents.
Any changes in a use of proceeds set out in the prospectus
or other public offering documents by public companies shall
be subject to a resolution of the general meeting. Article 8
stipulates that the proceeds which are temporarily idle may be
subject to cash management. As of 31 December 2024, the
balance of Special Account was mainly consists of special funds
that have not yet been allocated following the termination of
certain projects. Huabao Flavours would, in accordance with the
Regulatory Guidelines for Listed Companies No.2 — Regulatory
Requirements in Respect of Management and Use of Proceeds
Raised by Listed Companies ( ( FTTARIEE 55| E295- FH A A
SEESEEBENFEHAMEEZK) ), submit new projects to the
shareholders'meeting of Huabao Flavours for approval including,
but not limited to, the investment amount of the projects and
the timeline for the use of the funds thereof, after a decision
has been made by the board of directors of Huabao Flavours.
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INVESTMENT PLAN PROGRESS ADJUSTMENT OF
A PROJECT RELATED TO THE USE OF PROCEEDS -
HUABAO TECHINNO PROJECT

Huabao Flavours held the 16th meeting of the 3rd session
of its board of directors and the 11th meeting of the 3rd
supervisory board respectively on 28 March 2025. During
these meetings, Huabao Flavours reviewed and approved the
"Proposal for Adjusting the Investment Plan Progress of a
Project Related to the Use of Proceeds” and agreed to revise
the investment plan progress for Huabao Techlnno Project.
This proposal does not involve any changes to the intended
use of proceeds and does not require submission to Huabao
Flavours’ shareholders’ meeting for approval.

The original expected investment amount for the Huabao
Techinno Project was RMB449.9742 million. The required land
designation will be changed from industrial land to research
and development land. The conversion of the owned land and
the relevant land acquisition has been completed, and the
relevant government departments are handling the land use
procedures and subsequent matters. Therefore, based on the
actual progress of the project’'s land construction, Huabao
Flavours, after comprehensive evaluation, proposes to adjust
the annual investment plan for the Huabao Techinno Project,
with date for the project to meet the conditions for its
intended use being moved from the original scheduled date of
31 December 2027 to 30 June 2029.

The Board considers that adjusting the investment plan
progress of a project related to the use of proceeds will not
have any material adverse impact on the existing business
and operations of the Group and is in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. Save as disclosed
in this report, the Board confirms that there are no other
changes to the intended use of the unutilised proceeds.

The Company, though Huabao Flavours will continuously
assess the plans for the use of unutilised proceeds and may
revise or amend such plans where necessary to adopt to the
changing market conditions to strive for a better business
performance of the Group.

AERBIBRABRETEEE —EH
MAlFROTEE

FEERMN2025F3 A28 D RIBHRE=RE
BEFEE+TANEE  FoEEEEFT X
S BRBBET(EANARELERERR
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44,997 42870 FimG Tt ERATHEH
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R ABRE T B ST - BT B RE SR IEAE
WIERAMFERBESHE - Eilt - RIEEE =
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Significant Investment

During the Year, in order to maximise the utilisation of the
surplus cash balances in the capital account without affecting
the operational liquidity, the Group’s subsidiaries utilised part
of their bank balances to subscribe for the financial products
offered by the banks in China with a view to achieving higher
interest yields whilst maintaining high liquidity and relatively
low risk exposure.

Considering the capital-protected nature of the financial
products, the relatively low risk exposure, the better rate
of return than normal bank deposits generally offered by
commercial banks in the PRC, the relatively shorter terms
to maturity, and the financial products were funded by the
surplus cash balances of the Group and are highly liquid,
the Company considered that the financial products would
provide the Group with better earnings in the long term than
making normal bank deposits with terms offered by licensed
commercial banks in the PRC and the investment in the
financial products would not affect the working capital or the
operation of the Group.

As of 31 December 2024, the aggregate of the outstanding
investment amount of the financial products subscribed
by members of the Group from the banks in China
amounted to approximately RMB645 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB3,818 million), with a fair value
of approximately RMB649 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB3,848 million), accounting for 4.3% of
the Company’s total assets at year-end (31 December 2023:
24.0%).

As of 31 December 2024, the outstanding investment
amount of the financial products subscribed by the Group in
a single bank as of the end of the Year did not exceed 5%
of the Group’s total assets. During the Year, announcements
regarding individual financial products (if applicable) have
been made. The Company will continue to monitor market
conditions and assess investment opportunities to optimize
its investment portfolio. The Company will remain focused
on maintaining a balance between risk and return to achieve
sustainable growth and financial stability.
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Disclosure of Non-Fulfillment of Profit Guarantee under
Rule 14.36B of the Listing Rules

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated
8 March 2022, 9 August 2023, 11 March 2024, 8 October
2024, 4 November 2024 and 26 February 2025 (collectively,
the "Announcements”) respectively.

On 8 March 2022, Huabao Flavours, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company whose shares are listed on the
ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
300741), entered into a share transfer agreement (the
“Share Transfer Agreement”) with Shanghai Keli Enterprise
Management and Consulting Company Limited* (L8R F
PEEEEREMR Q) (“Keli Enterprise”), Qian Rong (#
#) and Wong Kam Wing (Z1%£8) (the beneficial controllers
of Keli Enterprise) and other related parties. Pursuant to the
Share Transfer Agreement, Huabao Flavours agreed to acquire
an additional 27% equity interest in Shanghai Yifang Rural
Technology Holdings Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Yifang”) for a total
consideration of RMB121.5 million in cash. Upon completion
of the transaction, Huabao Flavours held approximately 67 %
interest in Shanghai Yifang and Shanghai Yifang became an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of Huabao Flavours
and the financial results of Shanghai Yifang have been
consolidated into the financial statements of Huabao Flavours
since March 2022.

Pursuant to the Share Transfer Agreement, among
others, Huabao Flavours, Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing
are obligated to fulfill their respective capital increase
commitments as scheduled in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in Shanghai Yifang. Additionally, Qian Rong and
Wong Kam Wing have agreed to undertake the performance
undertaking and compensation obligations in favor of Huabao
Flavours. The performance undertaking period is a three-year
period, commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2024 (the "Performance Undertaking Period”). During the
Performance Undertaking Period, Shanghai Yifang is required
to achieve the following consolidated net profits: (i) at least
RMB41.00 million for 2022, (ii) at least RMB55.00 million
for 2023, and (iii) at least RMB74.00 million for 2024. In the
event that Shanghai Yifang fails to fulfill the performance
undertaking by the expiry of the Performance Undertaking
Period, Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing shall compensate
Huabao Flavours in cash within 15 days following the issuance
of Shanghai Yifang's 2024 annual audit report.

BEBEAREERLTHRAE14.36BIKIETH
FERBZHE

RN A NG BEH B A202243 A8H -
202348 HA9H 2024438118 - 20244
10 A8H 2024911 A48 &20254%2 A
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Based on the financial information of Shanghai Yifang, the
actual net loss for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023
and 2024 amounted to approximately RMB42,195,600,
RMB65,755,900 and RMB70,036,000 respectively. The
performance shortfall for the years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 amounted to approximately RMB83,195,600,
RMB120,755,900 and RMB144,036,000 respectively.

The actual performance of Shanghai Yifang for the years
2022, 2023 and 2024 did not meet the guaranteed profit
targets set by Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing.

The Share Transfer Agreement did not provide any option
for Huabao Flavours to sell the equity interests in Shanghai
Yifang or any part thereof back to Qian Rong and Wong Kam
Wing. However, the consideration will be adjusted after the
expiry of the Performance Undertaking Period in accordance
with the Share Transfer Agreement, should Shanghai Yifang
fail to meet the Performance Undertaking. In addition,
Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing previously failed to fulfill
the obligations on paying the agreed additional capital,
constituting a material breach of their undertakings under the
Share Transfer Agreement. At the same time, considering that
Shanghai Yifang has sustained a loss during the Performance
Undertaking Period, Huabao Flavours initiated arbitration
proceedings against Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing as
respondents (the "“Arbitration”) at the Shanghai International
Arbitration Center (the “Arbitration Center”) in 2023. Please
refer to the Announcements for details of the Arbitration and
its results.

Given the material breach of Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing
for failure to fulfill their capital increase obligations, and
to safeguard the benefits of Huabao Flavours as well as the
legitimate rights and interests of investors, Huabao Flavours
separately submitted relevant materials and documents to
the Arbitration Center for an arbitration application and
preservation of assets. In accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Civil Code of the People’s Republic of
China and the undertakings set forth in the Share Transfer
Agreement, Huabao Flavours requested Qian Rong and Wong
Kam Wing fulfil the capital increase obligations specified
in the Share Transfer Agreement through Keli Enterprise,
compensate for a loss totaling RMB28,410,400 and bear the
corresponding arbitration fees, legal fees, assets preservation
fees, preservation guarantee fees and other associated costs.
In November 2024, Huabao Flavours received the “Notice of
Acceptance for Arbitration” issued by the Arbitration Center.
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Directors’ Report

Based on the fact that Shanghai Yifang's Performance
Undertaking Period has expired and it has continued to suffer
losses during the Performance Undertaking Period, Huabao
Flavours submitted an application to the Arbitration Center to
modify the Arbitration claims. According to the performance
compensation calculation formula stipulated in the Share
Transfer Agreement, Huabao Flavours requested a ruling that
Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing should pay RMB606 million
in performance compensation to Huabao Flavour and also
bear the corresponding legal fees, property preservation fees,
security fees, and other costs for the realization of creditor’s
rights. The total amount of claim relating to the Arbitration is
approximately RMB636 million. On 25 February 2025, Huabao
Flavours received a letter from the Arbitration Center agreeing
to the modification of the Arbitration claims.

According to Shanghai Yifang's 2024 annual audit report and
the performance compensation calculation formula stipulated
in the Share Transfer Agreement, Qian Rong and Wong Kam
Wing should compensate RMB 617.1661 million to Huabao
Flavours. Huabao Flavours will submit an application to the
Arbitration Center to modify the Arbitration claims.

As of the date of this report, as the Arbitration has not
yet begun, the Group is unable to preciously predict the
final outcome or evaluate the impact of the Arbitration on
the Group’'s financial position. Should there be any further
developments regarding the Arbitration, the Company will
make further announcements to inform the shareholders
and the public as and when appropriate in accordance with
relevant requirements.

Based on the current situation of Shanghai Yifang and its
available actions to be considered, the Board is of the view
that the claimed amount submitted to the Arbitration is fair
and reasonable and in the best interest of the Company and
shareholders as a whole.
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Directors’ Report

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 March 2025, the board of directors of Huabao Flavours,
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary as well as a principal
subsidiary of the Company approved the termination of the
share incentive scheme (the “Huabao Flavours Share Incentive
Scheme”), subject to the shareholders’ approval of Huabao
Flavours at its shareholders’ meeting to be held on 18 April
2025 in accordance with the terms of Huabao Flavours Share
Incentive Scheme and the applicable laws of The People’s
Republic of China (the “Termination”).

Upon Termination, all unvested restricted shares shall not be
vested.

In accordance with relevant regulations of the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the Termination
requires accelerated vesting, and the expected share-based
compensation expenses of approximately RMB70 million
will be recognised in 2025. The impact of share-based
compensation expenses on the net profit of the Company and
Huabao Flavours shall be subject to the final audit result by
the auditors.

The Termination does not relate to nor have any impact on
the share structure of the Company.

Except for the disclosed above and elsewhere in this report,
there were no significant events after the reporting period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Financial Year, the percentage of revenue from sales
of goods or rendering services attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers in aggregate accounted for approximately
14.3% (2023: 16.2%) and the largest customer contributed
approximately 3.5% (2023: 5.4%) to the revenue from
sales of goods or rendering services of the Group and the
percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately
14.8% (2023: 15.0%) and the largest supplier contributed
approximately 9.8% (2023: 7.4%) to the purchases of the
Group.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or
any Shareholders (which, to the best of knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital (excluding any treasury shares)) had any interest
in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.
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Directors’ Report

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group'’s connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions are primarily classified based on (I) the connected
transactions with Guangdong Tobacco Company; and (ll) the
continuing connected transactions between the Group and
Broad Far Group.

n

Connected transactions with Guangdong Tobacco
Company

The Company indirectly holds 51% equity interests
in Guangzhou Hua Fang, which is regarded as an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Guangdong Tobacco Company holds a 16.3% equity
interests in Guangzhou Hua Fang. In addition, the
Company indirectly holds approximately 55.375% equity
interests in Guangdong Jinke, which is regarded as an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Guangdong Tobacco holds a 17.5% equity interest in
Guangdong Jinke. Guangdong Tobacco Company is
regarded as a connected person at the subsidiary level
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Transactions
between the Group and Guangdong Tobacco Company
constitute connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

The Group did not enter into any framework agreement
with any members of Guangdong Tobacco Company in
2023 and 2024.

References are made to the Company’s announcements
dated 27 February 2024, 21 June 2024 and 3 January
2025 respectively (collectively, the “Announcements”).
Since one or more of the applicable percentage
ratios of the transaction amounts of the transactions
contemplated under the Purchase Orders (collectively,
the "“Purchase Orders”) between members of the Group
and members of Guangdong Tobacco Company for sale
and purchase of flavours (tobacco flavours), tobacco
raw materials, etc., on an aggregated basis, exceeds 1%
but not more than 5%, such transactions contemplated
under the Purchase Orders are subject to the reporting,
annual review, and announcement requirements, but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements.
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Reference is made to the Company’s announcement
dated 4 July 2024. As the highest of the applicable
percentage ratios (as defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing
Rules) in relation to the Purchase Orders aggregated
under Rules 14A.81 and 14A.82 exceeds 5%, such
transactions are subject to the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements.

As (i) Guangdong Tobacco Company are regarded
as connected persons at the subsidiary level of the
Company; (ii) the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Purchase Orders are on
normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) the Board
(including all the independent non-executive Directors)
has approved the continuing connected transactions
and confirmed that the terms of such continuing
connected transactions are fair and reasonable and
that such continuing connected transactions are on
normal commercial terms or better and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, the
continuing connected transactions contemplated under
the purchase orders are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements, but are exempt from the
circular, independent financial advice and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.101
of the Listing Rules.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount
for the connected transactions between the Group
and members of Guangdong Tobacco Company, as
mentioned above, was approximately RMB117.9 million
(2023: approximately RMB169.5 million) which exceeded
1% but not more than 5% of the applicable percentage
ratios.
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RAFBFE  BRFERARRANEHE
P B AR T ERRBR EREZRKH

Set out below are the principal terms of the Purchase
Orders placed by Guangdong Tobacco Company with

members of the Group for the Financial Year: IR -
Amount in RMB THERBARYE
Transaction
No. of Amount
Date of Date of Acceptance Purchase  (exclusive
Purchase Order of Purchase Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter Orders of tax)
R5LE
RETERY ERXAH JERA AECH BHER TEYE (FEH)
From 16 January 2024 to From 19 January 2024 Guangdong The Group Provision of tobacco raw 105 117.9 million
23 December 2024 to 30 December Tobacco materials by the Group to
2024 Company Guangdong Tobacco Company
2024517166% 204518198% EXPERE  A%HE AEEAERTELF 105 117961

2024512 523 2024512 A30H REBREERE

IWTERBIEMS XZTBEANF
BRIAREHES - WEIRBITER - KK
BEETAREFNRBEOBRT - KR
RHE BRI RIRTETRS -

For all the purchase orders, payment of the transaction
amounts was settled in arrears by cash transfer. Upon
receipt of the Purchase Orders and in compliance with
the internal control system, the Group would carry out
transactions in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Sale Agreement.

The transactions between Guangdong Tobacco Company
and the Group are subject to aggregation under the
Listing Rules. The Company will continue to monitor the
transaction amounts between the Group and Guangdong
Tobacco Company and re-comply with all applicable

RELTARA BERTPERAREARHE
ZHENZBEETAHAE - ARRH
BEERAKREEERFERANKS
T UEBHETLETRAEI14ATIR
THAEBERMNBR  HENNERRE

reporting, disclosure and, if applicable and required, LR RRBLEREE o
independent shareholders’ requirements under Chapter

14A of the Listing Rules.
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(I) Continuing connected transactions with Broad Far

Group

On 14 March 2023, Chemactive entered into a
framework agreement with Broad Far (“Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which Chemactive and its
subsidiaries shall provide tobacco related raw materials
and related services to Broad Far Group for a term of
2 years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024
(both days inclusive). The price shall be based on
implementation of bidding prices (if applicable) or
market prices. Specifically prices and terms payable
to Chemactive and its subsidiaries shall be no less
favourable than those terms offered by independent
third party customers for provision of similar products
and services in its ordinary and usual course of business
and other terms that are consistent with industry practice
in general.

Chemactive is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Broad Far is ultimately controlled and
beneficially owned by Madam Chu and therefore is an
associate of a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, transactions between
the Group and Broad Far Group under the Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual caps under the Framework Agreement, as
detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 14
March 2023, were originally set at RMB18.0 million and
RMB25.0 million for the years ending 31 December 2023
and 2024, respectively. As referenced in the Company’s
announcement dated 27 October 2023, the Company
revised the annual cap under the Framework Agreement
for the year ending 31 December 2023 to RMB33.5
million while the annual cap for the year ending 2024
remains unchanged at RMB25 million. For details,
please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 27
October 2023.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount
under the Framework Agreement was approximately
RMB5.6 million (2023: RMB30.9 million).
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The Company confirms that the execution and implementation
of the specific agreements under the above continuing
connected transactions during the Financial Year have
followed the pricing principles of such continuing connected
transactions. The aforesaid continuing connected transactions
have been reviewed by the INEDs of the Company. The
INEDs confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged the independent auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers to report on the Group's
abovementioned continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’
and with reference to Practice Note 740 'Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued to
the Company their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the abovementioned continuing
connected transactions for the Financial Year in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered
into by the Group during the Financial Year are set out in Note
38 to the consolidated financial statements. None of these
related party transactions constitutes a disclosable connected
transaction as defined under the Listing Rules, except for the
transactions described in this paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions”, in
respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares
as defined under the Listing Rules). The Company did not hold
any treasury shares as at 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 50 to 83 of
this annual report.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this report, as at 31
December 2024, none of the members of the Group was
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no
material litigation or claim was pending, threatened or made
against any member of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available and to the
best of the Directors’ belief and knowledge, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float throughout the
Financial Year and up to the date of this report, as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By Order of the Board
CHU Lam Yiu
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
pwec

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUABAO INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 151 to 287, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended,

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to

38 3 B BT R

HPEFFTH B NERBFTSTHARCEANEHE

impairment of goodwill: A °
How our audit addressed RPN ETOfERE
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter BAREEE REETEE
Impairment of goodwill  Our procedures in relation to EERE B EEERER
management’s impairment BT HETHRETFE
Refer to Note 4 (Critical assessment of goodwill Mz BEREN #F:
accounting estimates and  included: Ta(AREEEAET
judgements) and Note 9 RAE)MMTo(E — HMEE - ¥

(Intangible assets) to the
consolidated financial
statements, as at 31
December 2024, the Group
had a total cost of goodwill
balance amounting to
RMB5,952,968,000

which was arisen

from acquisitions in
previous years. As at

31 December 2024, an
accumulated impairment
of RMB3,020,233,000

has been recognised.
Impairment charge
amounting to
RMB630,887,000 was
recognised in current year,
of which RMB504,558,000
was in respect of the cash-
generating units ("CGUs")
of Flavours Subgroup,
RMB97,020,000 in respect
of the CGUs of Guangdong
Jinke Reconstituted
Tobacco Leaves Co.,

Ltd. (“Reconstituted
Tobacco Leaves”), and
RMB29,309,000 in respect
of the CGUs of Yancheng
City Chunzhu Aroma

Co., Ltd ("Yancheng
Chunzhu"), respectively.

- We understood,
evaluated and tested
management’s process
and controls in respect
of the impairment of
goodwill and assessed
the inherent risk of
material misstatement by
considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty
and level of other
inherent risk factors,
such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to
management bias or
fraud.

- We evaluated the
historical accuracy of the
plan and forecast by, for
example, comparing the
forecast used in the prior
year model to the actual
performance of the
business in the current
year.
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How our audit addressed B E W EE
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter ARETSE HARETSE
Management tests at - We assessed whether EEEREKNE26 — HHREELE
least annually whether the identification of KKt 2.7 BaE R &
goodwill is subject to any CGUs and allocation of AEREELSEFAR GRS
impairment, in accordance goodwill for impairment HEESE B EMR ol eR M
with the accounting policy assessment aligned with B -HEeEAEUD BME 5%
stated in Note 2.6 and our understanding of AEKESEERER XBEEBHN
Note 2.7. The recoverable the Group's business NEBEREEEER EE—3 o
amount of CGUs has been activities. REHAEEMEFRD

determined based on the

BREIHEE -

ERMERER

higher of their fair value - We obtained valuation EHEZM
less costs of disposal and reports issued HZMEIEERESR W AT
their value in use amounts. by independent EHEERENELTE e -
valuers engaged by PRSI NI & k= 0
We focus on auditing the management. ARAEMETIEE — HBE AT
impairment of goodwill MHTE -  HERE RO VA
including the related - We assessed the R E B R B R HEBITRED
disclosures because the independence, REEAN  BEARH AR E B S
estimation of recoverable professional competence KAERRENEE 1TaHE o
amount is subject to high and objectivity of M HRBEERE
degree of estimation independent valuers. ME--BAMBEE — ZAAPERH

uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the
impairment of goodwill
is considered significant
due to subjectivity of
significant assumptions
used, including budgeted
gross margin, estimated
pre-tax discount rate and
forecast and terminal
growth rates, and
significant judgements
involved in selecting data.

We evaluated the
appropriateness of the
goodwill impairment
testing methodology
adopted by management
with the involvement of
our in-house experts.
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How our audit addressed B H Tt 4 B2 18

Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter ARETSE BRETEE
- We evaluated the - HERE®RXRR
underlying key EmEERB

assumptions of budgeted
gross margin and
forecast and terminal
growth rates used in the
cash flow forecast taking
into account historical
results and market
developments.

We evaluated the
reasonableness of the
pre-tax discount rate
used in the calculation
by evaluating the cost of
capital of the respective
CGUs, referring to
comparable companies
(e.g. capital structure,
etc.) and taking into
account the specific
circumstances of the
respective CGUs, and
comparing with the
industry or market data.

We evaluated
management’s sensitivity
analysis of the key
assumptions in the
goodwill impairment
assessment, including
budgeted gross
margin, estimated pre-
tax discount rate and
forecast and terminal
growth rates.
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How our audit addressed RPN ET R
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter ARETSE BRETEE
- We also considered - ERTHEEE
whether the judgements BEHEMED
made in selecting data FE = B A RE
would give rise to XPEFEER
indicators of possible Elmm o

management bias.

- We tested the
mathematical accuracy
of the underlying value
in use calculation.

- We assessed the
adequacy of the
disclosures related to the
impairment of goodwill
in the context of the
applicable financial
reporting framework.

We considered that
management’s significant
judgements and assumptions
applied in the assessment of
impairment of goodwill were
supportable by the evidence
we obtained.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chow Sai Keung.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of e BBARR R
Financial Position

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

As at 31 December

®12H31H
Note 2024 2023
B &E 2024 F 2023 F
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - MR RERE 6 2,228,802 2,193,713
Right-of-use assets CRREEE 7 373,927 374,411
Investment properties A 8 24,840 27,382
Intangible assets mEEE 9 3,462,208 4,187,984
Investments in associates REEERR 2" E 10 235,033 432,442
Investments in jointly controlled entities R IEEHIEE ZIHE 11 26,820 22,130
Financial assets at fair value through LAnEEFZEAH
other comprehensive income FEFARMEE
Wz o REE 13 12,455 10,378
Financial assets at fair value NAnEEERH
through profit or loss gEEt AlER
ZEREE 18 145,030 190,136
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISIHEE 14 273,086 205,579
Other non-current assets HmIEme)EE 15 56,348 -
6,838,549 7,644,155
Current assets REBEE
Biological assets EEE - 210
Inventories & 16 893,330 994,592
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H Ath fE WG IE 17 860,105 930,782
Financial assets at fair value through LAREBEFEAEER
other comprehensive income ST AHEMEEEE
ZERMEE 13 971 23,168
Financial assets at fair value through LAREBEFEAEER
profit or loss DEFTABR
ZERMEE 18 706,890 3,869,711
Assets held for sale BIEHEEE 19 140,000 -
Cash and bank balances Be MIBTTER 20 5,562,231 2,539,493
8,163,527 8,357,956
Total assets BEE 15,002,076 16,002,111
EQUITY E#H
Capital and reserves attributable to ZAATERZFEA
the Company’s equity holders EERAR #E
Share capital fig A 21 328,619 328,619
Reserves & 23 4,503,576 4,248,159
Retained earnings REB A A 24 7,246,313 7,903,653
12,078,508 12,480,431
Non-controlling interests FEEFI RS 1,641,848 1,790,706
Total equity HEER 13,720,356 14,271,137
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Consolidated Statement of mE AR R R
Financial Position
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

As at 31 December

M12H31H
Note 2024 2023
ihg=2 2024 20234
LIABILITIES 8E&
Non-current liabilities FREBAE
Borrowings BxR 26 = 36,000
Financial liability for non-controlling FEVE I R R ROh B
interest put option TRAE 25 = 147,656
Lease liabilities HEAE 7 26,003 28,365
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFEHAE 14 115,602 124,960
Other payables H T 5RI8 27 11,130 11,446
152,735 348,427
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings B% 26 194,000 419,250
Lease liabilities HEAE 7 17,747 16,554
Trade and other payables B 5 RHE M ENRIE 27 689,749 613,899
Current income tax liabilities BEHMEHAas 101,782 172,012
Contract liabilities AREE 5 125,707 160,832
1,128,985 1,382,547
Total liabilities HwWEE 1,281,720 1,730,974
Total equity and liabilities HEZNREE 15,002,076 16,002,111

The above consolidated statement of financial position should — _F#ll&R& B F5AA 5% 5% FE B AR P P9 5 — O B8
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 151 to 287 were approved 1512287 EM M B HRE S R 2025F3 A
by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and were signed 28 BEEZEZERAFEIEFET o

on its behalf.
Mr. XIA Liqun Mr. LAM Ka Yu
EREEE MEFEE
Director Director
E -
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Consolidated Income Statement

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

mERER

(BRBEAES  IEERAUARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12831HILEE

Note 2024 2023
Bt 5E 2024 20234
Revenue BE 5 3,373,265 3,307,839
Cost of goods sold SHE B 29 (1,931,821) (1,838,474)
Gross profit EX 1,441,444 1,469,365
Other income and other gains — net Hm A RHEME—F88 28 149,273 146,608
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSHEEMS 29 (370,150) (326,809)
Administrative expenses 1THE A 29 (930,894) (830,866)
Impairment of goodwill EERE 9 (630,887) (56,502)
Net impairment losses on financial assets & gt & E Rl (B8 K F 58 (60,732) (23,745)
Operating (loss)/profit EE(BE) BF (401,946) 378,051
Finance income B U A 76,802 84,952
Finance costs & A A (21,018) (24,846)
Finance income — net B — F58 31 55,784 60,106
Share of results of associates and JEAE B 2R B M R
jointly controlled entities HEE s ¥E 10, 11 (7,144) 59
Provision for impairment relating to BERNRIREZ
the investment in an associate B 10 (49,119) (22,291)
(Loss)/profit before income tax MBLAT(B51R),BF (402,425) 415,925
Income tax expense FriSFif X 32 (56,432) (125,442)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE(FE) BA (458,857) 290,483
Attributable to: FEqL -
Equity holders of the Company RAREZFEA (385,509) 233,633
Non-controlling interests JEE A (73,348) 56,850
(458,857) 290,483
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/ ZAEERQATEZIZEA
profit attributable to the Company’'s EENER(EE) BF RMB cents RMB cents
equity holders for the year AR%ESD AR%ED
Basic and diluted HAREE 33 (11.94) 7.23

The above consolidated income statement should be read in _Fill4r & YR KR FEEIEIEN T — FRI:E -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

REEEKWER

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12831HILEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE(EE) /BF (458,857) 290,483
Other comprehensive income: Hit2mElE :
Items that will not be reclassified to THEF FIEZ B 9 E H
profit or loss
Fair value changes of equity investments LAREEFEAHEEHTA
at fair value through other comprehensive  Hftt2EUzE 2 EFIRE 2
income, net of tax BB ANEES 1,765 (183,855)
Currency translation differences of the RRRREIEGINER 2
Company and its non-foreign operations BEEIRE ETE 43,611 39,307
Items that may be reclassified to A] 3 7 ¥ 2 1R 2 9 H B
profit or loss
Currency translation differences BINE BB EE
of foreign operations (10,139) 39
Other comprehensive income/(loss) AEERBREEMBEE
for the year,net of tax Wz (ER) 35,237 (144,509)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income AEERBEEZE
for the year, net of tax (B8 W B5E (423,620) 145,974
Total comprehensive (loss)/income Eh2mE(ER) RS EE
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company RRGERFER A (357,656) 77,810
Non-controlling interests PR (65,964) 68,164
(423,620) 145,974
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income — F#lt4x 7 7 FE B AR FE BT A — OFBIE -

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of mERRBEX
Changes in Equity
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
RRARERAEAER

Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves earnings Total interests equity

Pt R HE  REEA B FERMEE  mER

Balance at 1 January 2023 RUBE1R1BHE 328619 4380460 7,941,787 | 12,650,866 1,906,572 14,557,438
Fair value changes on financial assets at fair value WA EBEREEERYI AL

through other comprehensive income, net of tax ENE EREAE KA

MEE 23 - (183855 - | (183,859) - (183855

Currency translation differences ERHEZE - 28,032 - 28,032 1,314 39,346
Profit for the year KERRA - - D333 | 233633 56850 290483
Total comprehensive loss for the year ended HZUBENANALEEN

31 December 2023 EENER - (155823) 233633 77810 68,164 145974
Transactions with owners in their ARDRARBANRS

capacity as owners:
Appropriations from net profit RAHIEN BU - 19419 (19419) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests RSN EET ANRE - - - - (184030)  (184,030)
Share-based payment - Value of employee services FhaERNEN-EEREEE 0 - 4,103 - 4,103 - 4,103
Special dividends for the year ended RREXAEZNNE1R31A

31 December 2022 paid to shareholders LLEEZERIRE 3 - - (148,866) | (148866) - (148,866)
Interim dividends for the six months ended ARRRAHE2023%6730H

30 June 2023 paid to shareholders ARz R RS 3 - - (47306) | (47,306) - 47,300)
Special dividends for the six months ended ARERAEZ 2023567300

30 June 2023 paid to shareholders IEAERZERIRE 3 - - (561760 | (56,176) - (56,176)
Total transactions with owners BEEARSAE - BSR QNTET) | (248245)  (184030)  (432.279)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R0BENANBHE 328,619 4248159 7903653 | 12,480,431 1,790,706 14,271,137
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Consolidated Statement of

Changes in Equity

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BRRBEREN

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

B EBEANARETTIIR)

ALARERAARE
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital  Reserves  earnings Total interests equity
W3k R i REERA gt FEGMER 8
Balance at 1 January 2024 RWUE1A1RBE 328,619 4248159 7,903,653 | 12,480,431 1,790,706 14,271,137
Fair value changes on financial assets at fair value WAABEFEEEEDT AL
through other comprehensive income, net of tax ENE ERMEE L RREN
MEEY 23 - 1,765 - 1,765 - 1,765
Currency translation differences EHhEEE - 26,088 - | 26,088 7138 3341
Loss for the year FEEBE - - (385509) | (385509)  (73,348)  (458,857)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ended HZNUENANALEEN
31 December 2024 el 5 -t - 1853 (385509 | (357.65)  (65964)  (423,620)
Transactions with owners in their BANTREANR R
capacity as owners:
Appropriations from net profit RAEHEN BU - N8 (1863) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests mERSIMERT HARE - - - - (68818)  (68,818)
Dividends payable to non-controlling interests MR EERRANRE - - - - (435 (2423)
Bxpiry of put option liability upon maturity of E e e
put option arrangement REBELT pE| - 165427 - | 16542 - 165427
Share-based payment - Value of employee services RiVREROIA-EEREEE 2 - 30485 - | 39485 9064 48549
Acquisition of equity interest in subsidiaries WEREAARE - (4,362) - (4,362) 1,095 (3,267)
Disposal of equity interest in a subsidiary HENEAFRE - 5,151 - 5,151 - 5,151
Final dividends for the year ended HRRTAEZN3E12831R
31 December 2023 paid to shareholders FERZHRRE 34 - - (3495 | (23.495) - (134%)
Special dividends for the year ended HREXAEZNBE12831R
31 December 2023 paid to shareholders LLEE 2 BRIkRE 34 - - (123389) | (123,349) - (123389
Interim dividends for the six months ended HREXAEZ204%6530R
30 June 2024 paid to shareholders ARz R SRS 34 - - (8,839) (8,839) - (8.839)
Special dividends for the six months ended HRRRTHZ2024%6730H
30 June 2024 paid to shareholders IEAERZERIRE 34 - - (94.285) | (94,285) - (94.285)
Total transactions with owners BREARSAE - 0IS6A (1831) | (44267)  (82,894)  (127,161)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R20UE1 RN ARE 328,619 4503576 7,246,313 | 12,078,508 1,641,848 13,720,356
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be iSRS IR EEFEN T —HEE -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

" _\éiﬁﬁﬁii

(BRBEAES  IEERAUARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12831HILEE

Note 2024 2023
B 5E 2024 F 20234
Cash flows from operating activities ZEZEHEHE
Cash generated from operations EEBEECRS 35(a) 883,706 1,186,645
Income tax paid [=ERPEIEE T (204,004) (221,379)
Net cash generated from EETEEEZ
operating activities b e E 679,702 965,266
Cash flows from investing activities REZENEELSHE
Acquisition of a subsidiary W BE BT /&8 A 7] 10 3,931 -
Acquisitions of equity interest
in associates PN /NIl T 10 (7,000) -
Disposal of subsidiaries and associates HEWB AR KL QT (775) 14,837

Purchases of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

BALXAREEAERER

B ABRCEREE (10,361,000)
HEARREBEAERE

HE It ABRZERMEE

(13,551,646)

FT1SRI8 13,632,836 11,378,162
Purchases of right-of-use assets for FEA i AR 2
land use rights FHREEE (11,608) (15,558)
Purchases of property, plant and BAME BERZRBER
equipment and intangible assets E B E (287,156) (446,111)
Purchases of investment properties BAREEYE - (788)
Proceeds from disposal of property, MEME - SRR
plant and equipment FriS a8 35(b) 15,030 15,545
Short-term time deposits placed FARBTEBRER (2,080,000) (95,760)
Short-term time deposits released TRENRE B BRE AR 95,760 -
Long-term time deposits placed FARAEEFHR (51,435) -
Dividends received S 4,465 12,776
Interest received B UF & 56,079 83,857
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETEEE (FTA)
investing activities ZHREFHE 1,009,127 (2,604,686)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

" _\éiﬁﬁﬁii
(BR=AEHEAEIN

IR BIINARETLIIR)

Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Cash flows from financing activities BEZENELSHE
Special dividends for the year ended MRS EHE
31 December 2023 2023412 A31H
paid to shareholders IHFEZ RIS (123,349) -
Final dividends for the year ended MR AEE
31 December 2023 2023412 A31H
paid to shareholders I FEZRERE (23,495) -
Special dividends for the six months MR AEE
ended 30 June 2024 2024F 6 A30H
paid to shareholders R A 2RI B (94,285) -
Interim dividends for the six months MR FEE
ended 30 June 2024 2024F 6 A30H
paid to shareholders R EA Z R B (8,839) -
Special dividends for the year ended MRREEE
31 December 2022 202212 A31H
paid to shareholders IHFE 2 BRI E = (148,866)
Interim dividends for the six months MR EE
ended 30 June 2023 20236 A30H
paid to shareholders IENER 2 R B - (47,306)
Special dividends for the six months MR AEE
ended 30 June 2023 202346 A30H
paid to shareholders N EA 2RI B - (56,176)
Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests () FE 12 1l M A 2 ST AR S (68,818) (184,030)
Acquisitions of additional equity
interests in non-wholly owned
subsidiaries from M FEFE M RSB B OF
non-controlling interests 2 EM B R R EE SN AE (5,310) -
(Increase) /decrease in deposit HHERRES
for short-term borrowings (&) R (25,550) 18,650
New bank borrowings raised FIEIRITE R 297,000 632,550
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIEITER (558,250) (855,000)
Principal elements of lease payments HENZZAEI D (32,191) (24,880)
Interest elements of lease payments HENZZHEID (1,829) (1,550)
Interest paid related to bank HIRTTER M EMAERE
borrowings and others B F B (1,474) (7,588)
Net cash used in financing activities ®EZEFMIAZRELSTE (646,390) (674,196)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRIReSEYIEM,
cash equivalents ORA ) #58 1,042,439 (2,313,616)
Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year FUzREEREEED 2,381,028 4,668,475
Effects of exchange rate change on BE¥BhEHRe kA
cash and cash equivalents ZEMHZE 19,726 26,169
Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year ERZESRASLED 3,443,193 2,381,028
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be  FilisEAIIRESRERELEMBENTT —fRIE -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are mainly engaged in the research and development,
production, distribution and sale of flavours and
fragrances, and food ingredients, tobacco raw materials,
aroma raw materials and condiment products in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Ms. Chu Lam
Yiu (“Ms.Chu”), who is the Chairlady of the Board of
Directors, holds approximately 71% beneficial equity
interest in the Company as at 31 December 2024.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of RMB (“RMB'000") unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have
been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the material accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The consolidated financial statements
are for the Group consisting of the Company and it's
subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("HKCO")

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the HKCO Cap.
622.

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative
literature:

e Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
e Hong Kong Accounting Standards

° Interpretations developed by the HKICPA

(b) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI") and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL"), which are
carried at fair value.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c)

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The Group has applied the following
amendments or annual improvements for the
first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2024:

o Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Non-current liabilities
with covenants — Amendments to HKAS
1

e Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause — Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (Revised)

e Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback -
Amendments to HKFRS 16

. Supplier Finance Arrangements —
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

The amendments listed above did not have
material impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future
periods.
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2.1 REEXE(E)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EARSHBERBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) New and amended standards and

interpretations not yet adopted

The following new and amended standards
and interpretations have been issued but are
not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group:

2.1 RAREEAE)

(d) HFARERAZHERREHE
ERIBIEET
AEBELERERAATEA
B AT R A RO 3 28 Bl B 3R
BEAMER] Rk

Effective for the
financial year
beginning on

or after
RT3 BHH
Z BB
MRFEEBER

Amendments to HKAS 21

FRGERIE 21 5RIER] = Bt

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Disclosures’ on classification
and measurement
of financial instruments
ERITASHEREMEET

Standards 9 and

HKFRS Accounting Standards 7
BERUVBMEERE IR

BV BMEERE 7 RIERT

Annual improvements to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 11

SRASHENZFE

Accounting Standards

BEMBHRERMNETENFE BEUBHR

Lack of Exchangeability

1 January 2025
20251 H1H
1 January 2026
20261 A 1H

1 January 2026

2026 F1 A1 H

oA M — 25 11 fif

New standards HKFRS
Accounting Standards 18

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

MERFEBMBREERNE 185 MBBRRN2ZIILEE

1 January 2027

20271 A1 H

The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new
or revised standards, amendments and
interpretations, certain of which are relevant
to the Group’s operations. According to the
preliminary assessment made by the directors
of the Company, these standards, amendments
or interpretations are not expected to have a
material impact on the Group in the current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

Inter-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

(i) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition
method to account for business
combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the
former owners of the acquired business
and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement and fair value
of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership
interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date
fair value, unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved
in stages, carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9
either in profit or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case
of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the income
statement.

Changes in ownership interests

When the Group ceases to consolidate
or equity account for an investment
because of a loss of control, joint control
or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value becomes the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(b) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control
or joint control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method
of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount
is increased or decreased to recognise the
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the
investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an
associate, any difference between the cost of
the associate and the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in consolidated other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interests
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(b) Associates (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value and recognises
the amount in provision for impairment
relating to the investment in an associate in
the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream
and downstream transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised in
the Group's financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.
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Financial Statements
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(c)

Jointly controlled entity

Investments in joint arrangements are
classified either as joint operations or joint
ventures, depending on the contractual rights
and obligations each investor has, rather than
the legal structure of the joint arrangement.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be
joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting,
interests in joint ventures are initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses and movements
in other comprehensive income. When the
Group’'s share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interests in the joint
ventures (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint ventures),
the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint
ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have
been changed to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HKD") and majority of the subsidiaries of the
Group operate in the PRC and their functional
currency are RMB. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except when deferred in equity as
qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income
statement within other income and other
gains — net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. For example, translation differences on
non-monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as
equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
reporting date;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss
of joint control over a jointly controlled entity
that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group's losing control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated currency translation differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (that is, reductions in
the Group's ownership interest in associates
or jointly controlled entities that do not result
in the Group's losing significant influence
or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange difference is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

172

2.

4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress and immature bearer
plants represent the direct costs of construction
of property, plant and equipment incurred plus
interest capitalised less any impairment losses. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time the relevant assets are
completed and available for their intended use.
The Group's fruit trees qualify as bearer plants
under the definition in HKAS 41 “Agriculture”
and are therefore accounted for under the rules
for plant and equipment. Fruit trees are classified
as immature until the fruits can be commercially
harvested. At that point they are reclassified as
mature and depreciation commences. Immature
fruit trees are measured at accumulated cost less
impairment.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated
at historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

24

2.5

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 20-35 years
Plant and machinery 3-20 years
Mature bearer plants 21.5-25 years
Motor vehicles 3-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-10 years
Leasehold improvements 3-10 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment and leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of
their useful life or the lease term, unless the entity
expects to use the assets beyond the lease term.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount
is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within other income and other
gains — net, in the consolidated income statement.

Investment properties

Investment properties are held for long-term rental
yields or for capital appreciation or both and are
not occupied by the Group. Commercial properties
held under leases held for rental yields and are
not occupied by the Group are recognised as
investment properties.

The Group measured its investment properties
at cost, including related transaction costs and
where applicable borrowing costs. Depreciation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost over their useful life at about 15 years.

If an item of owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property because its use has changed,
the carrying amount of the item at the date of
transfer is equal to the carrying amount of the
investment property measured by the cost model.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

Intangible assets

(a)

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to
which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the entity at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the CGU or group of CGUs level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
or the group of CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated is compared to the recoverable
amount of the unit, which is the higher of
value in use (“VIU") and the fair value less
costs to disposal (“FVLCOD"). Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and
is not subsequently reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

Intangible assets (Continued)

(b)

(0

(d)

(e)

Customer relationships and non-
competition agreement

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalised separately
from goodwill and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses
are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and
licenses acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. They have a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of
trademarks and licenses over their estimated
useful lives of 10 to 20 years.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Patents

Patents include purchased technology and
skills acquired from third parties. They have
a finite useful life and carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of the technology and skills over their
estimated useful life of 3 to 10 years.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for
example goodwill or intangible assets not ready to
use, are not subject to amortisation and are tested
at least annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s FVLCOD and VIU. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting date.

Investments and other financial assets
(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income or through profit
or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(a) Classification (Continued)

(b)

(c)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or
loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

e Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other income and
other gains - net together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVOCI: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss and recognised in other
income and other gains - net. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in other income and other gains - net
and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.

Financial assets at FVPL: Assets that
do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that
is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within other income and other gains
- net in the period in which it arises.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income
and other gains - net when the Group's right
to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in other income and
other gains - net in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair
value.

Impairment

The Group assesses the expected credit losses
on a forward-looking basis associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value ("NRV"). Cost comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter
being allocated on the basis of normal operating
capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of
inventory on the basis of weighted average costs.
Costs of purchased inventory are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts. NRV is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional,
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair
value. If collection of trade and other receivables
is expected in one year or less (or longer if in
the normal operating cycle of the business), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

The Group holds the trade and other receivables
with the objective of collecting the contractual cash
flows and therefore measured them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Details about the Group’s impairment policies and
the calculation of the loss allowance are provided
in Note 3.1(b).
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Interest in an associate classified as held for

sale

The carrying amount of assets classified as held
for sale will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use
and a sale is considered highly probable. They are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell, except for assets
such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from
employee benefits, financial assets and investment
property that are carried at fair value and groups of
contracts within the scope of HKFRS 17 “Insurance
Contracts”, which are specifically exempt from this
requirement. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group entered into a shares transfer
agreement in which the Group will divest its
interest in an associate.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the assets held for sale
to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised
for any subsequent increases in fair value less
costs to sell of the assets held for sale, but not in
excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously
recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised
by the date of the sale of the non-current assets
classified as held for sale is recognised at the date
of derecognition.

Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised
while they are classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
presented separately from the other assets in the
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RRMEE
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B BHEEREEI - FIESEHUARETTIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREHHEBEE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.12 Cash and cash equivalents 2NRERAESEEY
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, BebhReEEYWREFHEERES -
deposits held at call with banks and other short- RITANTREEME RS RE T
term highly liquid investments with original ®E HIBPBEA=MHAHILAT -
maturities of three months or less that are readily WHEREBRAEMEENTE 2 HEE
convertible to known amounts of cash and which ERNEBEZCER -
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.
2.13 Borrowings 213 EX
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, EFRBRAABEINBREENR S
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are ERRIAER - ERERIZEH
subsequently measured at amortised cost; any RATIER : FTB R (R SKA)
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction HELEEMNEREENAERF
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in EEREFPERNTERERER -

the consolidated income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest

method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are BRIUEBERBMERIZNERWEHD
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the HEHMHMEKTRULRER %E
extent that it is probable that some or all of the AERBERHR %Eﬁﬁ EUL TS
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is AT BRREEEEFIRIAL -
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent MR BEEFE Eﬂ‘ﬁfﬁjé\aﬂg A& 15
there is no evidence that it is probable that some FRAERIER - AIZEBEAER
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is EEREESRIENTAN R » Wik
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services BREM R E AR o

and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless BRIEAEEAERKHKEBENEER
the Group has an unconditional right to defer Lkﬁzﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ*”\uflﬂ el
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months EXDBEARRBAE-

after the reporting period.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the
consolidated income statement in the period in
which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense and
exchange differences arising from foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs. The exchange
gains and losses that are an adjustment to interest
costs include the interest rate differential between
borrowing costs that would be incurred if the entity
had borrowed funds in its functional currency, and
the borrowing costs actually incurred on foreign
currency borrowings. Such amounts are estimated
based on interest rates on similar borrowings in the
entity’s functional currency.

2.15 Employee benefits

(a) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as trade and other
payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans which
are available to all relevant employees. These
plans are generally funded through payments
to schemes established by governments
or trustee-administered funds. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays contributions on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis
into a separate fund, and the Group has
no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees
the benefits relating to employee services
in the current and prior years. The Group's
contributions to the defined contribution plans
are expensed as incurred and not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the plans prior to vesting fully in
the contributions.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Financial liability for non-controlling interest

put option (“NCI put option”)

NCI put option is the financial instrument granted
by the Group that non-controlling interest may
have the right to request the Group to purchase
the equity instrument they held for cash or other
financial assets when certain conditions are met.
If the Group does not have the unconditional right
to avoid delivering cash or another financial assets
under the NCI put option, a financial liability is to
be recognised at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows. Subsequently, if the Group
revises its estimates of payments, the Group
will adjust the carrying amount of the financial
liability to reflect actual and revised estimated cash
outflows. The Group will recalculate the carrying
amount by computing the present value of revised
estimated future cash outflows at the financial
instrument’s original effective interest rate and
the adjustments will be recognised as changes in
finance cost in the consolidated income statement.
If the NCI put option expires without delivery, the
carrying amount of the liability is reclassified to
equity. The financial liability for NCI put option are
classified as current liabilities unless the NCI put
option can only be exercised 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group
measures its tax balances either based on the
most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using
the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.
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2.

4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.18 Share-based payment

(a) Employee share scheme

As disclosed in Note 22, Guangdong Jiahao
Foodstuff Co., Ltd. (“Guangdong Jiahao")
and Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd.
(“Huabao Flavours”), the subsidiaries of the
Group operates equity-settled share-based
compensation plans, under which Guangdong
Jiahao and Huabao Flavours granted equity
instruments to their employees and employees
of their subsidiaries in exchange for their
service.

The fair value of the employee service
received in exchange for the grant of equity
instruments is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted:

* Including any market performance
conditions (e.g., the entity’s share price);

e Excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (e.g., profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

e Including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g., the requirement for
employees to save or holdings shares for
a specific period of time).
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2.

4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Share-based payment (Continued)

(a)

Employee share scheme (Continued)

Non-market performance and service
conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of equity instruments that
are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which
is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant
date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognising
the expense during the period between service
commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

2.19 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales
of goods and services in the ordinary course of the
Group's activities. Revenue is shown, net of value-
added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and
after eliminating sales with the Group. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity;
and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities, as described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of
the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the asset may
transfer over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

e creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an
enforce able right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effect of a financing component if it is
significant.

2.20 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grants will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group
identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-
operations with its operating units. The Board
provides principles for overall risk management,
as well as policies covering specific areas, such as
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed
to foreign exchange risk primarily
through financial instruments that are
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency in which they
are measured. The functional currency
of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB, and the
functional currency of the HK subsidiaries
is HKD. The majority of the subsidiaries of
the Group operate in the PRC and most
of their transactions are denominated in
RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risks, mainly with respect to
HKD, United States dollars (“USD") and
Indonesia Rupiah(”IDR"), being the
main foreign currencies in which the
Group's financial assets and liabilities
denominated.
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BI¥EKBEE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
If HKD, USD and IDR had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB during
the year ended 31 December 2024, with
all other factors remaining unchanged,
the profit after income tax for the year
would have been affected as follows:

3.1 BIEKBEZE(E)
(a) THHEE(E)
(i)  SMEREER(E)
HE2024F 128318 1E
FERN - BESE X
TREEREARER
B/ B2E5%  mATBEH
mlﬁﬁ%Xﬂ'W%
NFE BRI 18 & F
20T

Change of profit after income tax
Increase/(decrease)
TERBERBFN
#in,/ CEa)
For the year ended
31 December

BZE12831BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234

Group rEE
- Strengthened by 5% —FE5% 62,445 49,994
- Weakened by 5% —BE5% (62,445) (49,994)

(if)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the
Group does not have significant interest-
bearing assets. Fluctuation of market
rates does not have a significant impact
to the Group's performance.

The Group's exposure to changes in
interest rates is mainly attributable to
its borrowings which are at floating
rates and expose the Group to cash flow
interest-rate risk, details of which have
been disclosed in Note 26. The Group
currently does not use any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. However, the Group will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, there is no
borrowings at floating rates and there
is no interest rate risk exposure (As at
31 December 2023, if interest rates on
borrowings at floating rates had been
50 basis point higher or lower with all
other variables held constant, interest
charges for the year ended 31 December
2023 would increase/decrease by
approximately RMB11,000).

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk mainly
from listed equity investments held
by the Group, which are classified as
financial assets at FVPL (Note 18).

Management considers the price risk
exposure for certain biological assets is
insignificant to the Group. The sensitivity
analysis is determined based on the
exposure to price risk of the listed equity
investments classified as financial assets
at FVPL at the end of each reporting
period. If the fair values of the listed
equity investments classified as financial
assets at FVPL held by the Group had
been 5% higher/lower, profit after
income tax for the year would have been
approximately RMB1,416,000 higher/
lower for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB1,091,000).
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and bank balances,
contractual cash flows of debt instruments
carried at amortised cost, at FVPL and at
FVOCI.

(b)

(i)

Risk management and Security

For cash and bank balances, the Group
manages the credit risk by placing all the
bank deposits in state-owned financial
institutions or reputable banks which
are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions.

The Group does not require collateral
from the debtors on the outstanding
balances. To manage the credit risk in
respect of trade and other receivables,
the Group performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its debtors’ financial
condition. The Group has monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover debts. The
Group reviews regularly the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable to
ensure that the adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. Based on the historical credit
losses experienced and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors,
the Group maintains an allowance for
doubtful accounts and actual losses
incurred have been within management’s
expectations.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial
assets that are subject to the credit risk
assessment:

o Cash and bank balances
o Trade receivables

° Other receivables (excluding
prepayments)

° Debt investments carried at FVOCI

Cash and bank balances

While cash and bank balances are also
subject to the impairment requirements
of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment
loss was immaterial as the management
considers that the counterparties are
reputable banks and financial institutions
with high credit ratings. There is no
significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the
use of lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics
and invoice dates. The historical loss
rates for each aging bucket are derived
base on the probability of a receivable
progressing through successive stages of
delinquency to write-off. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to expected loss
rates to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic
factors("MEFs") affecting the ability of
the counterparty to settle the receivables.

The Group has identified certain MEFs
including Producer Price Index, Purchasing
Managers’ Index, Industrial Added Value
and Fixed Asset Investment, which are
assessed to be relevant to the Group’s
trade receivables counterparties’ credit
risk profile. The historical loss rates then
were adjusted based on established
forward-looking model in which these
MEFs were used.
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e MR ME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BI¥EKBEE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

3.1 HEREZE)
(b) EERERE)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) ZEEEZHEE)
Trade receivables (Continued) BHRrWEK(E)
On that basis, the loss allowance for UL EGE £ R2024%F
trade receivables as at 31 December K 20234128318 -
2024 and 2023 is determined as follows: B 5 RN ERE S

As at 31 December 2024

FAUNLARBIR o
2024128 31H
0-1 1-2 2-3 over 3

year years years years Total

0-14 1-25 2-3F  HBB3F &%

Effective expected AR ER
loss rate

Gross carrying amount  BREIE(E

Loss allowance HERERSE

1.88%  60.44%  81.26%  99.00%
645,438 13,117 14,885 96,435 769,875
12,157 7,928 12,095 95,472 127,652

As at 31 December 2023

M2023F12 A31H

0-1 1-2 2-3 over 3
year years years years Total

0-14 1-2% 2-3F  BB3F B

Effective expected A ARAEEE
loss rate

Gross carrying amount  BREIB(E

Loss allowance RERESE

0.48% 21.46% 51.15% 80.26%
625,220 16,580 64,924 32,813 739,537
2,991 3,558 33,211 26,335 66,095
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance for trade receivables
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
reconciles to the opening loss allowance
as follows:

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

3. MBEREEGHE)
3.1 HEREZE)
(b) EERERE)

(ir)

THEEAE(E)
BHRrWEK(E)

B REWRN2024F &
2023F 12 A31H & &
B 4 1 B B ) Rk (B R
BFHET LT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
Opening loss allowance at FORERE
the beginning of the year 66,095 27,704
Provision for impairment B S EBGBE R
loss on trade receivables 62,413 38,535
Written off as uncollectible R 1 2 LA [0 7 4 8 (856) (144)
Closing loss allowance at FREERE
the end of the year 127,652 66,095

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no expectation of recovery.
The creation and release of provision
for impaired receivables have been
included in “net impairment losses on
financial assets” in the consolidated
income statement. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 three-
stage approach to measuring expected
credit losses of other receivables.
The Group makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience.

The Group considers the probability
of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk on
an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. Impairment on other
receivables is measured as 12-month
expected credit losses when there has
been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit loss.
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)

To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

e  external credit rating

e actual or expected significant
adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a
significant change to the debtor's
ability to meet its obligations

e actual or expected significant
changes in the operating results of
the debtor

e significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the
same debtor

e significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
debtor, including changes in the
payment status of debtors in the
Group and changes in the operating
results of the debtor
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BI¥EKBEE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEBREZE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EER(E)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) =EEEZHE(E)
Other receivables (Continued) HAth E WK (4B )

Basis for recognition
of expected credit

Category Company definition of category loss provision

5l BB AERESR FAH 5 A8 R HY R R IB R K

Performing Debtor whose credit risk is in line with 12 month expected losses.
original expectations Where the expected lifetime

of an asset is less than 12
months, expected losses are
measured at its expected
lifetime (stage 1).

% BEHEAEARRTSREH 12EAERER - INREE
WIEHAW EIHA DR 12 @ A -
RIFE BRI R e L ETBHI R E
HI(E—RER)TE -

Underperforming Receivables for which a significant Lifetime expected losses
increase has occurred compared to (stage 2).
original expectations; a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if
interest and/or principal repayments are

past due
RFAME FEWBR KB RTAA ARG N : IARF BHBEHBER(E2HEKR) -

B/ FASEERS  ARERER
JeR\ fen 78 2 4 0

Non-performing Interest and/or principal repayments Lifetime expected losses
(credit impaired) are past due or it becomes probable a (stage 3).
debtor will enter bankruptcy
ER(ERXE) MER /XS EEOMNEBAN BHREHER(ZEIRER) -
BEBR

Write-off Interest and/or principal repayments Asset is written off
are past due and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery

arkz| MEF A EECBBAREES BENHE
2 /9 Uk =] 78 B
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance for other receivables
at 31 December 2024 and 2023

reconciles to the opening loss allowance
as follows:

e MR ME

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

3. MBEREEGHE)
3.1 HEREZE)
(b) EERERE)

(ir)

EHEEZHEE)
Hib sk (8)

E b B W R 2024 F K
202312 A31H B R
B £ {5 82 F 1) 5 (B B
RIFEE AT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
Opening loss allowance at FORERE
the beginning of the year 5,748 27,965
Reversal for impairment loss H b fE W FORE R E
on other receivables (1,681) (14,790)
Written off as uncollectible (A 48 Uk B 1 b 88 (290) (7,427)
Closing loss allowance at FREERE
the end of the year 3,777 5,748

As at 31 December 2024, the gross
carrying amount of other receivables
excluding prepayments was
RMB184,534,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB222,571,000), which is the maximum
risk exposure to loss of other receivables.

M2024%F 12 831 H
HEMElkRmR@E
B THEEENZ &
A K ¥184,534,000 7T
(202312 A831H: A
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(ifi)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Debt investments carried at FVOCI

Debt investments carried at FVOCI
include the debt securities, which are
notes receivable held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets. The identified
impairment loss was immaterial as
the management considers that the
counterparties are reputable banks and
financial institutions with high credit
ratings. There is no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. As
at 31 December 2024, the maximum risk
exposure to debt investments carried at
FVOCI is the carrying amount.

Debt investments at FVPL

The Group is also exposed to credit risk
in relation to debt investments that are
measured at FVPL. The maximum exposure
at the end of the reporting period are the
carrying amount of wealth management
products and contingent consideration,
which are RMB 649,498,000 (2023:
RMB3,847,748,000) and RMB28,630,000
(2023: RMB34,290,000), respectively.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecast is performed in the
operating entities of the Group. The directors
monitor rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs and
that the Group does not breach borrowing
covenants on its borrowing facilities. Such
forecasting takes into consideration the
Group’'s debt financing plans, covenant
compliance, compliance with internal
statement of financial position ratio targets
and if applicable, external regulatory or
legal requirements — for example, currency
restrictions.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the
reporting date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
based on the contractual undiscounted cash
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal
their carrying balances, as the impact of
discounting is not significant.
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3.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BBEMEIE(H)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEREE(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) mEMEEE)
Between Between Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and 3 and 4 and
1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years Total
—ENUT —5ZWE WMEEZE ZEZNE WEZRHE st
At 31 December 2024 R2024% 128318
Borrowings B
(including interest) (RHEAE) 195,047 - - - - 195,047
Trade and other payables B 5 R Eth (A
excluding non-financial (TRE#LR
liabilities B81E) 468,540 = = = - 468,540
Lease liabilities HEAE 21,560 12,524 9,163 5,571 > 48,818
685,147 12,524 9,163 5,571 - 712,805
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12831H
Borrowings B
(including interest) (RHEAE) 421,901 38,412 - - - 460,313
Trade and other payables ~ E 5 REf A
excluding non-financial (TRE#ER
liabilities &81%) 439,133 - - - - 439,133
Financial liability for FEEBI R
NCI put option HEZoRak - 85,887 99,856 - - 185,743
Lease liabilities HEARE 18,098 14,677 5,668 5,785 2,536 46,764
879,132 138,976 105,524 5,785 2,536 1,131,953

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’'s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The
operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient
for investing activities including acquisition of new
businesses.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e MR ME

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BEEERE(H&)
3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 3.2 EXEKBEE(E)
The Group monitors its capital risk based on REEUEARBELREREER
the debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated BB o bbb TR RRE S FRERR A
by dividing the net debt by the total owners’ BMERTE - AEENEKFER
equity. The Group’s net debt is calculated as total BEF(BERDRIFTBER)
borrowings (including current and non-current FZHeLBE2EEY  BAREKEE
borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents. No WIRERREEFBMWESEARANERK
debt-to-equity ratio is presented as the Group had TE - NEEMN2024F K 2023F
net cash surplus as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. 12A31BEBYHEABEL X
AREEERE BT °
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AREBEME
(a) Fair value hierarchy (a) AAEEER
This section explains the judgements and LEDRE T ERESREE
estimates made in determining the fair B~ 7o B B RF BT i A9 ) B A
values of the financial instruments that are hEt A BEmMRPUARAE
recognised and measured at fair value in the BffENEREE - BTET
financial statements. To provide an indication AREEAREBENE AEL
about the reliability of the inputs used in WAISEMN - NEBGESRE
determining fair value, the group has classified ERGHENREED RN =18
its financial instruments into the three levels B - RAET A A SEER
prescribed under the accounting standards. An B ER -
explanation of each level follows underneath
the table.
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(s -8 =8 =B et
At 31 December 2024 R2024%512A31H
Financial assets at FVPL UAfEEGTEER
BB ABREZ
SREE
- Listed equity investments ~ — FHERKE 18 28,762 - - 28,762
- Wealth management -MEEEEM 18
products - - 649,498 649,498
- Unlisted equity investments ~ — 3k F T IRE 18 - - 145030 145,030
- Contingent consideration ~ — B Z£EHE 18 - - 28,630 28,630
Financial assets at FvOoCl ~ AAREBEHERH
FHIAHLMRE
KRz eMEE
- Unlisted equity investments —FRAF EIRIIE EH 13
in the PRC BaRE - - 12,455 12,455
- Debt securities —BHES 13 - - 971 971
28,762 - 836,584 865,346
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e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. B ERKREE(HE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEMLF(E)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AAREEERE)
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Wizt E-F BE E=E it
At 31 December 2023 #2023E12 8310
Financial assets at FVPL UDABEERR
EBABE
tREE
- Listed equity investments ~ — FTEHRE 18 21,963 - - 21,963
- Wealth management -HEEEER 18
products - - 3,847,748 3,847,748
- Unlisted equity investments ~ — 3 FTTERRE 18 - - 155,846 155,846
- Contingent consideration ~ — XA EEHE 18 - - 34,290 34,290
Financial assets at FVOCl  MAREEEAHE
FEIAEMRE
KEzeREE
- Unlisted equity investments ~ — AR EIAI3E £ 13
in the PRC BaRE - - 10,378 10,378
- Debt securities —-EBES 13 - - 23,168 23,168
21,963 - 4,071,430 4,093,393
The different levels have been defined as TRELENERLT ¢

follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as publicly
traded derivatives, and equity securities) is
based on quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the group is
the current bid price. The quoted market price
already incorporates the market’s assumptions
with respect to changes in economic climate
such as rising interest rates and inflation,
as well as changes due to ESG risk. These
instruments are included in level 1.
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Notes to the Consolidated e M IEERERME

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. B ERKREE(HE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEMLF(E)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AAEBEELE)

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data
and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant
inputs is not based on observable market data,
the instrument is included in level 3. This is
the case for unlisted equity securities and for
instruments where ESG risk gives rise to a
significant unobservable adjustment.

There were no transfers of financial assets
between level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair value
hierarchy classifications for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. There are no other
financial instruments that were measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The financial assets of level 1 within the fair
value hierarchy as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 were the listed equity investments
included in financial assets at FVPL. The fair
value of these financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the reporting date. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
The quoted market price used for financial
assets of level 1 held by the Group is the
current bid price.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN
3.

B EBEANARETTIIR)

BEEREE (&)
3.3 QAEEME(E)

(b) Valuation techniques used to determine (b) AAEBEARAEILERE
fair values
Asset-based approach, market approach and —EReREEMRAZMA
income approach are adopted in the valuation BEREREERERE  MiHE
of financial assets of level 3. MU ERIE o
(c) Fair value measurements using significant (c) BRAEXTAEEKHALEE
unobservable inputs (level 3) ETRALEETE(E=ZFE)
The financial assets of level 3 within the fair @12024@*[12023@12)?31
value hierarchy as at 31 December 2024 and CRANRBEERAFHE=
2023 were financial assets at FVOCI and irﬁﬁ?ﬁ%’&ﬁfﬁfﬁd‘gﬂ
financial assets at FVPL. The following table HEHFTAREMEEKRNS
presents the changes of the Group’s financial MEEMUAAABETERE
assets of level 3 within the fair value hierarchy BEAABENEREE T
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2’%5”51' TAREBHEZE2024F
2023: §2023F12A31H IEFER
AABEERTPE=EcmE
ErEL
Unlisted Wealth
equity management Debt  Contingent
investments products securities consideration Total
i Bz 3B
RERE  EEER  BEEF  RERE #it
At 1 January 2023 R2023E1418 205,574 1,594,315 49,794 63,490 1,913,173
Additions NE 8,170 13,545,500 21,860 - 13,675,530
Transfer from associate to HEENACREENE
financial assets at FVOC| NAREEIEAEE
(Note 10) STARM 2 EYER
SREE(ME10) 179,391 - - - 179,391
Disposals HE (4,632) (11,373,530) (148,486) - (11,526,648)
Fair value change recognised in ~ REM 2 EYEPHRH
other comprehensive ArEEE
income (Note 13) (ME13) (185,019) - - - (185,019
Fair value change recognised in R EMBAFEfrliz —
other income and FERERL
other gains - net NAEER (39,249) 81,463 - (29,200) 13,014
Currency translation differences EEHEZE 1,989 - - - 1,989
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A318 166,224 3,847,748 23,168 34,290 4,071,430
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BI¥EKBEE (&)

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEMLF(E)

(c) Fair value measurements using significant

(c) BHAEATTHZHALE

unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued) EBTARLEBETE(EF=ZE)
(#&)
Unlisted Wealth
equity management Debt  Contingent
investments products  securities consideration Total
E3 i BE BT
RERE EEER BEES EERE #3t
At 1 January 2024 R202451 718 166,224 3,847,748 23,168 34,290 4,071,430
Additions RE 423 10,361,000 98,333 - 10,459,756
Disposals ik (1,818) (13,631,019) (120,530) - (13,753,367)
Fair value change recognised in REMZEREPERZ
other comprehensive income DREESR
(Note 13) (&E13) 2,077 - - - 2,077
Fair value change recognised in REMRARE i -
other income and FRTRRL
other gains - net DEEEY (12,326) 71,769 = (5,660) 53,783
Currency translation differences ~ SWAEEH 2,905 - - - 2,905
At 31 December 2024 M2024%E1231R 157,485 649,498 LYl 28,630 836,584
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

A S BAARB T TIIR)
R EE(R)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREBEMG(E)
(d) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair (d) FEZEAZELELLEE
value ZHE
The following table summarises the TRINHEARE=ZEANE
quantitative information about the significant B EMERTAEBERH A
unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value BEH -
measurements.
Relationship of unobservable
Description Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of inputs inputs to fair value
g EE FUREHARE ApgEE TIEERARBELAEENER
At 31 December
#12A318
2024 2023 2024 2023
NUEF ABE WUE 3%
Unlisted equity investment 157,485 166,224 Discount for Lack of Marketability 10%-24%  9%-29.50% The higher the DLoM,
FriERRE ("DLoM") the lower the fair value
Bz mERBLIT BITERBLIES  AEEME
Enterprise Vialue/EBITDA multiple of peers 5.9 6.6 The higher the EV/EBITDA multiple,
("EVIEBITDA") the higher the fair value
5 HEVIEBITDA TSR LVBTDAYS - AAEBEMR
Enterprise Vialue/Sales multiple of peers 2.50-4.60 0.83-5.00  The higher the EV/S multiple,
("EVIS multiple”) the higher the fair value
TR EEEV Sales THEHEVSaestin - ALEERE
Price/Sales multiple of peers 3.07 337 The higher the P/S multiples,
("P/S multiple”) the higher the fair value
TRREPIS mRENSHE  DAEEE
Price/Earnings multiple of peers 15.15-20.28 20 The higher the P/E multiples,
("P/E multiple”) the higher the fair value
EREPIE mREMEES  DABHEE
Wealth management products 649,498 3,847,748 Expected rate of return 0.85%3.29%  1.00%-9.55% The higher the expected rate of retum,
HEERER jili{ek the higher the fair value
EHOREds RABELS
Debt securities m 23,168 Risk-adjusted discount rate 1.25%-1.30%  1.25%-2.60% The higher the risk-adjusted discount
EHEs BRARERR rate, the lower the fair value
BRSEERES RREEME
Contingent consideration 28,630 34,290 Risk-adjusted discount rates 13.89% 14.54%  The higher the risk-adjusted discount
JEFERR BRARERR rates, the lower the fair value
BRSEERES RREEME
Revenue growth rates 8%-~20% 9%~24%  The higher the revenue growth rate,
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. B ERKREE(HE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEMLF(E)

(e) Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department includes a
team that performs the valuations of financial
assets required for financial reporting purposes
with the assistance of an independent valuer
when necessary, including level 3 fair values.
This team reports directly to the chief financial
officer ("CFQ"). Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the
CFO and the valuation team at least once for
every six months, in line with the Group's
reporting dates.

(e) FEEAILZEERE

AEBZHBMRE — @D
M AERUBREEEH
7 WEFEHHBFILFME
ARV E) T S R EEETTA
B BREBAE=-"EARE
Bt/ NEERRAMBEE
(TS5 EL | IESR - M54 ES
Kt NETV IR A EB 2 &
HH&RLDE6EART IR
wmEEREELER -

(f) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the () 72024 12H31H X&2023
fair value of financial assets and liabilities F12A31H AREFHAER
measured at amortised cost approximate their M TR ER/ N - AT
carrying amounts due to the short maturities AEHENEREENEENR
or the impact of discounting is insignificant. AEETDEAERIERS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BRI RAE

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated.
They are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that
may have a financial impact on the entity and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.6 and
Note 2.7. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have
been determined based on the higher of VIU
and FVLCOD. These calculations require the use
of estimates. Details of impairment charge, key
assumptions and impact of possible changes in key
assumptions are disclosed in Note 9.

MEMAE S RIFETE TENBHE
RBEEABRE  BREGRBR N
SHAREREMHWAIERR -

AEBBAKELHERERBRR - B
SEHERTNEESR  ROERBHER
BRAT - PREREEMRAGBZER®E
BERRER T —EMBFEANRIELER
B Z AT RERERWT -

(a) BERME

BEMF26 R2.7AILH € 5T B
R AKESFARABERSHE
BB - CGUR AT UL Bl & 58 Th iR & 5
AEEEAABEBEERAMRE
FHREEET WEFTEHSF
BAfEE - BRERESE  BEERR
MEARBROEEBMEKXNNT
AW OFMETE -
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Estimation of the fair values of financial assets
and financial liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments that are
not traded in active markets are determined
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its
judgements to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the respective fair values of
these financial assets and financial liabilities (Note
3.3).

PRC enterprise income tax and deferred
taxation

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it's probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

PRC enterprise income tax and deferred
taxation (Continued)

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the
PRC approved by the National People’s Congress on
16 March 2007, a 10% withholding tax is levied on
dividends remitted from the PRC entities to overseas
investors with effect from 1 January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate of 5% is applied to Hong Kong
investors as there is a tax treaty between the PRC
and Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty rate is not
automatically granted. The taxpayer needs to apply
to the relevant tax bureau for an approval for the
treaty rate. The directors estimated that a portion
of profits generated by the PRC subsidiaries would
be distributed to their Hong Kong immediate parent
companies and the approval for the treaty rate
will be obtained. Therefore, deferred income tax
liabilities had been provided based on 5% or 10%
of the estimated profits to be remitted to Hong
Kong. The directors of the Company will review the
funding requirements of the Group and revise the
dividend distribution policy of its subsidiaries as
appropriate.

Estimation of financial liability for NCI put
option

The Group granted put option to the non-
controlling interest owners that they have the right
to request the Group to further acquire the equity
interests in a non-wholly owned subsidiary that
held by the non-controlling interest owners when
certain conditions are met. The Group initially
recognise a financial liability at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows under the
put option arrangement, and at the end of each
subsequent period, the Group will review their
estimations. If the Group revises its estimates
of payments, the Group will adjust the carrying
amount of the financial liability to reflect actual
and revised estimated cash outflows and the
adjustments will be recognised in finance cost in
the consolidated income statement.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

()

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s
past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note
3.1(b).

Impairment of inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished
goods are stated at the lower of cost and NRV.
Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated
on the basis of normal operating capacity. Cost
includes the transfer from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges relating
to purchases of raw material, but it excludes
borrowing costs. Costs of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has organised its operations into four main
operating segments:

(1) Flavours and fragrances, and food ingredients (“F&F
and Food ingredients”);

(2) Tobacco raw materials;
(3) Aroma raw materials; and
(4) Condiment.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified
as the executive directors (the “Executive Directors”).
The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Management has determined the operating
segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors consider the business from the
operation’s perspective and assess the performance of
F&F and Food ingredients, tobacco raw materials, aroma
raw materials and condiment segments.

(1) F&F and Food ingredients segment includes research
and development, production and sale of flavours
and fragrances products, and food ingredients.

(2) Tobacco raw materials segment includes research
and development, production and sale of paper-
making reconstituted tobacco leaves and new
materials products that are innovative, functional
and applicable to tobacco industry.

(3) Aroma raw materials segment includes research and
development, manufacture and sale of aroma raw
materials products that are extracted from natural
materials or generated from chemical process.

(4) Condiment segment includes production, sales,
marketing and distribution of condiments.
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5.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BEEERIIER(E)
(CONTINUED)
The segment information for the year ended 31 HE2024F12A3MBIEFEZDEHE
December 2024 is presented below: B27mT -
Year ended 31 December 2024
BEWUENANALEE
F&F and Tobacco Aroma
Food raw raw
ingredients ~ materials  materials  Condiment Others Total
EER
RREH ERRR ERR Bl Hif @t
Total revenue el 1,356,794 486,634 799,312 774,576 509 3,417,825
Inter-segment revenue PAEEER (17,824) (18,940) (7,789) (7) = (44,560)
Segment revenue - net AREXE-FE 1,338,970 467,694 791,523 774,569 509 3,373,265
Segment result PEEE (300,493) (82,136) 22,803 97,592 (139,712) (401,946)
Finance income BHBA 76,802
Finance costs BENK (21,018)
Finance income - net BB -F8 55,784
Share of results of associates [ERBENARER
and jointly controlled entities BHEE % (7.144)
Provision for impairment relating ~ REEARIREZ
to the investment in an associate  JHER&E (49,119)
Loss before income tax BipER (402,425)
Income tax expense FERRX (56,432)
Loss for the year rEEER (458,857)
Depreciation nE 71,320 57,120 69,961 23,106 6,239 221,746
Amortisation B 10,257 9,512 6,000 76,028 2,113 104,510
As at 31 December 2024
R20245128318
F&F and Tobacco Aroma
Food raw raw
ingredients ~ materials ~ materials  Condiment Others Total
EER
RREH BERRR EER Bl Hit @t
Segment assets PEHEE 7424174 2,076,846 1,472,867 3,161,184 867,005 15,002,076
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BEERSIER(E)
(CONTINUED)
The segment information for year ended 31 December HE2023F12A31BIEFEZDHE
2023 is presented below: B27mT -

Year ended 31 December 2023

BEABENANALEE
F&F and Tobacco Aroma
Food raw raw
ingredients ~ materials  materials  Condiment Others Total
EER

RRER ERRH ERR El7 i i
Total revenue ,@é%%ﬁ 1,484,628 485,751 630,255 754,060 - 3,354,694
Inter-segment revenue ARREEE (20,195) (21,091) (5,569) - - (46,855)
Segment revenue - net PHEEE-FE 1,464,433 464,660 624,686 754,060 - 3,307,839
Segment result DEEE 405,526 90,768 (83,412) 116,751 (151,582) 378,051
Finance income FBUA 84,952
Finance costs BENK (24,846)
Finance income - net BBWA -5 60,106

Share of results of associates [ERBENARER
and jointly controlled entities BHER 5B 59

Provision for impairment relating ~ REEARREZ

to the investment in an associate  JHERE (22,291
Profit before income tax BRI 2T 415,925
Income tax expense FERRX (125,442)
Profit for the year REEEA 290,483
Depreciation e 66,679 57,861 64,112 16,890 5,456 210,998
Amortisation B 12,367 8,688 9,105 74,793 1,646 106,599

As at 31 December 2023

#2023512R31H
F&F and Tobacco Aroma
Food raw raw
ingredients ~ materials ~ materials  Condiment Others Total
ERR
RmES  EARN ERR Ak At st
Segment assets NHEE 8,214,006 2,137,936 1,450,550 3,325,617 874,002 16,002,111
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5.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BXERSBEHE)
(CONTINUED)
Segment result represents the (loss)/profit before DHEERRRE DA 2B AI(EE)
income tax earned by each segment without inclusion S BF ERWRERERADENAR
of unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs, M BERA - WA - B E
finance income, share of results of associates and NEI R HERIESER 2 EENE S QA
jointly controlled entities and provision for impairment REZRERE UOIHEEFERR
relating to the investment in an associate. This is the SERERMIGEE 2 REmM@MEE
measure reported to chief operating decision makers for KERREZTNN R -
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.
Segment assets are measured in the same way as SHEERRRVERRERNTES
in financial statements and allocated based on the % WK D E K EARREITHE © B
operations of the segment. Non-current assets other EHRMIAMELEMSHEENLIN G R
than financial instruments and deferred tax assets of 2024F K% 2023412 A 31 HAREBERIE
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are mainly MEBEEFZMAPAE -
located in the PRC.
The Group's revenue is generated from contracts with AEEZWATBHETFHERMES
customers and recognised at a point in time. Revenues WHERE—FHEE - RENTFFEF K
from external customers are derived from the sales to AXERRBEE TEAER -
customers mainly of whom located in the PRC.
Revenue derived from sales made to the single largest HE2024F12A31MHIEFE - KER
external customer for the year ended 31 December 2024 RAIIBE —FP W AGEEEZKA
amounted to 3.5% (2023: 5.4%) of the Group's total 3.5% (20234 : 5.4%) ° FLU A ZH
revenue. These revenues are attributable to F&F and EREEREMER S RERRS S HE
Food ingredients segment and tobacco raw materials HHY o
segment.
(a) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (a) EEEFZEEHEBENERE
The Group has recognised the liabilities related to AEBECHRRETFPEHNBER A
contracts with customers: V-
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Prepayment from customers BPBNER 86,417 127,428
Unrealised sales incentives REBRHIEE B 39,290 33,404
Total contract liabilities HeRAaE 125,707 160,832
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a) Liabilities related to contracts with customers
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Significant changes in contract liabilities

The Group receives payments from customers
based on billing schedule as established in
contracts. Payments are usually received in
advance under the contracts which are mainly
from sales of condiments. The decrease in
contract liabilities were mainly attributable to
the decrease in condiments business.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

e MR ME

(BSAEERES  ESBAUARETIIR)
5. EXBERIMBERE)

(a) EEFZzaREBNAMEE)

() BREEZEXZE
AREBERBEDOENNRE
B PR R FIE - AR
FRE KB #) & 15 5T B AT
B EEANETERBIHEN
Kin - ERBERLHTIER
= K an X AR D o

(i) BEE[EREEBEERZRA

Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Revenue recognised that was EREEFYERAR
included in the contract BER 2 EEREKA
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year 143,781 88,253

All contracts are for periods of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers”, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Contract liabilities related to unrealised

MEARMBRS —FXHE
e RIEF BB ®RE ER
FISHIEPAEHNBA IR
E o ABRBERENARNZ S

R

(iii) 585 2] & 1& 16 B9 79 K 8 51 3%

sales incentives are analysed as follows: EMBHAT
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Unrealised sales incentives TEERN—FANLIEH
expected to be redeemed RERHEERE
within one year 10,056 18,650
Unrealised sales incentives TEHI —F 18 RIA
expected to be redeemed RN E R
over one year 29,234 14,754
39,290 33,404
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e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. Y- BERRHE
Mature  Immature Furniture,
Plant and bearer bearer Motor fixturesand  Leasehold Construction
Buildings  machinery plants plants  vehicles  equipment improvements i progress Others Total
EL . G £E
BF HERRE EEMEY  LEEED it REkE  HEEE  EBIR it &3
At 31 January 2023 RUBE1R1A
Cost i 1123142 15343 38,541 92,011 54,930 256,791 159,963 407,107 2962 3,610,031
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment ~ EFAERAERR (450397 (853879) (1,791) - (09 (181070)  (G44200 (174 962 (1,627,387)
Net book amount EASE 672,745 680,445 36,750 92,1 13,836 75,121 95,543 375,333 - 002,644
Year ended 31 December 2023 BEABE
12831 BLEE
Net book amount at 1 January MATAERSE 672,745 680,445 36,750 92,211 13836 75,121 95,543 375,333 - 042,644
Additions AE 45,626 45,819 - 2,780 2,180 14,495 3,90 306,289 - 420,479
Transfers g 173,43 94,168 842 (842) - 6,861 10746 (285,018) - -
Disposals ik (3.39 (7.205) - - (274 (868) (216) - - (11.802)
Depreciation ik (50,721) (93,253) (2.417) - (3,180) (17.645) (18,083) - - (185,299
Provision for impairment HERR - (47,060) 8504 (20,787) - - - - - (6353
Currency translation differences SHhEES 1470 2449 - - 16 109 - - - 404
Net book amount at 31 December MR BERFE 839,124 675,361 26,671 73422 12,578 78,673 91,280 396,604 - 193713
At 31 December 2023 RBE12 8318
Cost ik 1339152 1,586,908 39,383 94,209 55,942 273,108 173,998 428378 2962 3,994,040
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHAERNERR (500,028 (911,547) (12712) (20,787) (43364)  (194,435) (82.718) (31.774) (2.962) (1,800,327
Net book amount EASE 839,124 675,361 26,671 7342 12,578 18,673 91,280 396,604 - 19713
Year ended 31 December 2024 B0uE
1A3ALER
Net book amount at 1 January MATREESA 839124 675,361 26,671 1342 12,578 78,673 91,280 396,604 - 219718
Additions AE 23,639 2,467 - 1,668 2,965 13523 8,019 203,351 - 275,632
Transfers 1 197,900 20,583 - - - 4,508 562 (477,513) - -
Business combinations e - - - - - 1 - - - 1
Disposals ik (152) (13,384) - (67) (256) (1,082) (129) - - (15,030)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHERT - (424) - - (66) (138) - - - (1,228)
Depreciation it (65,381) (95,694) (2,070) - (2,701 (15,468) (20,922) - - (202,236)
Provision for impairment HERE ] - (5.809) (2,110 (6,384) - - - - - (15483
Currency translation differences EhpEEE (1,8%) (3.872) - - (664) (166) - = = (6,597)
Net book amount at 31 December M2A31RERTE 993,235 819,188 1,831 68,139 11,856 79,301 112,810 148 - 2208802
At 31 December 2024 20245128318
Cost g 1,558,644 1,832,238 39,383 95,810 57,921 289,204 216,450 154,216 2962 4,246,828
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment EAFERERE (65409 (1013050) (17550  (767)  (6065)  (09903)  (103640)  (174)  (296) (2018,026)
Net book amount Ei 993,235 819,188 1,831 68,139 11,856 79,301 112,810 44 - 880
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6.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Depreciation was recorded in the following categories:

e MR ME
(REERBES - HASEAIARBTIIT)
6. WX  HB|RRE(E)

FrELMAT DR

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B831HILEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Manufacturing overheads BEER 157,288 141,570
Administrative expenses THER 44,346 43,065
Selling and marketing expenses HEREERAS 602 664
Total depreciation meEBE 202,236 185,299

(i)

(ii)

The amount represents impairment loss provided
for the bearer plants and plant and machinery due
to the decrease in revenue and operating profit
generated from the CGU of Shanghai Yifang Rual
Technology Holding Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Yifang”)
and the CGU of Yancheng Chunzhu, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, buildings with net book
value of RMB33,023,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB28,661,000) were pledged as collateral for the
Group's short-term borrowings and current portion
of long-term borrowings.

LEASE

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position
shows the following amounts relating to lease:

() HE2BEHENLBETERMEA
R AR _EBZETT 1)CGU ME K HF
1 CGU EE MU AR & R B R A
53 Bl S A 2 AR W A B de 28 e R
fBETRRAVBEIRZR

(i) M2024F12H318  REFEAS
A K #33,023,0007T(20234F 12
A318: A K #28,661,0007T )
MEFERERALTEENEHE
REEHERTH RIS KA

DEE o
7. #HE
(a) REEHBRRARERNESE
BAMBRARBERUTHEES
B e

As at 31 December

®12831H

Note 2024 2023
F 5 2024 F 20234

Right-of-use assets: ERAEEE:
Land use rights + 3h {5 R 4 (i) 328,308 330,591
Properties LES 45,619 43,820
373,927 374,411

Lease liabilities: HEEE

Current mED 17,747 16,554
Non-current JER S 26,003 28,365
43,750 44,919
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BrZHEEEEI -
7. LEASE (CONTINUED) 7. HER)
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a)

statement of financial position (Continued)

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year
ended 31 December 2024 were RMB42,871,000.

B EBEANARETTIIR)

REEMBRARERNETE

(&)

HE2024F12A3MBIEFEE #
FEEEEINEAS AR 42,871,000

7TE o
(i) The Group's interests in right-of-use assets for () ZANEEETHERERLRBE
land use rights represent prepaid operating AEEENESATENNLESE
lease payments and their net book amounts. MEFIERHEREFE -
At 31 December 2024, land use rights with net MR2024F12 A31H » BREZF
book value of RMB10,040,000 were pledged B & AR #10,040,000 7T &Y
as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (31 T AR RERAREE
December 2023: RMB10,584,000). B\ me (2023512
A31H: AR %10,584,000
TT) e
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (b) REZEEWBREANSE
statement
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
Note 2024 2023
B st 2024 F 20234
Depreciation and EREEENITEN
amortisation charge of BER
right-of-use assets:
Land use rights + Mo fE R 12,802 12,583
Properties LIES 23,509 24,080
36,311 36,663
Interest expense MEXZ 31 1,829 1,550
Expense relating to REHEHEER
short-term leases 29 25,323 30,830
The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended HZE204F12A31BEHFENEE
31 December 2024 was RMB53,564,000 (2023: Hemb @5/ AKKES3,564,0007T
RMB57,224,000). (20234 : AR¥57,224,0007T) °
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8.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

8. REMUZE

Land and Construction

B EBEANARETTIIR)

buildings in progress Total
T RiEF HEEIR WEt
Year ended B2ZE2023F
31 December 2023 12A31HILEE
Net book amount at 1 January 21 H 1 BEREFE 6,330 21,002 27,332
Additions NE - 788 788
Transfers % 22,403 (22,403) -
Depreciation e (1,619) - (1,619)
Currency translation differences E¥HRE =% 268 613 881
Net book amount at ®12A31H
31 December FREVFE 27,382 - 27,382
At 31 December 2023 2023 12H831H
Cost DFN 29,414 - 29,414
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (2,032) - (2,032)
Net book amount REFE 27,382 - 27,382
Year ended BZE20245F
31 December 2024 12A831HLEEE
Net book amount at 1 January %1 A1 BEEFE 27,382 = 27,382
Depreciation e (2,001) = (2,001)
Currency translation differences E¥HRE =% (541) = (541)
Net book amount at ®12A31H
31 December EEEFE 24,840 - 24,840
At 31 December 2024 720245 12H831H
Cost %N 28,873 - 28,873
Accumulated depreciation 2T E (4,033) = (4,033)
Net book amount BREFEAE 24,840 = 24,840

Depreciation is included in cost of goods sold in the

consolidated income statement.

FEBEERRGEE WmRNFEERAS -

2024 Annual Report 3§

225



& ¢

: = A =
Notes to the Consolidated e BEmRMEE
Financial Statements
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 9. EFEEE
Trademarks Non-
and Customer  competition Computer
Goodwill licenses relationships ~ agreement software Patents Total
HE BERFUR EFBE  FHRTHE EMEH 4| &t
(a) (b)
At 1 January 2023 R2023E1818
Cost AR 5,953,293 544,922 803,312 3,085 20,083 71,073 7,395,768
Accumulated amortisation ZHEHRAE
and impairment (2,332,844) (172,506) (492,273) (3,013) (11,158) (61,254) (3,073,048)
Net book amount BEFE 3,620,449 372,416 311,039 72 8,925 9819 4,322,720
Year ended BZ023%E
31 December 2023 12A31BLEE
Net book amount at 1 January M ATRRAFE 3,620,449 372,416 311,039 72 8,925 9,819 4,322,720
Additions RE - - - - 23,151 2,481 25,632
Amortisation B - (23,172) (61,883) - (4,665) (4,296) (94,016)
Impairment AfE (56,502) - (9,850) - - - (66,352)
Net book amount at 31 December %12 A31 BREFE 3,563,947 349,244 239,306 72 27,411 8,004 4,187,984
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A318
Cost KA 5,953,293 544,922 803,312 3,085 43,234 73,554 7,421,400
Accumulated amortisation ZHBHLAE
and impairment (2,389,346) (195,678) (564,006) (3,013) (15,823) (65,550) (3,233,416)
Net book amount BE%E 3,563,947 349,244 239,306 7 27,411 8,004 4,187,984
Year ended BEuE
31 December 2024 12A31BLEE
Net book amount at 1 January M ATEERFE 3,563,947 349,244 239,306 72 27,411 8,004 4,187,984
Reduction RE (325) - - - - = (325)
Acquisition e - 6 - - - - 6
Additions RE - 24 - - 11,500 - 11,524
Amortisation B - (23,164) (57,970) - (9,712) (862) (91,708)
Impairment i (630,887)  (14,380) - - - - (645,267)
Currency Translation differences ~ &HMAZEE - - - = (6) = (6)
Net book amount at 31 December 712 A31 BREFE 2,932,735 311,730 181,336 72 29,193 7,142 3,462,208
At 31 December 2024 R2024E 128318
Cost [ 5,952,968 544,952 803,312 3,085 54,728 73,554 7,432,599
Accumulated amortisation ZitEERAE
and impairment (3,020,233) (233,222) (621,976) (3,013) (25,535) (66,412)  (3,970,391)
Net book amount RRFE 2,932,735 311,730 181,336 72 29,193 1,142 3,462,208
Amortisation is included in cost of goods sold, BIEPREEESEXNAS  THRERAMEE
administrative expenses and selling and marketing NiigERRSA -
expenses.
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9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Goodwill is mainly attributable to the anticipated
profitability of operations, the anticipated future
operating synergies and enlarged market share.
Goodwill arising from prior year is allocated to the
Group's CGUs identified. The goodwill is allocated

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

9. EIEE(H)
(a) HEIZAKLITHNAEHANMN

I

T8 HA O R 2R A 15 [R) R A 4

RKETMHHERTE - REBRLAA
FEEAZHEZEC»REEAHEN
CGUs> BmE DB EZCGUs 2 7|1

in CGUs as follows: ™~
As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
H20245128318 12035128318
Reconstituted Reconstituted
Flavours Tobacco Jiahao Flavours Tobacco Jiahao
Subgroup (i) Leaves ("RTL")  Foodstuff (i)~ Others (i) Total  Subgroup () Leaves ("RTL")  Foodstuff (i) Others (i) Total
ERERA(G) BEEE  EERA(I) Bt (i) i FREA() BEES EEAR() i ]

Goodwil BE 681,461 259,148 1,969,377 2,749 2,932,735 1,186,344 356,168 1969377 52,058 3,563,947

(i)  The Flavours Subgroup includes the CGU of (i) ERBREPRENSERERBE
Tabacco Flavours, which consists of companies BEENARIFAKNERER
engaged in the industry of tabacco flavours CGU -
manufacturing.

(i) Jiahao Foodstuff CGU represents the CGU of (il ZZRMCGUEHEZZAEMm
condiments, which consists of Jiahao Foodstuff RARIREKBRRAK A
Limited and its subsidiaries. KR CGU °

(iii) As at 31 December 2024, there were seven (i) BZE2024%F12A31H [H
CGUs included in “Others”, among which the fu] BIETEECGU - EF
CGUs of Shanghai Yifang, Yancheng Chunzhu, EBZEHCGU  BEBHEFMN
Jiangxi Xianghai Biological Technology Co., CGU  TAABEVRIEEA
Ltd. and Amber (XiaMen) Fragrance Co., Ltd. R ABICGUREMRIHER/K
had goodwill impairment. MAERARCGUE B EEER

B
(iv) During the year ended 31 December 2024, (iv) BiZE2024F12H318ILEHF

the carrying amount of the goodwill of
the Flavours Subgroup CGU decreased
by RMB325,000 due to the disposal of a
subsidiary.

B mRHEHBAR B
BHACGUIM A BRI R A
R#325,0007T °
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(Continued)

(a)

(v)

Compounded by the decline in demand, the
change in purchase policy and self-production
by primary customers, the operating revenue
of the Tabacco Flavours and RTL has decreased
for the year ended 31 December 2024, leading
to impairment indicators. As at 31 December
2024, management engaged an independent
valuer to conduct an impairment test
respectively on the goodwill of both CGUs of
the Tabacco Flavours and RTL. In the goodwill
impairment test process, FVLCOD and VIU of
both CGUs of the Tabacco Flavours and RTL
was assessed by using market approach and
income approach respectively. According to
the result of the impairment test, VIU was
higher than FVLCOD and therefore VIU was
adopted to be the recoverable amount of
both CGUs of the Tabacco Flavours and RTL.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, an
impairment loss of RMB504,558,000 was then
recognised for the Tabacco Flavours CGU,
and an impairment loss of RMB 97,020,000
was recognised for the RTL CGU. As at 31
December 2024, the impairment losses
resulted in a reduction in the carrying amount
of the goodwill of the Tabacco Flavours CGU
from RMB1,186,019,000 to RMB681,461,000,
and a reduction in the carrying amount
of the goodwill of the RTL CGU from
RMB356,168,000 to RMB259,148,000,
respectively.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

e MR ME

(B=BHERESN
9.

B EBEANARETTIIR)

BmLEE(HE)

(@)

(&)
(v)

BH E2024% 128318 1IF &F
B HBEFLKTR FERF
KEBREELRETHRAE &
BIEREBCGUM B E &
CGUEZE2024F 12 A31 81t
FEMESEWA TR B ER
BB R 7202412 A 31
H:  ERREEEDT BT
HEE ER BB CGUAM B &
BECGUD RIETT T EER
ERIE o FHARIETTEERE
BIEREE - 2 B LATH 5 A F Uk =
EHEIERBBCGUNEBE
& B CGUHIFVLCOD FVIU °
BEREIAER VIUS
FAFVLCOD + A I 8 B VIUE
AERERCGULBHEBE
MCGUM AT B €58 - E =
202412 A31 BILFE - /&
EERBCGUERRBEEKXA
R# 504,558,000 7T © B &
HCGUERRBBEBARAARE
97,020,0007T ° A 2024 F 12
A31H  BEEXEHER
BERBCGUEZEREERAR
#1,186,019,000 TR 2 & A
R#681,461,0007T © BiEE
HCGUEEFREERARE
356,168,000 TR 2> E AR
259,148,000 7T ©
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9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(Continued)

(a)

(v)

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024,
as affected by weak global economy and
more cautious and conservative end use
consumption, the competition in the domestic
aroma raw materials industry has intensified.
In addition, due to the oversupply of products
in the market, competitors adopted price cuts
to promote sales. During the reporting period,
the prices of aroma raw materials remained
low, and the profit margins of aroma raw
materials reduced, causing the gross profit
margin of Yancheng Chunzhu to decline. The
management engaged an independent valuer
to conduct an impairment test on the goodwill
of the CGU of Yancheng Chunzhu. In the
goodwill impairment test process, FVLCOD and
VIU was assessed by using market approach
and income approach respectively. According
to the result of the impairment test, VIU was
higher than FVLCOD and therefore VIU was
adopted to be the recoverable amount of
the CGU of Yancheng Chunzhu. Based on
the test result, an impairment on goodwill of
RMB29,309,000 was recognised for the CGU
of Yancheng Chunzhu for the year ended 31
December 2024, resulting in a reduction in the
carrying amount of the goodwill of Yancheng
Chunzhu from RMB29,309,000 to zero.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN
9.

B EBEANARETTIIR)

BmLEE(HE)

(@)

(&)
(v)

(&)

HE2024F12A831HIEE
B LEREERE - K558
BYEMEERTEREZZE
BREREITERFEME
HX BRmSESEREBR
Ko B R F R E R E
T AREHRNBERHNERE
BERERNEN - BFEEE®
RFE BRI ERE - Ak
BWEMHEMNETE - EHE
LRE T &AL AT AD ¥ B A
TCGURI R B3 1T 7 R E A
A o AP EAMETT R E R EAIR
B 2 Bl ATH 3B E Fl k& 0%
T EE R HF T CGURIFVLCOD
MVIU - BREBRIFRLER » VIU
SHFVLCOD » AL AVIU
ERBERENCGUA AT IR DE
TR BEBIRER  #=2
2024F12A31BILEE - &
WEMHMCGURERE ERE
AER#29,309,0007T @ EE
By EHEREmMERARE
29,309,000TTREE °
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

9. /\\\ﬁ/ﬁé(mﬁ)

(a) (Continued) (a) (&)
(v) (Continued) ) (#&)
The VIU calculations use pre-tax cash flow VIUREEREREREN AT
projections based on financial budgets Hﬁﬁﬁf*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁZﬁﬁ' Re
prepared by management covering a five-year MEFE - BERFHNRE
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period MmEE A TR TEE KB FIE
are extrapolated using the estimated terminal ﬁtiﬁﬂﬁﬁ Exmiaﬁif\z\?
growth rates below. The terminal growth THBCGUZEKB DB E
rate does not exceed the long-term average $E@E,ﬁﬁﬁi@i§$ TRz
growth rate for the businesses in which the BAIR R BT AT BA IR R I S R %
CGU operates. The discount rates used are EREEDERAAZFER
pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to B HIRT - BEIRERIFA
the relevant segments or entities as below. T?EE’\J%%?&EﬂW%%?&E’ﬁE
Management determined budgeted gross HEE TR EME - 5FEVIU
margin based on past performance and their RS RR YR -
expectations for the market development. The
key assumptions used for VIU calculations are
as follows:
As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
R2014E128318 RABENANE

Flavours Jiahao Flavours Jiahao

Subgroup RTL Foodstuff Others Subgroup Rl Foodstuff Others

ERRA BEEE ERRR 4 B BEEE 580 i
Forecast growth rate BirtR% -40.0%-9.0% -0.4%-9.2% 1.0%-16.2%  -2.9%-34.1% -5.0%~0.0% 2.1%~27.6% 71%-177%  -5.8%~518%
Terminal growth rate KEEERE 0.0% 3.0% 25% 0.0%-3.0% 0.0% 4.0% 3.0% 0.0%-3.0%
Budge ed gross profit margin B E7J% 74.9%-76.3%  45.3%-46.7%  50.4%-52.8%  28.9%~47.2% 826%  47.7%~092%  517%~533%  13.4%-46.0%

re-tax discount rate GEIEES 15.3% 11.1% 14.6%  15.1%-19.3% 16.3% 20.0% 173%  145%-19.0%
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(v)

(Continued)

The recoverable amounts and the headroom
available (the excess of the recoverable
amounts over the carrying amounts) of the
CGU of Flavours Subgroup, CGU of RTL and
CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff are as follows:

e MR ME

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)
9. /\\\ﬁ/ﬁé(lﬂﬁ)
(a) (/IE)
(v) (%)

As at 31 December 2024
R2024512831H

EREANCGU - BEEER
CGUMBEERmMMCGU 2T
U 2] & &8 & AR 28 [ (AT Uk

OEeREEARAMEIDD) IR
N

As at 31 December 2023
R2023F12A318

Flavours Jiahao Flavours Jiahao
Subgroup RTL  Foodstuff  Subgroup RTL Foodstuff
BEREA HEEE EERA BREHE BEEE EERM
Recoverable amount PENEES 872,800 1,056,922 2,915,135 5,689,407 1,049,362 3,317,437
Headroom TREER N/A N/A 345,186 1,282,007 135,373 297,424
As at 31 December 2024, analysis has been M2024F12HA318 K &
performed by the management of the Group EEEEDRCGURN R ER
on the reasonably possible changes in each of BEARNSERRRENSE
the key assumptions, with all other variables A REE B (AT A H A B B8R
held constant, of goodwill impairment tests BAENBRT)ETOM -
of the CGUs. Based on the results of the BRBESNER - BRERIRNE
analysis, reasonably possible changes in the B E eI R EHCGUER
key assumptions would not cause the CGUs’ HEBAETWESEE -
carrying amount to exceed their recoverable
amount.
As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
RUOUENENA RUBENANE
Flavours Subgroup fIL Jiahao Foodstuff Flavours Subgroup R Jiahao Foodstuft
i mElg EEEL] e BEg BN
From To From To from To From To From To From To
B z : H : H i £ # i 8 z
Forecat gt e m W W M UONI62E GMAIN SOSD0% 08628 L%T6H SIE% 1IGITH 12118
Terminal growth rate NA NA NA NA 5% 0.1% NA A 40% 18% 30% 1.2%
Budetedgoss proft magn - 5 A A A WSO 2 O M 75-00% U055 SITHS3% WTHS0
rewdsome  BEEEE A W W (TS S 1 VI n% N0 B% 0% 15
Trademarks mainly represent Peacock, Xinghu, by MEXZEIE 2H MEWL
Samshiang, Chunzhu, Jinba, Jiahao, Zhanwang, E FEN 9B =5 EX-2
Jinchan, and Sanfan trademarks. B =FBEER-
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

e MR ME

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has interests in nine
individually immaterial associates (31 December 2023:
eight), of which one was reclassified as assets held for
sale. The following table analyses the movements of the
carrying amount of the Group’s investments in these
associates and its share of results of these associates.

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in

associates is as follows:

(BRABEAE
10. REE

B EBEANARETTIIR)

RAZKRE

MR2024F 128318 AREBE R LM
(2023512 A318 : \M) W ERE
AWMBE AR EFE —HE
DEARBELHEEE - TROMAEHE
RZEBLERRREZ FRABEEH L E
E(RZEME RRIMESE -

REERRINERREZHOMWT ¢

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

Note 2024 2023
[ 2024 F 2023 %F
At the beginning of the year F4 432,442 691,748
Acquisition of equity interest E%)\it?”ﬁkﬁfﬁﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁ
in Beijing Weikongjian AEI([dERERZEM D)
Technology Co., Ltd. g
("Beijing Weikongjian") 5,000 -
Acquisition of equity interest BARYIMXITEEER
in Shenzhen Maoyuan BRAR(DRYIE T
Enterprise Management (AR EE X TT
Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Maoyuan”) %EEFRAA])
(formerly known as pdiiy
“Shenzhen Huabao
Maoyuan Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd.") i 2,000 -
Provision for impairment ERGEHBEBIERER
relating to the investment NELZ B
in Junjieshang Network
Technology Co., Ltd. - (22,291)
Transferred to financial assets HBHEUAABENS
at FVOC| BHE T AHAM
THWENSREE - (179,391)
Disposal of Yunnan Ruisheng & E R IR A& E R
Tobacco Technology Group (RE)BRAQA]
Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Ruisheng”) (IEmEmFl) - (48,771)
Disposal of Shenzhen Ruili Hj’%/ﬁﬁﬂﬂrhfﬂ BRI
Technology Co., Ltd BRA - (3,100)
Transferred from a subsidiary EHWJ%QEJ@})\ - 779
Dividends received B IR B (1,461) (4,548)
Transfer to investments in WS GIEREAR
subsidiaries upon gaining control ¥ B R R ZI&E iii (2,416) -
Share of results of associates Rt SN (11,834) (2,269)
Impairment loss VRIS 19 (49,119) -
Reclassified as assets held for sale BB ABEHEELE 19 (140,000) -
Exchange difference EHERE 421 285
At the end of the year FR 235,033 432,442

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(i)

(if)

(iii)

In April 2024, the Group invested RMB5,000,000
in Beijing Weikongjian and acquired 49% equity
interest in it. The Group had significant influence
over it as at 31 December 2024.

In January 2024, the Group invested RMB2,000,000
in Shenzhen Maoyuan and acquired 20% equity
interest in it. The Group had significant influence
over it as at 31 December 2024.

Yunnan Nongken Gaoyuan Food Co., Ltd (“Yunnan
Nongken”) has become a subsidiary of the Group
upon the additional acquisition of 30% equity
interest by the Group in June 2024 and the related
loss recognised was RMB902,000 (Note 28). The net
cashflows generated from acquisition of Yunnan
Nongken was RMB3,931,000.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

10. RBERNTRZ2RE(A)

(i)

(if)

(iii)

KEBR2024F48EEARE
5,000,000 7T B A 4b R 0K 25 f 49%
fS#E o B 2024F 12 A31H » A&
EHHEAEFESARTEN -

REBER2024F 1AL EARE
2,000,000 7t 8 AFE I 7T 20% B%
WE o R2024F 12 A31H  A&EH
HEAEBSERTEEN -

REBR2024F6 ARNEZHER
ERERBERAR(IEEAEE])HE
SN30%R%E - BN BAREE 2
MEBAR  WHERABEBARE
902,000 7t (PisE28) - AN EEER
BEMEABRSFAASBAAR
# 3,931,000 7T °
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10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had interests in the

following associates:

e MR ME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

10. REEZE QT2 RE(H\E)
MR2024F 12 A31H - KEB R A TE
ENREAEL

% of
Place of ownership
Name incorporation Interests  Principal activities
L SR ASESEESL EEXR
Yunnan Hongta Blue Eagle Paper PRC 25.10% Manufacture and sales of cigarette
Co., Ltd ("Hongta Blue Eagle”) FE paper and auxiliary products
EHAREEAEERAF([ABER]) FENHEBERERHD M
Beijing Weikongjian PRC 49.00% R&D of Internet of Things technology
b R = + and internet sales of food
)RR AT R B AR SR E B A S
Shenzhen Maoyuan PRC 20.00% Enterprise management consulting and
wEINETT i marketing planning
EEERHZALTISEHEEKE
Xiamen Fengtao Ceramics Co., Ltd (i) PRC 13.04% Manufacture special ceramic
EFBEEEBRAFI) H products, special machinery for water
resources and special equipment for
environmental protection
HEFERERD KEREMAERK
RREARE
Broad Far (Hong Kong) Limited and Hong Kong 21.43% Research and development, production
its subsidiaries B and sales of heat-not-burn tobacco
("Broad Far Group") products
HR(BB)ERARKEMBAR([HERER]) M EEMEEMATIREZEE R
Yingtan Dongwu Technology PRC 35.00%  Produce and sell household
Co., Ltd ("Yingtan Dongwu") HE chemical products
EBERBHEAREARA(EERE]) FEMMHEBRLEER
Hunan Jiapinjiawei Technology PRC 40.57%  Research, develop, produce and sell
Development Group Co., Ltd. FE health food and biological products
("Hunan Jiapinjiawei"”) M FERHERBREMREYVE S
AR REREEERAF
([AmEzmER])
Guizhou Huangguoshu Golden Leaf PRC 40.00%  Produce and sell RTL
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Huangguoshu i FEMHEREESE
Golden Leaf”) (Note 19)
EMNERGGERRERABD(EREEE])
(MFEE19)
PT SPV International Indonesia (“PT SPV") Indonesia 40.00%  Production of tobacco raw-material
PT.SPV International Indonesia ([ PT SPV]) HERAE EEZERRER

The associates are private entities, and no quoted price

is available.

(i)  The Group has significant influence over the
company by representations on its board of

directors.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

The Group has interests in two immaterial joint ventures
as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: two). The
following table analyses the movement of the carrying
amount of the Group’s investments in these jointly
controlled entities, and its share of results of these
jointly controlled entities.

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in
jointly controlled entities is as follows:

(BRREIEAEN - FESBIAARBTTIIR)
RABREHBERZRE

MR2024F 12 A31H AEEBE R & A
(202312 A31H : WA W IE@ER =
A ERZEH EREREZD - TR
AEERZSHEREZEHERENIEEZE
Efﬁﬂ’%@]&ﬁ\ﬁfﬁm—rzxﬂit HIE 58
RERZEHEENESKREZES ST
T~

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE

2024 2023

2024 F 2023%F

At the beginning of the year £ 22,130 19,802

Share of results of jointly controlled entities &1 $t[F12 | & 52 2 45 4,690 2,328

At the end of the year FXR 26,820 22,130
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had interests in the P2024F 12 A31H  REBRUTH

following jointly controlled entities:

EHEHIEREEA R

% of
Place of ownership
Name incorporation interests Principal activities
=L AMALEE FisERAESL TEXK
Wuxi Jintou Huikai Emerging PRC 40.00%  Equity investment, investment
Industry Venture Capital Fund T management, asset management and
Partnership (Limited Partnership) other activities
BHeREFMEEZRIERE BERE  REERBREEEERSLY
EeRBrX(ARAR)
Shanghai Miou Food Technology PRC 20.00% Purchase and sale of agricultural
Co., Ltd (“Shanghai Miou") ] products
FERBRAHMRARLDR RERHERER
(T EBRE])
The above entities are accounted for as jointly controlled BE(ABER) L EBIEARER

entities of the Group, whereby the Group and the
counterparty have joint control and rights to the net
assets of the arrangement, pursuant to Article of
Association.

The jointly controlled entities are private entities and no
quoted market price is available.

MARZEGERARK: $$léﬁiﬁa%¥ﬁ
FHZREWFEESLB KRZEHIER -

(][
|§|<
H
o

W EHREREREAFLAETEL
ATSmME -

k
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12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

12. EREEDSE

As at 31 December

B EBEANARETTIIR)

M®12831H
Note 2024 2023
M 5 2024 F 20234
Financial assets SEEE
At amortised cost DR AT E
Trade and other receivables B 5 [1E Wk N b JE LR
(excluding non-financial assets) (TREFTMEE) 822,980 890,265
Cash and bank balances Be MIRITHER 20 5,562,231 2,539,493
At fair value UAREBEE
Financial assets at FVOCI UWAREBEFEAEE
BH)ET A2k
e EEE 13 13,426 33,546
Financial assets at FVPL WAREEFZAEE
FFAEENEREE 18 851,920 4,059,847
7,250,557 7,523,151
Financial liabilities cREE
At amortised cost DR AT 2
Trade and other payables B 5 & E AR IR
(excluding non-financial liabilities) (Tt EemaE) 468,540 439,133
Borrowings BXR 26 194,000 455,250
Lease liabilities HeEas 7 43,750 44,919
Financial liability for NCI put option  FF3% i 14 # 25 2204 HA 4
SRBEE 25 - 147,656
706,290 1,086,958
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13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVOCI

Financial assets at FVOCI comprise:

Equity investments which are not held for
trading, and which the Group has irrevocably
elected at initial recognition to recognise in
this category.

Debt investments where the contractual cash
flows are solely principal and interest and the
objective of the group’s business model is

e MR ME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

13. ULAAREBEFEEHSEBH T AHM
ZHKEZEMEE
(a) AR AEBEFEEEHEEHTAH
HEEKRENEMEEND S
Lkﬂﬁfﬁfﬁ*fiﬁﬁ“@nf]\ﬁﬁﬂ
FEHUNEMNEREEDS

s TARAXZIMEBANBERE mMA
SE IR R R T A REE &
B AR RZER -

e SRREREEALASNFEEB
@H&Hﬂéﬂiﬁi/mgﬂ ﬁ%/i\ﬂ—‘ﬁ,é
EREREEEKRA BENER

achieved both by collecting contractual cash wE o
flows and selling financial assets.
Financial assets at FVOCI include: AREBEFEAEEEHT AEM
£@H&m2i@$§%@%i
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Non-current assets: FREBEE :
Unlisted equity investments REIREIE LRI E
in the PRC 12,455 10,378
Current assets: REBEE .
Debt securities (i) B EE 7 (i) 971 23,168
Total et 13,426 33,546

(i)

Debt securities are notes receivable which

held within a business model whose objective

is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets.

(i) EFEFE—EARRAERR
TREMIETREERE W
EBRATHENEKERE -
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13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

(b) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive

e MR ME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

13. LAREBEFTEEES BT AHEM
PHBEzZERMEE(F)

(b) Eft2HEWEHEZNESE

income
Year ended 31 December
BZ12831BLEE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Gains/(losses) recognised in P E b2 U S R A
other comprehensive income: Wi,/ (BE)
— Related to equity investments — R AR 2,077 (185,019)

(c) Fair value, impairment and risk exposure

Information about the methods and assumptions
used in determining fair value is provided in Note
3.3.

The fair value measurements of financial assets

at FVOCI are categorised within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy and are denominated in RMB.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

(o) DAEME BERRRERE
ME33RK T AREEAAEE
PRE A T AMRERAER
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14. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The movements in the deferred income tax are as

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

14. BEFIEHEE AfE

EEFEHEBMT :

follows:
Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities
BEfEREE ERFEHER
Withholding
income tax
on dividends
Unrealised Valuation  expected to
profits surplus of  be remitted
arising assetsand ~ from group
from recognition entities
inter-group  Recoverable of intangible  incorporated
sales tax loss Others Total assets  inthe PRC Others Total
SER
Sl
S8R fAR
PELEE BETE  ROEL
FEEH BUREY REFEEL
RERER  TRRER it B EENER  REFEH ify @it
At 1 January 2023 RWBE1518 84,258 50,189 43,027 177,474 139,682 - 10,636 150,318
Recognised in the income statement ~ RERRER 8,938 21,1 10,971 41,180 (21,554) 15,000 (4,565) (11,19)
Recognised in other comprehensive  REMEENERET
income - - 1,164 1,164 - - - -
Total @ 93,19 71,460 55,162 219,818 118,128 15,000 6,071 139,199
Set-off of deferred income tax REE ERMER
assetsliablites BE/af (14.239) (14239)
At 31 December 2023 R203E12431R 205,579 124,960
At 1 January 2024 RUE1F18 93,196 71,460 55,162 219,818 118,128 15,000 6,071 139,199
Recognised in the income statement  NERRED (16,656) 27,612 57,21 68,177 (8,051) 304 (253) (9,000)
Recognised in other comprehensive REB2ESETED
income - - (312) (312) - - - -
Total ) 76,540 99,072 112,01 287,683 109,077 15,304 5818 130,199
Set-off of deferred income tax REE ERMER
assetsliabilities EE/8B (14,597) (14,597)
At 31 December 2024 R2024E128318 273,086 115,602
As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax M2024F 12 A31H » K& E I K 7

liabilities of RMB283,797,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB298,827,000) have not been recognised for
the with-holding tax that would otherwise be
payable on the undistributed profits amounting to
approximately RMB4,415,060,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB4,930,220,000) retained by certain subsidiaries, as
the management expects it is probable that such amount
of profit will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

ETHEBRAZADKREINHARE
4,415,060,0007t(2023412 A318 :
A R #4,930,220,0007T ) B X I &9 38
RISHERECHSHABRARKE
283,797,000 T(20234 12 A31 8 : A
R#298,827,0007T) © AEEEETZ
SRFEAERARRBAIETS DR -
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240

15.

16.

4

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

e MR ME

(BBEIREES - FIESEEUARETTHIR)
15. HMEREBEE

As at 31 December
M12831H
Note 2024 2023
M EE 2024 5 20234

Long-term bank deposit REFIRITIF X
Others Hh

(a) 51,435 -
4,913 -

56,348 -

(@) As at 31 December 2024, the long-term bank
deposit amounting to RMB51,435,000 is based on
an interest rate of 2.87% and will mature in 2026.

(a) 2024128318 REERTHE
RerEAENRE51,435,0007T &
M AE2.87% WS H 2026 FEHH] o

INVENTORIES 16. FE
As at 31 December
®12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Raw materials - at cost R — A 2R 240,693 460,528
Raw materials - at NRV R R — 1% ] IR FE 238,680 192,710
Work in progress - at cost M —REAR 2,874 80,569
Work in progress - at NRV S m — A #IFE 150,231 -
Finished goods - at cost BIFY o — FRA AR 215,385 134,179
Finished goods - at NRV R — 1R Al B IR FE 45,467 126,606
893,330 994,592

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost
of inventories recognised as expense and included
in cost of goods sold and administrative expenses
amounted to approximately RMB1,339,000,000 (2023:
RMB1,287,000,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recognised provision
for impairment of approximately RMB110,598,000
in respect of the losses on obsolete inventories (31
December 2023: RMB4,386,000).

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

HE2024F 12 A31BILFEZTFER
AERBEBRTAABEEXNARITHE
SN A AR 1,339,000,0007T
(20234 : A% 1,287,000,0007T) °

P2024F 128318 XEERRER
EREMERARERERBENABARKE
110,598,000 7(2023 %12 A31H : A
R 4,386,0007T) ©
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. EZRHEMEWNKIE
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
Note 2024 2023
Bt & 2024 20234
Trade receivables 25 rEW A (a) 769,875 739,537
Less: provision for impairment B B 5 REWGRIA
of trade receivables B 3.1 (b) (127,652) (66,095)
Trade receivables - net B S EWGIE — F5E 642,223 673,442
Notes receivable eSS 33,751 46,182
Prepayments and other receivables  FB{J 318 & H {th fE Uy k18 161,448 212,025
Advances to staff 8 T8 3,325 2,469
Others Hh 23,135 2,412
Less: provision for impairment of B E A FEMGRIE
other receivables TRE B 3.1 (b) (3,777) (5,748)
860,105 930,782
(a) The credit period generally granted to customers (a) BYFEFMNEEH—MKA0Z=180
ranges from 0 to 180 days. As at 31 December Ho R2024% %2023 12 A 31
2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of the trade A BZ2REKFEEEBB TS
receivables (including amounts due from related BSREWHIE)RIEZEZHEAK
parties which are trade in nature) based on invoice BROMAT -

dates were as follows:

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
0 -1 year 0F 14 645,438 625,220
1 -2 years 1224 13,117 16,580
2 - 3 years 2E3F 14,885 64,924
Over 3 years 3FLAE 96,435 32,813
769,875 739,537
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade AEBENESRWHNEREENLTNIE
receivables are denominated in the following HREN
currencies:
MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB AR# 659,579 663,811
usD ETT 101,476 57,296
IDR EfEE 6,853 15,434
Others HAith 1,967 2,996
769,875 739,537
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVPL

The Group classifies the following financial assets

at FVPL:

e debt instruments that do not qualify for
measurement at either amortised cost or

FVOCI, and

e equity instruments that are held for trading

Financial assets at FVPL include:

e MR ME

(BRBEERES - HELBIUARETLIIR)
18. UDABEFEEHEHTARS

ZEBMEE

(a) BAREBEFEEHESBF AR
BENEREEDE
AEEHATEREESBES/AR
REEFELEEHABEEZNE
BMEE

o IHEUBEHKARIIARTE
BEfEHEZHtAEMEE
et ER TE - AR

s RRIMBAEMERT

NARBEFEAHEEHAAER

L EMEBEERE
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
Note 2024 2023
M 5 2024 F 20234
Non-current assets: IRBEE :
Unlisted equity investments RIELTERRE 145,030 155,846
Contingent consideration B EEmE (i) - 34,290
145,030 190,136
Current assets: REEE :
Listed equity investments REREE 28,762 21,963
Wealth management products EERER (ii) 649,498 3,847,748
Contingent consideration S EEREE (i) 28,630 -
706,890 3,869,711
Total #at 851,920 4,059,847
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVPL
(Continued)

(b)

(i)

(if)

The contingent consideration receivable by the
Group is contingent upon the future financial
performance of Shanghai Yifang and the fair
value of the contingent consideration is nil at
the acquisition date and subsequent change of
the fair value is recognised in “other income
and other gains - net”. As at 31 December
2024, the fair value of the contingent
consideration is RMB28,630,000 (2023:
RMB34,290,000). The fair value was estimated
based on the probable future cash inflow of
Shanghai Yifang and applying an appropriate
discount rate to arrive at the present value,
taking into account the credit risk.

The wealth management products were placed
in banks in the PRC for cash management
purposes and with expected rate of return
ranging from 0.85% to 3.29% (2023: 1.00%
to 9.55%) per annum.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, the following gains/(losses) were
recognised in profit or loss:

e MR ME

(REERBES - FELEAIARETIIF)
18. UAREESEAEZHIT ARR
ZEMEE (&)
(a) RAAEEHEALBBH AR
36 BE D ()

(i)

(if)

AEBRBUBNSBEEEME
BURR EBZET RKM B
=B BRI BEEHER
BEHNAREBEAZT A
AREEMNEEZ ST AIEM
WARE MM —FE] - R
202412 A318 &k B ¥
BHENAABEAARE
28,630,000 0(2023F : A
% 34,290,0007T) - 2B
ERBE E/EZE AR K
ReERANEE TEEEA
Ek - HAEENITRESH
WRERIEET R ©

B ERFRNPBEAERTH
RIEEEEBER  EHFEMNE
7 F0.85% £ 3.29% (2023
F:1.00%ZE9.55%) °

(b) REEBAZEH
RER RESZERZ K8
B

Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LEE

Note 2024 2023
B & 2024 F 2023 F
Fair value gains/(losses) on RE AU A R H At
equity instruments recognised W — FEERZ
at FVPL in other income =T ANAAEER
and other gains - net W,/ (E#E) 6,221 (21,824)
Fair value gains on debt R E AU A Fe HoAth
instruments recognised et — SRR
at FVPL in other income BB TANAREER
and other gains - net ek 59,443 42,214
Fair value losses on contingent — REMULA K E M
consideration recognised W — FRRER 2
in other income and other HBEERMEND
gains - net EEEE (5,660) (29,200)
28 60,004 (8,810)

2024 Annual Report 3§



\ifv

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

244

4

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

18.

19.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

(c) Risk exposure

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risk is disclosed in Note 3.1. For information about
the methods and assumptions used in determining
fair value see Note 3.3.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

On 27 June 2024, Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (“"Guangdong Jinye”), a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a
memorandum of business negotiation for the equity
transfer and acquisition (the "Memorandum™) with an
independent third party, according to which, Guangdong
Jinye transferred all 40% of its equity interests in
an associate, Huangguoshu Golden Leaf, to that
independent third party. On 19 July 2024, transaction
agreement has been signed by both parties. According
to the independent assessment report on the value
of all equity interests of Huangguoshu Golden Leaf’s
shareholders, the consideration for the equity transfer is
estimated to be approximately RMB140,000,000.

Therefore, the Group's investment in Huangguoshu
Golden Leaf was presented as assets held for sale in
the condensed consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024 and was measured at
the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less the
cost of sale on the day of reclassification. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, an impairment provision
of RMB49,119,000 was made for the reclassification to
assets held for sale.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN
18.

19.

B EBEANARETTIIR)

URRBEFEEESFHTARR

ZERMEE(H)

() mBRER
BRASEAZNERRARNES
EWE3IFEE - FREEAN
BEMEANTEMRENER
F2RME33

KFEHEEE

R2024F6 A27H ERESERE
AEERARIIERESE]) AEEH
—MF2EWNBRR BBIYE=H%
IR EERNBRASAAEERSR((ER
B]) BEESE BEReESERSS
Z—HBE R ERESE 2 40% &E
THEETZBILE = o R2024F
7R19H EFEEEXHWHE - BE
ERBCERRPEREENB I
ERE  BRESEEHEGTOAARE
140,000,000 7T ©

Ft A EEHE RS EHRER 2024
FNRANHZEEMBHRRIREYN A
HBEREEE TRESEEXRUER
BEMAAEBENR T EKANEIESET
B HE2024F1283MBILEE &
DEEEERELNEEER R T REE
AR 49,119,000 7T °
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20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

e MR ME

(BRAEBEN
20. HRERBITER

As at 31 December

B EBEANARETTIIR)

MW12A831H
Note 2024 2023
M 5 2024 F 20234
Cash and bank balances Be NIRITIER (a) 5,562,231 2,539,493
Less: Restricted bank balances B ZERAERITER (b) (39,038) (62,705)
Short-term deposit HETER (c) (2,080,000) (95,760)
Cash and cash equivalents BehBEEEY 3,443,193 2,381,028

(a)

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the
following currencies:

(a) BEERITERATIEE S
T~

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB AREE 4,485,500 1,668,765
usD EVW 802,254 630,044
HKD E 242,932 200,275
Others HAith 31,545 40,409
5,562,231 2,539,493

As at 31 December 2024, restricted bank balances
represented security deposits.

As at 31 December 2024, short-term deposit
represented the bank deposit over three months.

(b) 202412 A8318  LEHIETT
FERAERES -

() M2024F 128318 BEEFERA
EFHZN=ZEAMNEITER -

245
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(BBEIREES - FIESEEUARETTHIR)
21. K=&

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

21. SHARE CAPITAL

Share capital

Number of ['&
shares RMB’000
gnig 4= AR¥ Tt

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: TR BEETRER :
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 7220234123318 -
and 31 December 2024 2024F 1 A1HR

202412 A31H 3,229,926,876 328,619

22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a) Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme

22. ROBEROZN
(a) EREZREHBTE

246

On 1 December 2020, shares of Guangdong Jiahao,
a subsidiary of the Group, were granted to 80
eligible employees (the “Grantees”) of Guangdong
Jiahao and its subsidiary (the “Share Incentive
Scheme”). Four limited partnerships controlled by
the Group were incorporated in the PRC under
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Partnerships as a vehicle to hold the ordinary shares
for the Grantees under the Share Incentive Scheme.
Under this scheme, approximately 1.98% equity
interests in Guangdong Jiahao were granted to the
Grantees through their interests in the four limited
partnerships with consideration of approximately
RMB46,496,000 and will be vested if certain
services conditions are met.

As certain Grantees ceased the employment
with Guangdong Jiahao for the year ended 31
December 2023, the corresponding 0.28% of the
equity interests were repurchased by the general
partner of the vehicle at a consideration of the
price that the employees initially purchased. On
13 January 2023, Guangdong Jiahao redistributed
0.22% of the equity interests to 29 Grantees with
consideration of approximately RMB6,201,083.
After that, Guangdong Jiahao has granted a total
of approximately 1.92% of the equity interests
under this scheme.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

MN2020F 12818 BEE R =
KEBZHEBAR  KTF80RE
EENHNBARMNAEKESR
(HEETADEBEREZSHRMD ([
BT 8 )) o BIECRE R B AT
2]) UK A AL B AL ARE
(FEARKMBEAELCE R E
FEFMKIHEREREE 2
EABERTFABEERBRMNIFRTF
B IREZTE  BRTABBHE
EFOREREBEENERERT
#1.98% ERESHARE - REXL
BAREE 46,496,000 7T ¢ M IHER
ERBINRRTE LRI

HE2023F12A318BEFEE A
REAWEEFATBEXERERSE
5 HEM0.28%BERLREEE
AZRBREIHVEENERDE -
MR2023F1A13H ' ERREZEH
DEL29B MR T A0.22 %% #E -
REHAEAREG,201,0837T ° Uit
% ERECERAFEZRART
#91.92% B EHE o



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme
(Continued)

As certain Grantees ceased the employment
with Guangdong Jiahao for the year ended 31
December 2024, the corresponding 0.08% of the
equity interests were repurchased by the general
partner of the vehicle at a consideration of the
price that the employees initially purchased. On
2 April 2024, Guangdong Jiahao redistributed
0.09% of the equity interests to 30 Grantees with
consideration of approximately RMB2,050,000.
After that, Guangdong Jiahao has granted a total
of approximately 1.93% of the equity interests
under this scheme.

The amounts of share-based compensation
recognised as expenses with a corresponding credit
to reserves of Guangdong Jiahao during the year
ended 31 December 2024 was RMB4,777,000
(2023: RMB4,103,000).

Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the board
of directors of Huabao Flavours passed on 30
August 2023 and 8 December 2023 respectively
and the shareholders’ meeting held on 5 January
2024, Huabao Flavours approved, adopted,
and implemented a share incentive scheme (the
"Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme”).
The Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme
was adopted for the issuance of a total of
16,950,000 restricted shares (the “Restricted
Shares”), representing approximately 2.75% of the
total issued share capital of Huabao Flavours of
615,880,000 shares as at the date of this report.
The incentive instrument adopted under the Huabao
Flavours Share Incentive Scheme is Restricted Shares
(Class Il Restricted Shares) and the source of the
underlying shares involved is the A shares in the
ordinary share capital of Huabao Flavours issued
to the identified incentive participants. The Grant
Price of the initial grant of Restricted Shares under
the Incentive Scheme shall be RMB10.93 per share.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

22. ROB/EROZNE)

(a)

(b)

BERZZ=RERBT S ()

BHZE2024F12A318BLFEE - |#
REBOPERFATEBZERERS
%= HEM008%KERERAE
AEZRBEIRVIBEENERDE -
MR2024F4R2H  BEREZETND
FE30 B W IR T A0.09% A% #E - R (B
KA ANRE2,050,0007T ° &
BRESXERAFERARTH
1.93%HyfR#E -

B ZE2024F12B831BIEFE - B
RESBUARDAERNHNEER
B WHEFAREGBZEEAS
AR#4,777,0007C (20234 @ A
R #4,103,0007T) ©

ZEEROREREE
BEEERHEST S H BN 2023
F8H30H &2023F12A8H @
BHEBmAZENN2024F 1A
SHEBEITHRREAS  EBERMGHI
R R E IR EET B ([
ERMRERBETE]) - EERMD
IEHE B AT 814 £ 8817 16,950,000
A% PR I M A% ZE(TPR #I ERR 2 ) -
HEERONARSBHEETR
7N 4 %8615,880,000 f% A% 19 #) 49
2.75% o FEE R0 AR B FT 8K
AHOSBTARRHERE(E =
HERFIMEKRE) P ROBEBER
15 R A2 B R D R BB R T )
BTEAREBERA - BETEE
RETREIMERENETERAES
ARKE10.937T °

2024 Annual Report 3§

247



\ -

248

4

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme

(Continued)

On 5 January 2024, Huabao Flavours initially
granted 14,500,000 Restricted Shares to 46
incentive participants.

The Restricted Shares granted under the initial
grant under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive
Scheme will vest in three tranches after the
expiry of 12 months from the date of initial grant
respectively, with the percentage of vesting in each
tranche being 30%, 30% and 40% respectively and
each vesting will be subject to the satisfaction of
the corresponding vesting conditions.

Huabao Flavours’s level performance assessment
targets for the initial grants of Restricted Shares are

e MR ME

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

22. ROB/EROZNE)

(b) FEROGKREHRE(E)

R2024F1 A58 EERME R
X F 14,500,000 % BR I 14 I& = F
46 BBV R o

EBEROHRE RSB AR TR
REERE 2REHAETAH
BmR2BRAES=ZHEE &5
SFEMLL DRI A30% - 30% &
40%  BRXFEBARMZHEENEES
BRI RBRIRIGMS -

BERETHRHIERENEERND
EBEXEZZBFRWMNRAR

shown in the table below:

Corresponding
Vesting period

assessment year

Performance assessment targets

Lol B HEEZRFE FEERER
First vesting period 2024 Increase of operating income by 15%
for 2024 as compared to 2023
55— (B 57 8 B 2024 % 2024 #2023 % » EEWARLLIER15%

Second vesting period 2025

% — {ER B 3 20254
Third vesting period 2026
5 = (E R B 3 2026 F

Increase of operating income by 25%
for 2025 as compared to 2023
2025 #2023 % » EEWARLLIER 25%

Increase of operating income by 35%
for 2026 as compared to 2023
2026 #2023 %F - EEWARLLIER35%

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme
(Continued)

Movement in the number of Restricted Shares
outstanding and their related exercise prices:

e MR ME

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

22. RYAERNZ(HE)
(b) FEROGKREHRE(E)

EXRTRHAMEBREHE MERRBT

£ B A

For the year ended
31 December 2024
BE2024512A8310LFE

Average

exercise
price per Number of
Restricted Restricted
Share (RMB) Share (‘000)

5 1% PR i 1
BEH PR it
FIPITREE BREHE
(AR¥T) (T1R)
At 1 January ®n1A1H - -
Granted By 10.93 14,500
Exercised Lk - -
Forfeited (i) SR (i) 10.93 (400)
Lapsed (ii) (i) 10.93 (4,230)
At 31 December M12HA31H 10.93 9,870

Vested and exercisable as
at 31 December

K12 A31BE

J&§ e AT AT

(i)  The Restricted Shares had been forfeited due
to employee resignation.

(i)  The Restricted Shares had been lapsed due
to failure to meet performance assessment
targets in 2024.

The Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme shall
be valid for a maximum of 60 months from the date
of initial grant of Restricted Shares to the date on
which all Restricted Shares granted to the incentive
participants are vested or lapsed. As of the date
of this report, the remaining term of the Huabao
Flavours Share Incentive Scheme is 49 months.

8 T B B Mo W R 11 B

o

—
=

A

(i) EAXRZF2024F2XHEEZA
1R AR 2 RFNVEREE ©

EERO BB ENERNAR
BRGAMEREERAR T ZBEEH
BEREENRIMERELHBEE
HAERERMZ B I RETEEG60
A -RAREAH  EFEROHK
RSBt B RIRHIR S 49 A -
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22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme

(Continued)

As of 31 December 2024, Restricted Shares that
have been granted have not yet met any of the
vesting conditions.

The above Share Incentive Scheme constitutes
equity-settled share-based payment, and the fair
value of the Restricted Shares granted under
the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme is
calculated according to the Black-Scholes model to
determine the share-based payment expenses of this
Incentive Scheme. Such expenses will be recognised
in installments during the implementation of this
Incentive Scheme, and the incentive costs incurred
by this scheme will be included in the income
statement. According to the Black-Scholes model,
the fair value of each initially granted Restricted
Share ranges from RMB11.77 to RMB12.71. The
specific parameters are selected as follows:

e Date of grant: 5 January 2024

e Share price on the date of grant: RMB20.7 per
share

e Historical volatility: 48.17% - 52.02%

° Risk-free interest rate: 2.29%-2.34%
e Dividend yield: 0%

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the amounts
of share -based compensation of Huabao Flavours
recognised as expenses with a corresponding credit
to reserves were RMB43,772,000 (2023: nil).

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

e MR ME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

22. RYAERNZ(HE)
(b) FEROGKREHRE(E)

HZE2024F 12 A318 ' 2&%H
RRSIMERER R R T —FEIK
-

FHiR RSB ET R R AREEE
MR BERIN - EERGRE
BB ET B T 2 BR IEHEEE’JA%
B{EIZ Black-Scholes 2 A5t & -
NEERNSBE NG AERY
NER ZSERBENSE S
MERBERETDBHER  BAA
SFEIEERBB K ABEKERS
5] %% o 8 #E Black-Scholes & & &t
B BREIERTHRERZED
NREBEAARBINITTEAR
127170« ARBSEEBAT -
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7T
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HZE2024F12A31HILFE » %
ERHDHURD AEROHSER
AR HAEFAGEZEEAA
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e MR ME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
23. RESERVES 23. f#&
Capital ~ Share-based  Currency
Contributed Merger Share Capital ~ redemption compensation translation  Statutory Other
Note surplus reserve - premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Reserve  reserves Total
HEREER
i EERE  OfEE  ROEE  EARE EAEEEE  NMOHE EMAERE  GEEE EbER it
At 1 January 2023 RUBE1F18 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 2411 4,760 9,9% 190,154 843,031 1471927 4,380,460
Fairvalue changes on financial ~ WAAREEGTEE
asets at FUOC, net of tax KRG ALl
2EhE 2R
BEZRTEY
LAB%EY ] - - - - - - - S s (1838
Appropriations rom net profit ~ EHEEHAR U - - - - - - - 19,419 - 19.419
Share-based payment o)
~Value of employee senvices ~ ~EEFRBEE 2 - - - - - 4103 - - - 4103
Currency transltion differences SEHEZE - - - - - - 28,031 - - 2803
At 31 December 2023 RNBE12A31E 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 2411 4,760 14,099 218,186 862,450 1,294,072 4,248,159
At 1 January 2024 RAUE1R1R 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 241 4,760 14,099 218,186 862,450 1,294,072 4,248,159
Fair value changes on finandal M2 EESTEE
asets at FVOC, net of tax EBgALl
eyl eapki
EEZRBEY
RrEED (a) - - - - - - - - 1765 1765
Appropriations from net profit B &I L - - - - - - - 21,863 - 21,883
Expiry of put option liability ER
upon maturity of put
option arrangement 25 - - - - - - - - 165,427 165,427
Disposal of a subsidiary RENBLA
Share-based payment ORI - - - - - - - - 5,151 5,151
~Value of employee senvices ~ ~EERBE(E - - - - - 39,485 - - - 39,485
Acauisiton of equity interest BRI B2 AR E
in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (4,362) (4,362)
Currency transltion differences  SEHEZE - - - - 5 - 26,088 - - 26,088
At 31 December 2024 RAUENA3NA 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 241 4,760 53,584 24274 884,313 1,462,053 4,503,576
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

23. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, fair value
gains of RMB1,765,000 on financial assets at FVOCI
were recognised through other comprehensive
income(2023: fair value loss of RMB183,855,000)
and deduction of other comprehensive income
amounting RMB312,000 (2023: an increase of
RMB1,164,000) were recognised due to deferred
tax impact (Note 14).

Contributed surplus of the Company represents
(i) the difference between the consolidated
shareholders’ funds of the subsidiaries at the date
on which the corporate reorganisation became
effective and the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued under the reorganisation; (ii) the
transfer of credit balance from share premium
pursuant to the capital reorganisation in 2006 and

relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

23. f#fE
(@)

(b)

B EBEANARETTIIR)

(&)

H E2024F12A318 It F &
NARBEFEEHEZSH T AEM
TEHRECEREEZ A NBERE
B AR® 1,765,000 T(2023 4 ¢
N EEE AR 183,855,000
) WRABEEMBHRZFEM
EREAZEEKERIDARKE
312,0007C(20234F : & A R ¥
1,164,000 70 ) (FzE 14) °

RRABZEHMABIB()VEBERZ
A BRARZZAalRRESHEMR
BAAREBETROMIBEZZEZR
(iVE2006 FIRBEAREHR B R
EREERERARDEEE AN
BHHEE -

24. RETAINED EARNINGS 24. REBAEF
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A8318L
Note 2024 2023
B aE 2024 £ 20234
At the beginning of the year F14 7,903,653 7,941,787
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(EER),/ & (385,509) 233,633
Appropriations from net profit B &R 23 (21,863) (19,419)
Special dividends for the year BZE 2023412 A31H
ended 31 December 2023 IEFEZFRIRE 34 (123,349) -
Special dividends for the six months &% 202446 A 30H
ended 30 June 2024 LE7XME A 2 BRI S 34 (94,285) -
Final dividends for the year BZE2023F12A31H
ended 31 December 2023 IEFEZBAREE 34 (23,495) -
Interim dividends for the six months &% 202446 A30H
ended 30 June 2024 LERME A 2 7 Bk 2 34 (8.839) -
Special dividends for the year #HE2022F12H31H
ended 31 December 2022 LIEFE 2 F RIS = (148,866)
Special dividends for the six months #{Z= 202346 A30H
ended 30 June 2023 LE7ME A 2 BRI 2 34 - (56,176)
Interim dividends for the six months &% 202346 A30H
ended 30 June 2023 LERME A 2 7 B 2 34 - (47,306)
At the end of the year FR 7,246,313 7,903,653

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

25. FINANCIAL LIABILITY FOR NON-CONTROLLING

e MR ME

(BRREIEAEN - FESBIAARBTTIIR)
25 FEGIMEERLHESREE

INTEREST PUT OPTION (“NCI PUT OPTION") (TRLHEAE]
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HL
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Present value of liability in relation B¥—HKE AT IR
to a put option granted to &R B3R B AR R A
non-controlling shareholders of BERE
a subsidiary - 147,656

According to the “Equity Transfer Agreement in respect
of Shanghai Yifang”, signed on 8 March 2022, the non-
controlling shareholders of Shanghai Yifang, shall have
the right to request Huabao Flavours to further acquire
the non-controlling shareholders’ equity interests in
Shanghai Yifang when Shanghai Yifang achieve certain
performance threshold during the observation period
from 2022 to 2024.The further acquisition price was
also determined by making reference to the actual
performance of Shanghai Yifang during the observation
period. Accordingly, a financial liability was initially
recognised by Huabao Flavours with reference to the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows
under the arrangement.

As at 31 December 2024, as the actual performance
of Shanghai Yifang for the last year of the observation
period was finalised and Shanghai Yifang has failed to
meet the performance threshold, Huabao Flavours's
obligation to acquire the non-controlling shareholders’
equity interests in Shanghai Yifang was expired along.
Thus, the financial liability was derecognised and
transferred to reserve with amount of approximately
RMB165,427,000 as at 31 December 2024 (Note 23).

Prior to the expiration of the financial liability, the
accretion charge of the financial liability in the finance
cost was amounting to approximately RMB17,771,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB15,820,000) (Note 31).

BIER2022F3 A8 HETHC EEBZER
M EE) 0 BT AR IEIE R R
EREEMEE R A2022FF2024F
ZAREBEN —EGREREREERD
E—THEEEERBRRAE LSO
EoE—FPBBEERNDZELBEEFN
KRB ERRRET - At - £8
BNBEZLE TR RKRES KL
RE TYPER—BLHEaE -

R2024F 128318 AR L BZEHE
BEREEOEW BREEEEYE
BiZ ZBROWEREEREHNARE
O HRERFELEEFRENELDS
R - B ZEe R BER2024F12
A 31 B MeE I A R% 165,427,000
LA REE(KEE23) -

HE2024F12A31BIEFE - Zo/
BEEIHAAREXNAFIENT ER
W ANRBE17,771,00075(20234F = A
R# 15,820,000 7T) (FizE31) »
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e MR ME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
26. BORROWINGS 26. EX
As at 31 December
®12H31H
Note 2024 2023
M 5 2024 F 20234
Non-current FERE
Long-term bank borrowings REIRITE R
- Secured bank borrowings —BIERBETER (a) 36,000 36,000
Less: current portion B omEER Y (36,000) -
- 36,000
Current TE
Short-term bank borrowings RAERITER
— Secured bank borrowings — AR ITER (a) 18,000 -
— Unsecured bank borrowings —EIEIRITE R (b) 140,000 419,250
Current portion of FmBBEE TR
non-current liabilities
- Secured bank borrowings —BEMIREITER (a) 36,000 -
194,000 419,250
Total borrowings HEXR 194,000 455,250
(a) As at 31 December 2024, the Group's short-term (a) M2024F12AH31H  A&EH

secured bank borrowings of RMB18,000,000 were
repayable within one year (31 December 2023: nil).
The Group’s current portion of long-term secured
bank borrowings of RMB36,000,000 (31 December
2023: RMB36,000,000) were repayable within one
year (31 December 2023: repayable within two
years). The secured bank borrowings are secured by
certain buildings, right-of-use assets of Shanghai
Yifang and its subsidiaries with total carrying
amount of approximately RMB43,063,000 (31
December 2023: RMB39,245,000).

During the year, the average interest rate of the
loan was 3.8% (2023: 4.2%) per annum.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

ZRHEEBERETERABARK
18,000,0007T W » — & N & &
(2023512 A31H : &) - K&EH
REBEHHRTERZ RSB H B
A R #36,000,0007T(20234F 12
A318 : AR#%36,000,0007T)
ZERFER—FANEE(2023F12
A31H:  AWMERNEER) - BEMHE
RITERANEBEFRENB A
AIERmEMEY A AREEA43,063,000
TZETMERFERAEEEER
(2023 12A318: A B &
39,245,0007T) °

RER ZERFHUANEAERF
3.8[E(2023F : 4.2[F) »



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b)

The Group’s unsecured bank borrowings are
repayable within one year. During the year, the
average interest rate was 2.2% (2023: 2.9%) per
annum.

An analysis of the carrying amounts of the Group’s
borrowings by type is as follows:

e MR ME

(BBHEERE - FELEHUARETTIR)
26. EX(E)

(b)

(0)

AEEZEEBRETERETR—F
REEIEE - EGEW ZERFEY
M B ASF22E(20234%F:2.9
E) -

RER ST AR EE R EE 40
T

As at 31 December

M®12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
At fixed rates (& 7 ) 2 194,000 450,250
At floating rates TFENF R = 5,000
194,000 455,250
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the maturities (d) 72024 K% 20234F12A318 -
of the borrowings are as follows: EREHBAT -
As at 31 December
M®12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Within 1 year —F AR 194,000 419,250
Between 1 and 2 years —E 4 = 36,000
194,000 455,250
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying () M2024F K 2023%F12AH31H

amounts of the Group’s borrowings were
denominated in RMB.

AEEEFMNEIERAARES
BN e
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. EFRHEMEMNRE
As at 31 December
R12A31H
Note 2024 2023
B 5E 2024 F 20234
Trade payables B S EN A (a) 266,504 238,732
Note payables FEE= & = 18,530
Wages payable JERTE 166,238 115,466
Other taxes payable HAith eS8 54,971 59,300
Other payables H At JE 5 3RI8 202,036 181,871
Deferred income from BT 47 B BE A 2 IR SEUR A
government grants 11,130 11,446
700,879 625,345
The non-current and current portion of trade and other B 5 NMEHAMEMNRAIERE KRB0
payables was as follows: N

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
Non-current e ED 11,130 11,446
Current mE 689,749 613,899
700,879 625,345
The non-current portion of trade and other payables B MHMEMNZKBTHIERBT D =
mainly represents the deferred income derived from EEXREFEBNEENSEMP S8
various grants received from government authorities in EREWA o
PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing
analysis of the trade payables (including amounts
due to related parties which are trade in nature)

(a)

based on invoice dates was as follows:

e MR ME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

27. ESREMBESRKIE(E)
(a) M2024F K% 2023%12AH318
BERERNREBEEMTNES
ERFIE)RBEZEZEEHANEREK S

T

As at 31 December

R12H31H
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
0 - 90 days 0ZF90H 232,100 216,774
91 - 180 days 91& 180 H 21,997 8,112
181 - 360 days 181 %360 H 3,564 3,704
Over 360 days 360 HEA E 8,843 10,142
266,504 238,732

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables
are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBNE ZEMNFTHOEREELT

SIS EAL

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB AREE 259,036 233,210
IDR HERE 3,259 1,405
usb ETT 862 3,016
HKD E 831 307
Others Hib 2,516 794
266,504 238,732
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Financial Statements

e MR ME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

28. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS - NET 28. HitW AR Efbkss — F5E

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE

Note 2024 2023
(i 2024 2023%F
Changes in fair value of RNARBEAEEESE
financial assets at FVPL FFABENEMEEY
NAEES 18 60,004 (8,810)
Dividend income from financial LWARBEGEAEES)
assets at FVPL FFABENEREE
RPN 4,550 10,251
Loss on disposal of associates HEBZENE ZEIB - (3,442)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAGZER (3,256) (3)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWZE - B RBHER
plant and equipment and EAEEE 2 Wm— F5
right-of-use assets 647 3,743
Government grants T 22 B 99,980 151,051
Foreign exchange loss - net EHE N BB - F58E (20,215) (5,635)
Change in fair value of previously — LART#EE# SN A 2 #3F
held interest in an associate upon R AME R AR 2
acquisition as a subsidiary NAEEEE 10 (902) -
Provision for impairment TERT SR 2 B 1
of prepayments (1,799) -
Written off of payables R EH FE A IR 10,525 195
Donations 5 8 (281) (302)
Others H 20 (440)
149,273 146,608

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)



Notes to the Consolidated e B RRMEE
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

29. EXPENSES BY NATURE 29. EMEIENEX
Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and EABREHENREY  HEKTHERER
marketing expenses and administrative expenses are XRITHER - WAREEME (BT XM
analysed according to their nature (with the exception of A ERZ BB RTIEREEE S
“research and development expenses” which are shown MON) D AT -

as a single item and analysed according to their nature
in Note (a) below) as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31HLLEE

Note 2024 2023
B E 2024 20234

Depreciation e 213,749 195,292
Amortisation iy 102,977 101,446
Provision for impairment of M R NERERERE

property, plant and equipment 6 15,463 76,353
Provision for impairment of BREEERERE

intangible assets 14,380 9,850
Provision for impairment of inventories 17 & & & B & 112,605 3,421
Changes in inventories of finished BB ERMTEEE)

goods and work in progress (72,604) 51,844
Raw materials and consumables used B BRME & EER 1,257,761 1,142,332
Short-term lease rentals EHHERs 7 25,323 30,830
Auditor’s remuneration ZEENE 2

- Audit services — ZH R 10,091 9,360

- Non-audit services — B R 125 311
Consulting service fee BERBE 38,478 21,724
Travelling expenses EZRFAX 37,127 32,004
Employee benefit expenses BB REMFHEX 778,305 652,530
Research and development expenses  ffZF 2 (a) 245,242 253,196
Delivery expenses EHMT 50,367 37,730
Utilities expenses N3 104,922 98,990
Motor vehicle expenses FEERAMY 6,273 7,119
Maintenance expenses HIEE 20,026 22,335
Advertising, promotion and BE - HEREREREE

agency services expenses 95,738 92,894
Office administrative and MARBAE

communication expenses 7,215 9,350
Other surcharges H B angn & 40,941 39,025
Others Eh 128,361 108,213
Total of cost of goods sold, selling BIHEKA - HERTS

and marketing expenses HER L FITRER

and administrative expenses 3,232,865 2,996,149
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Financial Statements
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
29. EXPENSES BY NATURE (CONTINUED) 29. MBS ENREX(E)
(a) Depreciation, amortisation and employee benefit (a) MELEERMAZTEENTE &
expenses included in research and development HEEBRBMNAXIIRAT -

expenses are set out below:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12H318LEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Depreciation e 13,997 15,706
Amortisation #iH 1,533 5,153
Employee benefit expenses BEREHHAX 155,538 147,318
171,068 168,177
No development cost has been capitalised for the FEEZ2024F12A31BEFERN
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). W EAAERANDEAR(E(2023
Fm|E)o
30. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES 30. EERBAIFAX

Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LEE

Note 2024 2023

Ff 5 2024 F 20234

Wages, salaries and bonus IE& - HFRIEL 723,530 647,462
Defined contribution plans and TE R AT Bl R H A

other employee insurances 8 T{RE (a) 112,007 110,196

Share-based benefits LARR 7 72 21 2 48 22 48,549 4,103

Other benefits H iz F 49,757 38,087

933,843 799,848
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

30. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES 30. EEREANAX(E)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Defined contribution plans and other employee () EEHNTERHMETRE
insurances

The expenses mainly include contribution of
pension, housing scheme and other employee
insurances for employees, of which the arrangement
of pension scheme is as below:

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a MPF Scheme
for all eligible employees. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee with a choice
to make additional contributions. The employer’s
monthly contributions are calculated at 5% of each
employee’s monthly salaries up to a maximum of
HKD1,500 (the “mandatory contributions”). The
employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s
mandatory contributions upon their retirement at
the age of 65 years old, death or total incapacity.

In Mainland China, the Group makes defined
contribution to retirement schemes managed by
the local governments. It is the local governments’
responsibility to pay the retirement benefits to
those staff who retire.

The Group makes defined contributions at certain
percentage of monthly salary to retirement schemes
managed by the insurance company in accordance
with rules and regulations of other countries.

HERBREREHFK BTERE
AHEIREME TRk - BRIKEEHE
ZRYIT

AEERBEMEBERERERRY
BmiEEstEc REERE CEER
AEBPFBEBLOR -

BIERESE  BREBZAKA
¥5% (&=t X5EA B %1,500
TO)EH B WA B BN
"R - BENERELZEE AH
5% (f = it 5K 58 &8 ¥ 1,500 )
E ([T K] - BEATR
ATHEBRERIK B ERZEE2EAT
YEBE 11 B UR B IR £ 1E HH 2 & B 58

K o

AEBEFEAMBESERET
MEAFEETANLRATELT
BFAERRRSHEEL ER
AR - T BB RERZFERK
BEXMERSE -

AEE TR EE M B ROBRER

MERMAERBTAFNET
BOLLAABRRAREL MR -
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

e MR ME

(BSBEEBEIN  FAESBOUARBTILIIR)
30. EERBEMNBEX(E)

(b) EEEZEHFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include 3 (2023: 4)
directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note
41(a). The emoluments paid and payable to the
remaining 2 (2023: 1) individual during the year are

as follows:

FRN AEEZRAEZESHFMA
+EE=((2023F : PUfI) BE
FMESZHEFHBEHNRH T
41(@) e XFEEENREMNTFHTH
f7(2023%F « — ) AL Z B &
—|T:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Share-based benefits f&f RER & EH 6,943 -
Basic salaries and allowances AR KER 3,332 10,460
Contributions to the retirement scheme R{RIEFET I 8 13
10,283 10,473

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BEZMSHEATHE :

Number of employees
BEAE
Year ended 31 December

BZ12H318LEE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Emolument bands B < &5 [
HKD4,000,001-HKD4,500,000 ¥ 4,000,001 7T —
1 4,500,000 7T 1 -
HKD6,500,001-HKD7,000,000 751 6,500,001 7T —
75 # 7,000,000 7T 1 _

HKD11,500,001-HKD 12,000,000

B#11,500,001 7T —
#5#12,000,000 7T
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

31. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

e MR ME

(BRREIEAEN - FESBIAARBTTIIR)
31. MBBRARBERK

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

Note 2024 2023
B E 2024 F 20234
Finance income: BB
— Interest income on bank deposits —IRITFERZFEMA 76,802 84,952
Finance costs: BB
— Interest expense on bank —RITERREM
borrowings and others FEEHA (6,922) (16,560)
— Interest expense on financial R 5= L
liability for NCI put option FEEBA 25 (17,771) (15,820)
— Interest expense on lease liabilities —fEEBFEZFEER 7 (1,829) (1,550)
(26,522) (33,930)
Amount capitalised FMEERERL (i) 5,504 9,084
Finance costs expensed BEKAER (21,018) (24,846)
Finance income - net BB —F 8 55,784 60,106

(i)  The capitalisation rate used to determine the
amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the
weighted average interest rate applicable to the
entity’s general borrowings during the year, in this

case 2.46%.

32. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated

income statements represents:

iy FARBTERBREALEBENE
AL R 2N B AFE —REZER
K INREF I K 2.46% ©

32. FREHBIX
SPAGAMER 2 BHELBENROT

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B831HILEE

Note 2024 2023
B aE 2024 & 20234

Current income tax EHATIIE
- PRC corporate income tax — B {EMERK (a) 133,239 176,938
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBHEH (b) (106) 61
- Botswana company income tax — RN EMER (c) - 1
— Germany company income tax — B EFREN (d) 70 58
— Indonesia company income tax —HIEEFEITEMSR (o) 406 683
Deferred income tax RIE PTG 14 (77,177) (52,299)
56,432 125,442
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

32. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(a)

PRC corporate income tax has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the year at the
tax rates applicable to respective companies of the
Group.

The income tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted to the major subsidiaries of the Group
incorporated in the PRC are derived from various
tax policies as follows:

(i) The Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
stipulates the applicable income tax rate at
25% for domestic enterprises in the PRC.

(ii) Enterprises supported by Western Development
Strategy can continue to enjoy tax rate of
15% until 2030.

(iii) The Corporate Income Tax Law also stipulated
that the Corporate Income Tax shall be levied
at the reduced rate of 15% for High/New Tech
Enterprises that are specifically supported by
the State.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

Botswana company income tax has been provided
at the rate of 15% (2023: 15%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

Germany company income tax has been provided
at the rate of 15% (2023: 15%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

Indonesia company income tax has been provided
at the rate of 22% (2023: 22%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions
has been made as the Group had no assessable
profit in other jurisdictions for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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(b)
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(e)
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

32. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(9)

e MR ME

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income
tax differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the standard tax rates applicable to the
respective companies of the Group as follows:

(BRRBEREN
32.

Friewim < (&)

B EBEANARETTIIR)

(9) AEEHERAEHATEMEHIA -
HASEE TN EBEARMAELESR

T HA A 3

HANEETHERNES
FrANE - #5aT :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE

Note 2024 2023
(i 2024 F 20234
(Loss)/profit before income tax K FiAT(E518), ZF (402,425) 415,925
Less: Share of results of o RS QT RER
associates and jointly EHIERCEE
controlled entities 10,11 7,144 (59)
(395,281) 415,866
Tax calculated at statutory ERT R EHIA
tax rate (38,977) 159,326
Tax incentives BB = 32(a) (101,339) (114,736)
Super deduction for research e E B It 2
and development expenditure (26,326) (16,138)
Utilisation of previously A AIARERN NG ER
unrecognised tax losses (7,174) (1,581)
Expenses not deductible for TEMBRAEZ o MG E
tax purposes 168,366 26,373
Income not subject to tax ERARTBWAR T E (6,219) (5,621)
Withholding tax on the earnings @2 R AFES 2
from subsidiaries TEIRFT 1SR 27,730 40,824
Tax losses for which no WEERELCHEHREE
deferred income tax BT E 1R
assets were recognised 54,002 36,995
Tax refund received for B A BT B 2 :RELK
prior periods (13,631) -
Income tax expense R Y 56,432 125,442
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts

in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

32. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

As the directors are not certain whether future taxable
profit would be available in certain subsidiaries, the
Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of

RMB186,577,000 (31 December 2023: RMB143,491,000)

as at 31 December 2024 in respect of tax losses of

such
Dece

subsidiaries amounting to RMB940,816,000 (31
mber 2023: RMB759,410,000). The tax loss will

expire in the following years:

e MR ME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

32.

Frigfim (&)
AAESELIEENAREEECHE
ABANBETE AEBWLEER
ETHWEBATN2024F12 A31B 21
I 5 B 18 A R %6 940,816,0007C(2023
F12H31H: A R ®759,410,000
TIMNBEEMSMREENDARE
186,577,0007C (20234 12 A31H : A
R #143,491,00070) » AJ 57 5 18 #5
T3 FREEH -

As at 31 December

R12H831H
2024 2023
2024 & 20234
Year FE
2024 2024 % = 36,052
2025 20254 31,073 31,840
2026 2026 F 89,605 90,875
2027 2027 % 144,292 146,012
2028 20284 124,786 158,499
2029 20294 209,200 296,132
No expiring date REBEEIEA 341,860 -
940,816 759,410

The Group is within the scope of the Pillar
Two model rules released by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development
("OECD"). The Pillar Two legislation had become
effective in certain jurisdictions on 1 January 2024.
Under the Pillar Two legislation, the Group is liable
to pay a top-up tax for difference between its
Global Anti-Base Erosion (“GIloBE") effective tax
rate in each jurisdiction and the 15% minimum
rate. The Group management’s assessment
indicates that the quantitative impact of the Pillar
Two legislation is insignificant to the Group.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the years

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

e MR ME

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

33. SR(EE) ER
(a) EREX(EE) BF
BRER(ER) BRI HREFA
KARERTAEARGE(ER) &
> BB E 2024 F K 2023412
A31HILFEBETE BN INE
FHEBETE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12H8318LLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
(Loss)/profit attributable to KRrIERFE ARML
equity holders of the Company (EB#8|) &7 (385,509) 233,633
Weighted average number of BT Bl ik
ordinary shares in issue (‘000) T8 (FEH) 3,229,927 3,229,927
Basic (loss)/earnings per share RATERFEAEMN
for (loss)/profit attributable to BREAX(FHE) BF
the equity holders of the (BRAR® D)
Company (RMB cents per share) (11.94) 7.23

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

(b) SREE(ER) BF
Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity RAFERFIB AEL
holders of the Company: (EB8|) &F
Used in calculating basic (loss)/ AR ESRER
earnings per share (E518),/&B# (385,509) 233,633
Less: profit adjusted for restricted B BB AR TR
shares granted by a subsidiary (i) % 2= T 28 B B9 R (1) (28) (15)
Used in calculating diluted ARFTESREE
(loss)/earnings per share (Es38) / &F (385,537) 233,618
Weighted average number of ordinary B 2772 %@~ Nt
shares in issue ('000) T8 (FEH) 3,229,927 3,229,927
Weighted average number of ordinary &%#5% (E518) /2 F &) N4
shares for diluted (loss)/earnings FHEBREE(TFET)
per share ("000) 3,229,927 3,229,927
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share AQTFERFTE AEMN
for (loss)/profit attributable SR#EE(ER) BRI
to the equity holders of the (BRAR®S)
Company (RMB cents per share) (11.94) 7.23
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (Continued)

(i)

As disclosed in Note 22, the subsidiary’s
Employee Share Plan should be considered
in calculating the diluted (loss)/earnings
per share, by adjusting the profit or loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
1.70% restricted equity interests unvested
by the end of 31 December 2023 are not
included in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share because they are antidilutive. While
for the 0.22% restricted equity interests
granted in 2023, the profit or loss amounted
to RMB15,000 attributable to equity holders
of the Company is adjusted.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
1.63% restricted equity interests unvested
by the end of 31 December 2024 are not
included in the calculation of diluted loss per
share because they are antidilutive. While for
the 0.30% restricted equity interests granted
in 2023 and 2024, the profit or loss amounted
to RMB28,000 attributable to equity holders
of the Company is adjusted.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

e MR ME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

33. BR(ER) EF (&)
(b) BREBE(EHR) EF(H)
(i) WKMFE22HE  ZWBL A
M B TR BIRAEFESK
BE(ER) BANSEEE I
HERRREDTE ARGE

S

B

B £2023F 128318 1t &
€ F2023F12A318 &

SEBA1.70% R H 14 f% i
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SHEEREBEERFMOTE -
MR 2023F & T H0.22% R
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Notes to the Consolidated e M IEERERME

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

34. DIVIDENDS 34. BE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Paid interim dividend of HK0.3 cents EfEZE 20246 A30H
per share for the six months ended LWEAREA 2P EIRE
30 June 2024 FRGEH 0.3 1L 8,839 -
Paid special dividend of HK3.2 cents BEftEZE2024F6 A30H
per share for the six months ended IERE A 2 %5 RIS
30 June 2024 FRE 3.21L 94,285 -
Paid interim dividend of HK1.6 cents EftEZE 202346 A30H
per share for the six months ended LWEAREA 2P EIRE
30 June 2023 FREH 1.61L - 47,306
Paid special dividend of HK1.9 cents EftEZE 202346 A30H
per share for the six months ended IERE A 2 %5 RIS
30 June 2023 FRAEE 1.9 - 56,176
103,124 103,482
Proposed special dividend of HK5.0 BIREZ=2024F12A318
cents per share for the year ended IEFEZRFRRE
31 December 2024 BB 5.01L 149,552

Paid final dividend of HK0.8 cents ENEZE20235E12A318

per share for the year ended IHFEZBHRRE
31 December 2023 B 0.81 - 23,495
Paid special dividend of HK4.2 cents BEfEZE2023412A31H
per share for the year ended IEFEZRFRRE
31 December 2023 FRAEE 4.21 - 123,349
149,552 146,844
252,676 250,326

On 28 March 2025, the Board proposed a special 20253 A28H  EEeEZR KL HZE
dividend of HK5.0 cents per share, totalling 2024412 A31H - FE &5 5% 8 &
approximately RMB149,552,000 for the year ended 31 ¥ 501l - 24 A R# 149,552,0007C ° &=
December 2024. The proposed dividend in respect of 202412 831 H It FEMNERK B IR
the year ended 31 December2024 is calculated based MRAFHEBHEEHITRNBEGE - BRIRE
on the total number of shares in issue as at the date ZREFTERARRBOBITHRRBAFAE
of this report. The proposed dividend is subject to the  _FHERXERHALE o BAFEIRE K B ER IS ©
shareholder’s approval at the Company’s forthcoming

Annual General Meeting. The financial statements do not

reflect this dividend payable.

2024 Annual Report 3§ 269



\ il
4
Notes to the Consolidated e M IEERERME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
35. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 35. ¥EE4X 2B E
(a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to cash (a) BRBIAI(BE)/ BAEEEEE 2
generated from operations RE&RAER

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEE

Note 2024 2023
Byt 2024 F 20237
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRE AT (ER),/BA (402,425) 415,925
Adjustments for: HE
- Depreciation —HE 227,746 210,998
— Amortisation —EH 104,510 106,599
— Provision for impairment of goodwill - HEREEE 9 630,887 56,502
— Provision for impairment of inventories  — 717 &R {E B # 29 112,605 3,421
— Provision for impairment of trade —BH5 REMEKFIA
and other receivables ARG 60,732 23,745
— Provision for impairment of property, - EBEREE
plant and equipment ERE 6 15,463 76,353
— Provision for impairment of intangible ~ — &} & EREREE
assets 9 14,380 9,850
— Provision for impairment relating to —BERAIRE ORERE
the investment in an associate 10 49,119 22,291
- Provision for impairment of prepayment —F&{3 FURE R 28 1,799 -
- Share-based payment-value of employee —{n AZER R
services —EERKERE 22 48,549 4,103
- Interest expense —-FMEER 31 21,018 24,846
- Interest income —Fll U A 31 (76,802) (84,952)
- Share of results of associates and —EhBE AR RER
jointly controlled entities THIBRC¥E 7,144 (59)
- Gains on disposal of property, plant and —H&EME - #ERRE
equipment and right-of-use assets RERAEEE 2 Mm 28 (647) (3,743)
- Written off of payables — R EEE T 50R 28 (10,525) (195)
- Change in fair value of previously held — —ARI#EAE & N 2 Ez
interest in an associate upon acquisition R AN A Bl
as a subsidiary ZARBEZE) 28 902 -
- Loss on disposal of subsidiaries —HEMBAR ZBE 28 3,256 3
- Loss on disposal of associates —HEBENRZER 28 = 3,442
- Changes in fair value of financial — AR EEFTEREES
assets at FVPL FABENEREE
ZRREEE 28 (60,004) 8,810
- Loss on fair value change of —4MEENDAEE
biological assets 2HERE = 1,919
- Dividend income from financial —AAREBEFEEEE
assets at FVPL SABRNEREE
Z R EWA 28 (4,550) (10,251)
- Loss/(gain) on termination of leases —RItAE 2 BB () 7,432 (995)
- Foreign exchange losses - net -EREREEEE 28 20,215 5,635
Changes in working capital: HEBGE
- Biological assets -EMEE 210 (6,612)
- Inventories -78 (11,325) 27,963
- Trade and other receivables —-BH5REMEKFIA 96,283 354,756
- Trade and other payables - B REMEMNIR 62,850 (108,579)
- Contract liabilities -&R&aRE (35,116) 44,870
Cash generated from operations BEEECES 883,706 1,186,645
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

e MR ME

(BRAFEAEI  ELBAUARBTILIIR)
35. @BEELEZRE(R)

(CONTINUED)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REEREREXRA HEY
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and ¥ HBBERIEZMBREHE
equipment comprise:

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE

Note 2024 2023

iz 2024 F 2023 %F

Net book amount BREFAE 6 15,030 11,802
Gains on disposal of property,  HEWE - B NEE

plant and equipment 2 Was - 3,743
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - e RRE

property, plant and equipment  HJFTE R 15,030 15,545

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) BB ITHELENBERAEGX

financing activities
This section sets out an analysis of the movements
in liabilities from financing activities:

AEHRMEAD PR EZBET
T

Liabilities from financing activities

BETHELNERE
Financial
liability for
Lease NCI put
Note  Borrowings liabilities option Total
Ak
i3 B HERE HESE st
At 1 January 2023 R2023E181A 677,700 60,770 131,836 870,306
Changes from financing cash flow: FETHNRESHERL
Proceeds from borrowings EEMEH 632,550 - - 632,550
Repayments of borrowings BEET (855,000) - - (855,000)
Principal elements of lease payments ~ R ERNFA 2 K& 13 - (24,880) - (24,880)
Interest paid BEAFE (16,560) (1,550) - (18,110)
Total changes from financing RETHHNRESRES(L
cash flow @t (239,010) (26,430) - (265,440)
Other changes: Hitt# g
Increase in lease liabilities from REERFTUMAEM
entering into new leases ENHHEESRE
during the year - 22,259 - 22,259
Decrease in lease liabilities from NEERKIERER
termination of leases during the year R HHEEE - (13,230 - (13,230)
Interest expenses FEL 31 16,560 1,550 15,820 33,930
Total other changes HthE s 16,560 10,579 15,820 42,959
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 455,250 44,919 147,656 647,825
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
35. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 35. EEEXZ2HE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) METHELENEEATRE)

financing activities (Continued)

Liabilities from financing activities

BETHELNAR
Financial
liability for
Lease NCI put
Note = Borrowings liabilities option Total
Mirsx EES HEERE RLHEAE a5t
At 1 January 2024 R2024%1818 455,250 44,919 147,656 647,825
Changes from financing cash flow: REZHNRLSHES L
Proceeds from borrowings EEMER 297,000 - = 297,000
Repayments of borrowings BEEX (558,250) = - (558,250)
Principal elements of lease payments &M 2 K& L5 = (32,191) = (32,191)
Interest paid 2RHAE (6,922) (1,829) - (8,751)
Total changes from financing BRETHINESRES L
cash flow Fa (268,172) (34,020) - (302,192)
Other changes: Higg
Increase in lease liabilities from AEERITUFHEEM
entering into new leases ENNHEERE
during the year - 31,263 - 31,263
Decrease in lease liabilities from REFRLEHEER
termination of leases during the year G/ HHHEGE = (241) = (241)
Reversal of put option liability upon A EAEZ HER|E1
maturity of put option arrangement  SH[E| S ERRE A (E = - (165,427) (165,427)
Interest expenses FIEXH 31 6,922 1,829 17,771 26,522
Total other changes Hip &8st 6,922 32,851 (147,656) (107,883)
At 31 December 2024 12024128318 194,000 43,750 - 231,750
36. CONTINGENCY 36. AAREH
There are outstanding litigation cases in the ordinary REEBBBEBPFERAFARRMYE
course of the Group’s business and the Group's REEEEENHEHEESANLEZEET
management believes that the legal liabilities arising TEHAEENMBRAIELEEREHT
therefrom would not have a material negative impact on =20
the Group’s financial position.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant MR2024F 128318 EETEEAZ
contingent liabilities (31 December 2023: nil). HARBE(2023F12A318 1 &) -
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37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

38.

Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet recognised
as liabilities at the end of the year are as follows:

e MR ME

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

37. EXREE

REREFRNENMABRABBEHER
EERENE

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 & 20234
Property, plant and equipment W% - R REE 48,545 85,507
Intangible assets B EE 7,207 8,266
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 2,131 6,110
Investment in a jointly controlled entity A HRIEH TR 2 RE 28,000 28,000

Financial assets at FVPL WARBEAEBEEZEH:TA

BRsemEE 11,971 12,572
97,854 140,455

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Names and relationship with related parties

Name

L

FBARS
(a) PBARES HRBEEEAE

Relationship
kES

Huangguoshu Golden
Leaf(Note 19)

BEREEE(MIFE19)

Hongta Blue Eagle

ALREE

Broad Far Group

HEREE
Shenzhen Maoyuan
RN T

PT SPV

PT.SPV

Yingtan Dongwu
BERE

Hunan Jiapinjiawei
MEEmER
Shanghai Miou
BRI

Yingtan Weizhijia Food Co. Ltd.

and its subsidiaries

("Weizhijia”)
EERZKRMBRAT

REWBART (KRR
Beijing Weikongjian
bR IR ZE

An associate indirectly held by the Company reclassified as assets
held for sale
DERFELEEENARRBEERFANEE QA
An associate indirectly held by the Company
NS b SRR =/NE]
An associate indirectly held by the Company and an entity
controlled by the Company’s ultimate holder
RAREEFENBE AR NARRREFEAENZ A
An associate indirectly held by the Company
ENNSIIEE SR 0) = /NE]
An associate indirectly held by the Company
NSRS SRR 0) - —/NE]
An associate indirectly held by the Company
NS EESS R0l NSl
An associate indirectly held by the Company
K@TF?T&%EE’]H&%‘Q

A jointly controlled entity indirectly held by the Company
RAREEFEHRES R

An entity controlled by the Company’s ultimate holder

ZAYNSIE- S SR PN /N

An associate indirectly held by the Company
NSk SRR o) —/NE]
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties

e MR ME

(BSBEEBEIN  FAESBOUARBTILIIR)
38. AR % (&)

(b) EHEBINRS
Year ended 31 December

BZ12H8318LLEE

Note 2024 2023
B E 2024 F 2023 %

Sales of goods and services: HE B m MR -
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —EREeE 6,820 5,606
— Broad Far Group —BREE () 7.851 33,223
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — i EmeER 602 447
- Shanghai Miou — LERE 28 37
— Beijing Weikongjian —db AR Z= A 342 -
15,643 39,313

Purchase of goods and services: B85 g MARTS
- Shenzhen Maoyuan — RN TT 50 -
— Broad Far Group —BREH 62 31
- Yunnan Ruisheng —Emim st - 21
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — WM EmER 30 153
- Shanghai Miou — EERE 622 1,024
- Weizhijia —RZR 3,127 1,074
3,891 2,303

Dividend revenue: A BHA

- Hunan Jiapinjiawei —HEERER 1,461 -
- Hongta Blue Eagle —AIBEE - 3,088
1,461 3,088

(i) The amount of continuing related-party
transactions with Broad Far Group is
RMBS5,554,000 in 2024 (2023: RMB30,894,000).
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Financial Statements
(B2EEBEN  FELBEEUARETTHR)

38. BEBAXRE (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Balances with related parties (c) EBEEL 4t

Year ended 31 December

BZ12H8318LLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Balances due from related parties: JE s BA B T A R
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —ERESE
— trade and other receivables — 8 5 & HAth fE YR 3,215 5,182
- Broad Far Group —BREE
— trade and other receivables — B 5 R H A FEYR 5,220 15,434
- Yingtan Dongwu —EERE
— trade receivables — & S EBGR 714 714
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei SN
— trade and other receivables — 8 5 K& HAth fE YR 50 7
- prepayment —TENRIA 130 130
— Beijing Weikongjian — b RIR =
— trade receivables — B S EBGK 281 -
9,610 21,467
Balances due to related parties: JE 1T A B T 5 R
— Broad Far Group —BREE
— trade and other payables —B o REAMBERRK 387 400
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — M EmER
— trade payables — B I EMNK 167 167
- PT SPV —PT SPV
— other payables — H At fERT 3R 233 228
— Shanghai Miou N
— trade payables —B IR 63 -
- Weizhijia —KZK
— other payables — HAth JERT 3R 64 -
914 795

MBS AR ERER . 28
RAARB AR o

The balance with related parties was unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. BEEARS (1)

(CONTINUED)
(d) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive) and
senior management. The amounts of compensation
paid and payable to directors is disclosed in Note
41(a). The amounts of compensation paid and
payable to senior management for employee
services is shown below:

d) FEEBAEME

TEERABBREEWMOTE
FRTEFEBUFRTE
EIMSREEAR - O MERN
TEENH 2 EHE4@K
BEosEERBENRENSRE
BRI

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A8318LEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Fees, salaries and bonus TE& - FHRIEA 11,595 21,300

Share-based benefits AR 7 B BT 2 18 F) 9,358 -
Employer’s contributions to

retirement benefit scheme 1B = shiR IRETEIH 3K 397 544

21,350 21,844
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Financial Statements
(BBEIREES - FIESEEUARETTHIR)

39. X EMBLARIZFHE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Place of
incorporation and

Nominal value of
issued/registered

Ownership
interest held

Principal activities and

Name kind of legal entity capital by the Group % place of operation
ERBILER BRALER/ FEEEAN
RAER EETRER AMEREE B % TEEBREERY
Direct  Indirect
B Gk
Amber (XiaMen) Fragrance Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB30,000,000 - 51 Research, development, distribution
EFRRERRHBRAE X W - RHERAR AK#30,000,0007T and retail of fragrances in the PRC
W EE - HERTE
AALIER *
Aromascape Development Centre GmbH ~ Germany, Limited liability company EUR25,000 - 100 Research and development of
Aromascape Development Centre 2B EREAAT 7T 25,000 flavours & fragrances in Germany
GmbH ! ReEER - 2R
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Republic of Botswana, BWP100 - 100 Production and sales of
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Limited liability company LH1007T flavours of fragrances in Botswana
ERRMERE EENHEER  BH
BREAAT EREMATE
Guangdong Golden leaf Technology PRC, Limited liability company RMB100,000,000 - 100 Research & development,
Development Co., Ltd. B BEREEAR AR 100,000,000 7 manufacture and sale of reconstituted
BERECERRREAR AR 02 tobacco leaves in the PRC
W EERBERERE  $H
Guangdong liahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMB119,680,000 - 99.2  Production, sales, marketing
EREZRAERARF X P BREEAA AR 119,680,000 and distribution of
condiment products in the PRC
EEHE ZBRROEERS  TE
Guangdong Jiahao Marketing Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMBS5,000,000 - 99.2  Sales, marketing and
BREFEHARAA P BREEAA AR¥5,000,000 7 distribution of condiment
products in the PRC
HE SRR HARR  PE
Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted PRC, Limited liability company RMB40,000,000 - 55.375  Manufacture & sale of
Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd. wE - EHERELAT AR 40,000,0007 reconstituted tobacco
EReNBEEEERAR N leaves in the PRC
EERBEBEER E
Guangdong Zhaoging Huabao Xinghu PRC, Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sales of food
Food Technology Co., Ltd. flavours and fragrances in the PRC
BREERZERNRANBARAR WE - EREARA 10,000,000 7T EERHERRER  TH
Guangzhou Hua Fang Tobacco PRC, Limited liability company RMB23,380,000 - 51 Manufacturing & sales of

Flavours Ltd.

ENESERAERERAR

ME - BRAEAT

AR¥23,380,0007C

tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
EERHEERER T

2024 Annual Report 3§

277

y =



& 4

Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements
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e B RRME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. FEMBRAAZFE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of Ownership
incorporation and issued/registered interest held Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital by the Group % place of operation
ERMALBER BRALER/ KEREEN
NRER EETRER SMEREE BHE % TEEBREERY
Direct  Indirect
HE B3
Huabao Flavour & Chemical Technology PRC, Limited liability company RMB530,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
Development(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. B EREEAH AR 530,000,000 manufacturing & sales of tobacco
EERREER(LG)BRAR D2 raw materials in the PRC
HE EERHEEARERTEN
WHHER P8
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co, Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB615,880,000 - 81.184  Manufacturing & sales of
BEERRROARARF 060 PR RABRAA AR¥ 615,880,000 tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
EERHEERER PE
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Hong Kong, Limited HKD3,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
(HK) Limited liability company 713,000,000 T manufacturing & sales of
BERR(BR)ERAFN B BRAT flavours & fragrances
in Hong Kong
W EERBERR TH
Jiahao Foods (Jiangsu) Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB50,000,000 - 99.2  Production, sales, marketing and
RRRAM(IH)ERARC B EREEAH AR50,000,0007 distribution of condiment products
in the PRC
EEHE ERROEERR  TE
Jiangxi Huabao Xinhui Technology Co., Ltd  PRC, Limited liability company USD6,312,625 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco raw
IREEETERHARAF mE - FREALNA F706,312,625 material in the PRC
EERHEERRE 1R
Jiangxi Xianghai Biological PRC, Limited liability company RMB100,000,000 - 100 Produce, research and sale
Technology Co.,Ltd. R - BREELA AR100,000,0007 of synthetic perfume in the PRC
IREEENHMEERAT EEDUEEER B
Jiangxi H&K Food Technology PRC, Limited liability company RMB350,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sales of food
Development Co., Ltd. R - BREELA AR350,000,0007 flavours and fragrances in the PRC
IREEZELLRMBRERBRAT M " EERBEERE 1 H
Jiangxi Yifang Rural Technology Co.,Ltd.  PRC, Limited liability company RMB205,000,000 - 67.244  Production of food additives & food
IRZHRENBERAR W W P BREERA AR 205,000,000 production and sales in the PRC
RAMNEEERRREEHE - P H
Owada Flavours (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability Company HKD60,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
RERFRR(EM)BRAR B BREFAH %% 60,000,000 production and sale of
tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
EERHERRERER PH
PT WARLBOR INTERNATIONAL INDONESIA  Indonesia, Limited company IDR291,200,000,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco raw

PT WARLBOR INTERNATIONAL INDONESIA
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HERERS - ARAF
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Financial Statements
(BBEIREES - FIESEEUARETTHIR)

39. FEMBLATIZFIE(E)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of Ownership
incorporation and issued/registered interest held Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital by the Group % place of operation
EMALBER BRALER/ RERKEHN
RRER EETRER AMEAEE BE % TEEBREERY
Direct  Indirect
HE 63
Shandong Huaxin Fragrance Material PRC, Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 - 100 Production and sales of aromatic raw
Co., Ltd R BREELA AR% 10,000,000 materials in the PRC
WREBEHERAA EERHEERH  TH
Shanghai H&K Flavours & Fragrances PRC, Limited liability company RMB260,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of food
Co., Ltd. HE - BREERT AE 260,000,000 7T flavours & fragrances in the PRC
LEEEHRERBRAT .0 EERHERRER 1E
Shanghai Huabao Biological PRC, Limited liability Company RMB10,000,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco raw
Technology Co, Ltd. PR BREEAA AR10,000,0007 material in the PRC
LEEEEYHMRBRAR EERBEERRK  pHE
Shanghai Yifang Rural Technology Holdings PRC, Limited liability company RMB120,000,000 - 67.244  Research and development,
Co., Ltd B EREEAR AR 120,000,000 7 production and sales of food
TEZAREMBBERAR W additives in the PRC
RakHOHE LERHE  1E
Smart Sino International Investment PRC, Limited liability company USD55,640,000 - 100 Investments holding in the PRC
Holdings (China) Co., Ltd. PR BREEAA F7155,640,000
ERERREAR(PE)ERAT 02D REER - E
Smart Sino International Limited Hong Kong, Limited HKD10,000 - 100 Investment holding and provision of
ERERERARY liability company %%10,0007C administrative and management
BE - ERAT services
REZRRRETHRER RS
Shanghai Xiangyue Technology PRC, Limited liability company HKD10,000,000 - 100 Sale of aromatic raw materials and
Development Co., Ltd. B EREEAH 110,000,000 natural extracts in the PRC
TERNMBERERAR HWEFRHRARRERY - P H
Shenzhen Huabao Collaborative Innovation  PRC, Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 - 100 Research and development of tobacco
Technology Research Institute Co. LTD ~ #El - ARELLA AR#5,000,0007C raw materials, and provision of
REE BRI REHER related consultation services
= INSRE BRREZ ST RIERER 2
e
Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma Co.,Ltd.  PRC, Limited liability Company RMB6,000,000 - 100 Production and sale of aromatic raw
B HENEHERAA RE - BREELA AR6,000,0007 material in the PRC
EERBEERE 1 H
Yingtan Huabao Flavours & PRC, Limited liability Company RMB96,500,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco
Fragrances Co., Ltd. P BREEAA AR 96,500,000 7 flavours & fragrances in the PRC
EEERZRE/AAYXI, VX2 EEREEER TE
Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability Company RMB35,000,000 - 94.14  Production and sale of flavours
MMLEERERAF B BEREEAH AR35,000,0007 & fragrances in the PRC
EERBEERE 1 H
Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd. (Guangdong) PRC, Limited liability company RMB11,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of food

BREZEEHMARAT

ME - BREEAT

AR 11,000,000

flavours & fragrances in the PRC

EEREERAER TE
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

e MR ME

(B BHEHEBESN
39. FEMBLATIZFIE(E)

B EBEANARETTIIR)

(@) Material non-controlling interests

The total comprehensive loss attributable to
non-controlling interests for the year ended
31 December 2024 is RMB65,964,000 (2023:
comprehensive income RMB68,164,000), of which
RMB74,715,000 (2023: comprehensive income
RMB66,366,000) is from Huabao Flavours and its
subsidiaries (“Huabao Flavours Group”). The non-
controlling interests in other subsidiaries are not
material.

Set out below are the summarised financial
information of Huabao Flavours Group:

Summarised consolidated statement of

(a) EXRFEHMER

BHZE2024F12A31HILFE » 3
THMEEREMEAEBEREATEAA
R #65,964,00070(20234F : &
Wz AR #68,164,0007T) » &
FREEERMDMENB AR ([E
ERMEE]) 2 IEEFIMEESEN
FHEEEBEAARE 74,715,000
TL(2023F : 2 E K m AR
66,366,0007T) ° REAMKTE A 7
RIFEFE B R W R E K o

BT BT IR S B T A

ME

EEROEEZGEUBRR R

financial position of Huabao Flavours Group

=

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234

Current mE
Assets BE 5,680,318 5,905,767
Liabilities =R (506,840) (670,457)
Total current net assets REEEERTE 5,173,478 5,235,310
Non-current ERH
Assets BE 1,762,305 2,325,764
Liabilities =R (11,677) (207,616)
Total non-current net assets FREFEEMREE 1,750,628 2,118,148
Net assets BEE 6,924,106 7,353,458

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)



Notes to the Consolidated e B RRMEE
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. FEMBAR ZFE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a) BEARFEFIMER(E)
Summarised consolidated income statement EEROEEZGENBERRES
and consolidated statement of comprehensive E2HWBERPE

income of Huabao Flavours Group

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B831HILEE

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
Revenue == 1,356,794 1,484,628
(Loss)/profit before income tax BEAT(EE),/ BF (286,801) 437,471
Income tax expense TSt E R (14,289) (62,943)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE(E518),/ BT (301,090) 374,528
Other comprehensive income Hip 2wl = 11,134 7,146
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ZME(EE) WEEEHE (289,956) 381,674
Total comprehensive (loss)/income BT IEFE S R AR Y
allocated to non-controlling interests 2T (E18), WS #E % (74,715) 66,366
Dividends paid to ) RV il 1 R 2 I A5 2 AR
non-controlling interests 25,553 37,219
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

e MR ME

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

Summarised consolidated statement of cash

flows of Huabao Flavours Group

39. FEMBLATIZFIE(E)

(a) EXRFEZEHIMER(FE)
EERONEEREREREREE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HILEE

2024 2023
2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities KEZEFBH2HERE
Cash generated from operations LEEAZE® 432,130 781,253
Income tax paid BEATER (81,164) (97,452)
Net cash generated from LERYELE LR SFRE
operating activities 350,966 683,801
Net cash generated from/ BEEBELS(FTA)Z
(used in)investing activities BEFE 1,014,505 (2,116,350)
Net cash used in financing activities FEEBFIAZIREF5E (515,639) (996,845)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash HeERBLESEYIEM
and cash equivalents R D) F8 849,832 (2,429,394)
Cash and cash equivalents FYzHeMNReEED
at the beginning of the year 1,152,223 3,575,161
Effects of currency translation BE¥mANRSRES
on cash and cash equivalents ZEMHEE 9,548 6,456
Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year RERZESRESEEY 2,011,603 1,152,223

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

e MR ME

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

40. RRATRNHBRREKHEEE

ENNSLEEE 3OS

As at 31 December

®12A31H
Note 2024 2023
Bt &E 2024 20234
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZKE 1,152,998 1,128,321
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E A e B IE 75,090 893
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI EENGIE ] 6,271,496 6,222,057
Cash and cash equivalents BehIBE2EEY 22,755 59,652
6,369,341 6,282,602
Total assets BHEE 7,522,339 7,410,923
EQUITY ER
Capital and reserves attributable QA FERFIFEF A
to the owners of the Company FEERAR
Share capital fi& 7 328,619 328,619
Reserves B (a) 2,971,769 2,816,101
Retained earnings REE AT 3,976,838 4,019,530
Total equity S 7,277,226 7,164,250
LIABILITIES =L
Current liabilities RBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASHB B A R R 243,914 245,481
Trade and other payables B 5 & B A e RRIA 1,199 1,192
245,113 246,673
Total liabilities wasE 245,113 246,673
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 7,522,339 7,410,923

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025

and was signed on its behalf.

Mr. XIA Liqun
ERELE

Director

EF

KRB ZHBEARREKRE R 20253 A28 HMA
BEERAETERSE -

Mr. LAM Ka Yu
MEFEE
Director

EF
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40. AR RN BEMR R KRR R 1EEE
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (%)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movements of the Company (a) DEHEEE
Capital Currency
Contributed Share Capital redemption Other Translation
surplus  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Total

&% At &%
BABS% ROEE EA@G  REHE i BEHE @zt

At 1 January 2023 R2023F1R18 296,853 2,183,766 2,411 4,760 40,125 182,879 2,710,794
Currency translation differences EHHEZE - - - - - 105,307 105,307
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 128318 296,853 2,183,766 2,411 4,760 40,125 288,186 2,816,101
At 1 January 2024 R2024E1818 296,853 2,183,766 2,411 4,760 40,125 288,186 2,816,101
Currency translation differences EBHEZE - - - - - 155,668 155,668
At 31 December 2024 R2024F128318 296,853 2,183,766 2,411 4,760 40,125 443,854 2,971,769
41. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 41. ESHNFENER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTHEAZHNE
The remuneration of each director and chief ZESERTHRBHNRE R 20244
executive of the Company for the years ended 31 &2023F 12 A31ALFEZHE
December 2024 and 2023 are set out below: mR
Year ended 31 December 2024 Vear ended 31 December 2023
BENMENRNRLEE EZBENANELER
Employer's Employer's
contribution Share- contribution Share-
to pension based Other to pension ased Other
Note fees  Salaries Bonus  scheme benefits  benefits Total Fees  Salaries Bonus  scheme  benefits  benefits Total
ERER  UREA ExtEn  Mh4E i
Name of directors ~ EZ}% fiit He gt B HEER  EEoEA AGEA Ehy %3 §e M HEER ERZEA &l B

Erecutive directors: #1783 :

Ms CHULamYi  RifERE f 18,235 - - - - - 18 8,908 - - - - - B9
M. XA Ligun EilERE - BN s H 80 - 03X - 5 (.Y S 1)
Mr POON Chiu Kok~ EREE -0 -1, - - 346 - -1 - -3
M. LAME K Yo HEFRL 5197 - - - - - W - - - - -3m
Ms. AMKaYan  HEfRT 2,188 - - - - - - - - - A
Ms. CHOY ManKar ~ BXERT - | - ] - T8 386 - - 16 - Mo 379
Independentnon-  BUHHGES:
exeutive directors:

MBSy ERKRE 6 - - - - - 26 W - - - - - Iy
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN  Jonathan Jun Yan % "9 - - - - - 19 216 - - - - - 216
M. HOU Haitao FEEiE 19 - - - - - 19 216 - - - - - 216

6304 13756 54m 1613 8,630 S8 %63 1556 13610 513 1,51 1,283 Mo 37659
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

41. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments
(Continued)

(i) Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is also the chief executive officer
of the Company.

No directors waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no emoluments had been paid by the Group
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office.

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no retirement benefits paid to the directors
of the Company by a defined benefit pension plan
operated by the Group in respect of the director’s
services as a director of the Company and its
subsidiaries or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefit

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no payments to the directors of the Company
as compensation for the early termination of the
appointment.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

41. EEHNEMERS(E)

(a)

(b)

(c)

ESRITRARME (F)

()  KIMELEIREAEENEERT

=

B °

HZE2024%F %2023 128318 1k
FE BESNETAMHE -

HE2024F [22023F 1283181t
FE AEETERESEINMe
YEA DA & B /Y 428 sk 1F A& BB
g -

EERNKER

HZE2024F K&2023F12A3181F
FE AEETERESZNRE
EAARRBI RETRARIEERRHER
i B E S EN R T RSB IRET
£l R E 2R RKEAR o

ESEBERN

HZE2024% %2023F12A318 1F
FE ASEBTERESIARK
IFEBRAT 2 B -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

41. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, the Company did not provide any
consideration to any third party for making
available director’s services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of directors of the Company, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 38, during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

41. EEHNEMERS(E)

(d) AE=AXNREHRESHEE 2K

(e)

(f)

&

HE2024%F 2023F 1283181t
FE AEEVTERREEERS
fR%E =R EE -

EHUES EE2ERHEE
RHBERASEAZER  #
ERR AR D2 ER

HZE2024%F K%2023F12A318 1k
FE AEETEMNES XZF
EFTHNEABRBRZEENG

BIRREHEFRMEER -

EENRE  REIEHNZEKX
s

Br 7 NP FE38 AT FE SN - B E 2024
FK2023F12A31BIEFE © &
NEWERTTMSRAEB 2%
BMARRIZESTERRMEELEE
FHREEARZIZEERS - T
AR o



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

42. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(@)

According to the financial information of Shanghai
Yifang, Shanghai Yifang failed to complete the
performance commitment at the time of equity
acquisition, and Huabao Flavours submitted an
application for modification of arbitration claim
to Shanghai International Arbitration Center in
February 2025, requiring former shareholders of
Shanghai Yifang QIANRONG (Qian Rong) and Wong
Kam Wing to pay performance compensation to
the Company on the basis of the arbitration claim
in 2023. And bear the corresponding legal fees,
property preservation fees, security premiums and
other expenses a total of RMB636 million. Shanghai
International Arbitration Center has accepted the
arbitration claim, as of the date of this financial
report, the arbitration case has not been heard.

The meeting of the Board of Directors of Huabao
Flavours on 28 March 2025 reviewed and passed
the “Proposal on Terminating the implementation
of the first phase of the Restricted Stock
Incentive Plan”, and Huabao Flavours decided to
terminate the implementation of the first phase
of the restricted stock incentive plan, subject to
the approval in Huabao Flavours’s shareholder
meeting. The termination plan will be accelerated
in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
HKFRS, and it is expected to recognise the share-
based payment expenses of about RMB70,000,000
in 2025.

e MR ME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

42. EMRER

(a)

(b)

BIEEEZERNMEER - E8Z
FRRE TR IR R W RS B R R R ¥
& RKRQAAMR2025F2 A\ B
B AEANVER TE#EMEBK
BEE E2023FMEBERNE
ME EMEREBZLTHERERBRE
QIANRONG (#7) « EIBELRAR
TIX N EBEHEDT  WAEREY
ZME - PBERE2E RE2ERSB
SERATARKEG6361ETL - L
SRR P OB EZPEB S
HEAREH  ANXFHEREHE
FIREZEIE o

EERMMN2025F3 A28 E %
EEFTEZRABT(EARNKLE
MeEERGERE B ENE
) ZEBERMDRATRIEEES
BR&IIERZEREETE - K EFIEE
TREBFROHBRBERZEL - Z
BIEFTERBEBM B RELERK
AR EEITINRITHERIE + 2025
FHRAERBRDAERNINER
HANREET 0008 T °
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Five Year Financial Summary

(All amount in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

AFEMBRE

(BRABEAEIN

IR BIINARETLIIR)

RESULTS E 3
Year ended Year ended Year ended Yearended ~ Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HZ200F HZ02M1F HEW2F HEW23F BE0UF
124318 127318 12A31H 128318 12A31H
LEE  1EE IF IHEE | LEE
Revenue 2EE 3,854,058 3,882,683 3,828,984 3,307,839 3,373,265
Gross profit £ 2,442,407 2,296,662 1,877,563 1,469,365 1,441,444
Profit/(loss) before income tax BREARN/ (EE) 948,821 1,147,377 (720,210) 415,925 (402,425)
Income tax expenses FERAY (280,382) (251,593) (180,840) (125,442) (56,432)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERA/ (BR) 668,439 895,784 (901,050) 290,483 (458,857)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAR
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
R2020F  R20211F  R202F  R2023F  R2024%F
124318 124318 12H31H 128318 12A31H8
Total assets BEE 17,678,054 18,025,129 16,619,022 16,002,111 15,002,076
Total liabilities zaR (3,983,805)  (2,306,310)  (2,061,584)  (1,730,974)  (1,281,720)
Net assets FEE 13,694,249 15,718,819 14,557,438 14,271,137 13,720,356
OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION H it B 1 B
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
120204 720216 120224 120236 R2024 5
124318 127318 12H31H 128318 12A31H8
Earnings/(loss) per share, BREMN/(E8)
basic (RMB cents) EX(ARER) 13.46 21.70 (32.65) 7.23 (11.94)
Earnings/(loss) per share, BREMN/(EE)
diluted (RMB cents) BE(ARES) 13.46 21.70 (32.65) 7.23 (11.94)
Aggregated dividend per share BRE2F2HREGEW)
for the year (HKD cents) 9.0 8.4 - 2.4 0.3
Aggregated special dividend GRE2FREBARE(EIL)
per share for the year (HKD cents) 6.0 - 8.48 6.1 8.2
Financial year-end share price (HKD) UHEELERRE(ET) 10.68 14.40 4.03 2.49 2.1
Operating profit margin BERMX 23.4% 28.7% -15.9% 11.4% -11.9%
EBITDA margin EBITDAX 43.4% 43.5% 32.2% 21.0% 2.1%
ROE ROE 3.5% 5.2% -7.9% 1.9% -3.1%
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Glossary

2024 Share
Award Scheme

2024 Share
Option Scheme

AGM

Audit Committee
Board

Broad Far

Broad Far Group

Bye-laws
CEO

CG Code

cGu

Chemactive

Company or Huabao

the share award scheme which is
adopted by the Company pursuant
to a resolution passed by the
shareholders at the special general
meeting on 14 May 2024

the share option scheme which is
adopted by the Company pursuant
to a resolution passed by the
shareholders at the special general
meeting on 14 May 2024

Annual general meeting

The audit committee of the
Company

The board of directors of the
Company

Broad Far Limited

Broad Far and its subsidiaries and
related companies

Bye-laws of the Company
Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Governance Code set out
in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

Cash-generating unit

Chemactive Investments Limited

Huabao International Holdings
Limited
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Director(s)

Executive Director(s)

FCG

Financial Year/
Reporting Period

Group

Guangdong Jiahao
Guangdong Jinke
Guangdong Jinye
Guangdong Tobacco
Guangdong

Tobacco Company
Guangzhou Hua Fang
HKD or HK$
HKFCG

HKFRS

Hong Kong

HNB

The director(s) of the Company

Executive director(s) of the
Company

Fellow member of The Chartered
Governance Institute

For the year ended 31 December
2024

The Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co.,
Ltd.

Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted
Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

China Tobacco Guangdong
Industrial Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Tobacco and its
subsidiaries and related companies

Guangzhou Hua Fang Tobacco
Flavors Ltd.

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful
currency of Hong Kong

Fellow member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute

Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards

Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of
China

Heat-not-burn

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

FCG

FERPE

FERFPERA

BN

BERBTT
HKFCG

BB @SR
)

INERT IR

KARIES
RRARZHITESR
EEETRARGEAGE
s =

INE B

202412 A31 8 1k

>
o

BEMEFERBEBERA
El

B BREEEER

EEATABARERE
&
BB HRELA

mEARKMNBEEFER R
T

INERA PR R



Glossary

Hong Kong
Stock Exchange

Huabao Flavours

INEDs

Jiangxi Xianghai

Listing Rules

Mainland China or PRC

Model Code

Nomination Committee

Remuneration
Committee

R&D

RMB

RTL

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co.,
Ltd., a joint stock limited company
established in the PRC with limited
liability and an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company

Independent Non-executive
Director(s) of the Company

Jiangxi Xianghai Biological
Technology Co., Ltd.

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange

The People’s Republic of China
Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 of

the Listing Rules

The nomination committee of the
Company

The remuneration committee of the
Company

Research and development

Renminbi, the lawful currency of
the PRC

Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves
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Scheme Mandate Limit

SFO

Shareholder(s)

Share(s) or

ordinary share(s)

Shenzhen Stock
Exchange

STMA

u.s.

USD or US$

Yancheng Chunzhu

YOY

The Maximum number of Shares in
respect of which share options may
be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company

the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong

Shareholder(s) of the Company

Ordinary share(s) of HKD0.10 each
in the capital of the Company

Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the
PRC

State Tobacco Monopoly
Administration

United States of America

US dollars, the lawful currency of
the United States of America

Yancheng Chunzhu Aroma Co., Ltd.

Year-on-year

Huabao International Holdings Limited %= B 2% AR A &)

‘:I:EIIIII'
#

FHEIREREE

& 75 R B D)

PR

Pt 3k i AR

RINEHZ B

B & B

ES=

eV

BT

Cii=¢

BLAR 45 BB AU RE R 8 S (2 )
H Al AN A B BB B AT 811X
oz B A Bz B i B
B LR

EBENESTNEBLER
HAE (&)
A Z R

KR BREA A FREES
#0.10 JTHY @A

R EBURINE X 5

ERmETERBRAR

At



HUABAO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

9 70 B B P AR A ]




	Cover
	Contents

	Corporate Information

	Financial Highlights
	Company Profile and Corporate Culture
	Chairlady’s Report

	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Investor Relations Report
	Directors’ Report 
	Independent Auditor’s Report

	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
	Consolidated Income Statement

	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
	Five Year Financial Summary

	Glossary

	Back Cover

